
University of Nebraska - Lincoln University of Nebraska - Lincoln 

DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln 

Communication Studies Theses, Dissertations, 
and Student Research Communication Studies, Department of 

5-13-1968 

A Rhetorical Analysis of Political and Legal Speeches of Robert B. A Rhetorical Analysis of Political and Legal Speeches of Robert B. 

Crosby Crosby 

Gilbert F. Nykodym II 
University of Nebraska-Lincoln 

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss 

 Part of the Criminology and Criminal Justice Commons, Other Law Commons, Speech and Rhetorical 

Studies Commons, and the Taxation-State and Local Commons 

Nykodym, Gilbert F. II, "A Rhetorical Analysis of Political and Legal Speeches of Robert B. Crosby" (1968). 
Communication Studies Theses, Dissertations, and Student Research. 52. 
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss/52 

This Article is brought to you for free and open access by the Communication Studies, Department of at 
DigitalCommons@University of Nebraska - Lincoln. It has been accepted for inclusion in Communication Studies 
Theses, Dissertations, and Student Research by an authorized administrator of DigitalCommons@University of 
Nebraska - Lincoln. 

https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/communicationstudies
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/367?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/621?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/338?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/338?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
http://network.bepress.com/hgg/discipline/882?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages
https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/commstuddiss/52?utm_source=digitalcommons.unl.edu%2Fcommstuddiss%2F52&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages


A RHE'roRICAL ANALYSIS OF POLITICAL 

AND LEGAL SPEECHES OF ROBERT B. CROSBY 

by 

Gilbert F. Nykodym, II 

A THESIS 

Presented to the Faculty of 

'!he Graduate College in the University or Nebraska 

In Partial F'llfillment of Requirements 

For the Degree of Master of Arts 

Department of Speech and Dramatic Art 

Under the SUpervision or Dr. Dooald o. Olson 

Lincoln, Nebraska 

1968 



ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 

I "WOuld like to thank my advisor Dr. Donald O. Olson, 

Professor of Speech, for the inspiration that I have received 

in his classes and as his advisee over the years, and for his 

thoughtful and patient direction of this study. To Dr. Leroy 

T. Laase, Chairman of the Department of Speech and Dramatic Art, 

I extend my thanks for his sugg.'stions during the early stages 

of my research and study on this project. 

I wish to express special gratitude to former Governor 

Robert B. Crosby whose contribution to this study was immeasur­

able. 

Nest of all I "WOuld like to thank my parents, Mr. and 

t-1rs. Gilbert Njlkodym, Sr. of rural Norfolk, Nebraska, for their 

continued encouragement, support and fine example. 

GFN 

ii 



Chapter 

I. 

II, 

III. 

IV. 

V, 

VI. 

VII. 

VIII, 

IX. 

TAELE OF CONTENTS 

INTRODUCTION ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 1 

Purpose................................................ 2 
Procedure.............................................. 3 

THE SPEAKER'S BACKGROUND ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 9 

Parental Influence..................................... 9 
Educational Influences................................. 11 
Political anQ Advocacy Influences...................... 16 

BA6KGROUND OF THE SPEECHES ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

Deliberative Speech--"Operation Honesty"............... 36 
Forensic Speech--U.S. ,v. Duane Pope..... ........ ....... 42 

DISPOSITIO ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 50 

Deliberati ve Speech...- "Operation Honesty"............... 51 

Forensic Speech--U.S. v. Duane Pope.................... 55 

INVENTIO· •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 62 

Deliberative Speech--"Operation Honesty"............... 64 
Forensic Speech--U.S. ,v. Duane Poee.................... 71 

ELOCUTIO ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 79 

Deliberative Speech--"Operation Honesty"............... 79 
Forensic Speech--U.S. v. Duane Pope.................... 81 

ACTIO •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 84 

Deliberative speech--"Operation Honesty"............... 84 
Forensic Speech--U.S, ,v. Duane Poee.................... 85 

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE~C~S ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 88 

Deliberative Speech--"Operation Honesty"............... 88 
ForensiC Speech--U. S. ,v. Duane Pope •••••••••••••••••••• 90 99 

SUM}~RY AND CONCLUSION ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 92 

The speaker's Background ••• ~........................... 92 
Dispositio ••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• ~......... 94 
Inventio............................................... 96 
Elo au tio ••••••••••.•••••••••••••••••••••••••• ". • • • • • • • • • 97 
Actio.................................................. 98 
General Conclusions.................................... 98 



Chapter 

BIBLIOGRAPHy •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

APPENDIX •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

Text of "Operation Honesty" ••••••••••••••••••••••••• 
Text of U.S. v. Duane Pope •••••••••••••••••••••••••• 

iv 

100 

106 

107 
115 



CHAPTER I 

IN'IRODUCTION 

I first saw Robert Crosby as a law,yer defending Duane Pope 

in November 1965. I was intense.ly interested in the Pope trial for 

a number of reasons. I was interested because, first, a.s a law 

student I found the legal points of interest, second, one of my law 

professors, Wallace Rudolph, was serving as an assistant defense 

counsel in the trial and, third, having a bachelors degree in speech 

I wanted to see what part speaking played in this trial. 

The trial of Duane Pope was a topic that came up quite 

frequently among the law students at the University of Nebraska 

College of Law. In one of my classes, Criminal Law and Procedure, 

Professor Charles Tenney on several occasions discussed the case of 

United states v. Duane Pope. Mr. Tenney also discussed the case 

with other students and me outside of class. It was not an unfa­

miliar scene to see twenty or thirty law students grouped around 

Professor Rudolph in the law library as he responded to questions 

that the students had about the Pope trial. Mro Rudolph also spent 

an entire class period discussing the case when he was asked to 

visit Criminal Law class by Professor Tenney. 

As I began graduate work in speech I took a course entitled 

1 
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Rhetorical Criticism under Dr. Donald o. Olson. I chose to study 

the speaking of former Governor Robert Crosby as the final as­

signment in the course. After preliminary research it became evi­

dent that certain speeches of Bob Crosby's might merit study as a 

thesis project. In a course entitled Introduction to Graduate 

Studies I submitted an adgendum of procedure on a thesis project 

with certain aspects of Robert Crosby's speaking as the subject. 

In the course Dro Leroy Laase offered suggestions as to method, 

techniques and prodedures for procurement and use of materials to 

complete such a study. 

Preliminary research had revealed that very little re­

search had been published in regard to legal speaking. Likewise 

research did not seem to exist which dealt with both political and 

legal speaking done by the same speakero 

Crosby's defense of Duane Pope seemed to stand out as an 

example of his legal speaking. Likewise "Operation Honesty" stood 

out as an example of Crosby's political speaking. Taxes problems 

and Crosby's attempts to deal with those problems seemed to be one 

of the most important aspects of Qfus public career. 

After consulting with Dr. Donald o. Olson, the topic was 

decided upon: "A Rhetorical Analysis of Political and Legal 

Speeches of Robert B. Crosby. 

PURPOSE 

In analysing these two examples of Crosby's speeches and 

speaking, the following questions were considered: 



i. What training and experience has Robert B. Crosby had 

in speech and speech making? 

2. What were the characteristics of Crosby's deliberative 

or political speaking as exemplified by his "Operation 

Honesty" speech? 

3. What were the characteristics of Crosby's forensic or 

legal speaking as exemplified by his summation in the 

United states v. Duane Pope? 

4. What similarities and differences were revealed by an 

analysis of Crosby's deliverative and forensic speaking 

as exemplified by "Operation Honesty" and U.So v. Duane 

PROCEDURE 

Survey of Related Literature 

A survey was made of listings in Franklin S. Knower's 

"Graduate Theses--An Index of Graduate Work in Speech", Clyde Dow's 

"Abstracts of Theses in the Field of Speech", J. Jeffrey Auer' s 

"Doctoral Dissertations in Speech: Work in Progress", Robert E. 

Dunham, L.S. Harms. and Richard B. Gregg's "Index and Table of 

Contents of .§g. W3J & CSSJ" and Franklin H. Kmower's "Table of 

Contents and Index of ~. SM & .§lit. Un indexed professional speech 

journals were checked to date. A survey was also made of "The Index 

to Legal Periodicals" which lists, "All leading articles. notes case 

comments and book reviews published in the publications indexedo"i 

aprice, Miles and Harry Bitner, Effective Legal Research 
(Boston: Little, Bro~ and Company, 1962), p. 277. 
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This is the most inclusive index to English language legal periodi­

cals; it contains an index to some 160 of the principal American, 

British and British Commonwealth periodicals, many bar association 

publications and some judicial council reports are indexed.2 

I found no published or unpublished material on any aspect 

of the speaking d. Robert B. Crosby. A survey of the abstracts and 

titles did not reveal any published or unpublished material com­

paring the political and legal speaking of the same individual. 

Books and studies on rhetoric and rhetorical analysis were 

consulted in order to see what approaches had been used in rhetori-

cal analysis. 

The Speaker 

In attempting to answer the first question. and find out 

what training and experience Bob Crosby had in speech, I compiled 

biographical data which related to that question. 

In order to establish what he had done during his younger 

years. I relied upon newspaper accounts, an Jinterview with his father, 

who lives in North Platte, Nebraska, and went to Hastings College to 

examine the college publications for the years that Bob Crosby was 

in attendance. 

Crosby's later life was resear ched by intervdews, newspaper 

accounts and other sources. I interviewed Robert Crosby on several 

occasions. I also interviewed his wife and Arch Donovan, a news re­

porter and commentator who had seen Crosby speak on numerous occasions. 

Mr. Crosby permitted me to use four files of ~peech notes which he had 
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accumulated over the yearso The files dated from the late 1930's to 

the present. Mro Crosby also opened his private papers, which were 

sealed until 1979 in the Archives of the Nebraska state Historical 

Society, to ~ researcho Both his speech files and private papers 

were most helpful in writing about his speech making 0 The Reader' 5 

Guide je Periodical L~terature revealed the national attention that 

his speech making had received. I asked Mro Crosby to inform me 

whenever he spoke in the community so I might be able to see and 

hear him speak. In addition to hearing Crosby in the Pope trial in 

November of 1965, I heard Mr. Crosby address the Polemic Club on the 

subject of the Pope trial on May 2], 1967; the city of Plymouth, 

Nebraska on November 11, 1967 on Veteran Day; a meeting of the Round 

Table on the subject "The Wall of Separation, Church and State", De­

cember 4, 1967, and the Krutz Hearing before the Nebraska State Game 

Commission, April 11, 1968. 

The Speeches 

The speeches used in this study were "Operation Honesty" and 

his summation in the U.S. v 0 Duane Pope. "Operation Honesty" was 

given to a mass meeting of state employees on January 15, 1954. I 

was able to find the "Operation Honesty" address both on tape re­

cording and in manuscript form, Mr. Crosby's summation to the jury 

in the f ope trial was taken from the offica1 court record of the 

United States v. Duane Pope, CR 443L, U oS 0 District Court for the 

District of Nebraskao 

~ Background ~ ~ Speeches 

In reconstructing the background of the ItOperation Honestylt 

address I turned to newspaper accounts, national news media, the 
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Archives of the Nebraska state Historical Society and the other 

sources 0 I used a number of newspapers in order to minimize the 

possibility of political biaso The Archives of the Nebraska State 

Historical Society supplied telegrams to Governor Crosby at the 

time he made his "Operation Honesty" address, press releases on 

"Operation Honesty" and personal notes on the campaigno The Crosby's 

speech files contained information on "Operation Honesty". Mro Crosby 

also permitted me to use his personal Appointment Book's for the years 

1953 and 19.54, the period of time that he was speaking on "Operation 

Honesty". 

The background of the U.S. VO Duane Pope was researched through 

the use of newspaper accounts and a speech that Robert Crosby delivered 

on the subject of the Pope trial to the Polemics Club. Other sources 

that went into the writing of the background material on the Pope trial 

were no doubt ~ personal experiences, conversations and academic work 

with Professor Charles Tenney, Criminal Law Professor, and Professor 

Wallace Rudolph, assistant defense counsel in the United States v. Duane 

Popeo 

Authenticity of the Texts 

Mr. Crosby turned ever to me numerous tapes of speeches that he 

made while he was Governor. I found a tape of "Operation Honesty" that 

followed word for word a manuscript of the speech which was discovered 

among the material that Governor Crosqy turned over to me for research 

purposes. The speech had been taped and mailed to radio station KOLT of 

Scottsbluff, Nebraska. The tape had been returned to the Governor's 

office and he had plaeed it among his files. Brown mailing wrapper and 
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canceled postage were on the unopened tape box. 

I established the authenticity of the closing argument of 

Counsei Crosb,y in the Pope trial by interviewing the official short-

hand reporter to the United state District Court who served during 

the U.S. v. Pope trial. Mr. David H. Brown told me that he had been 

a court reporter for thirty-seven years. He stated that he used a 

tape recorder each day and checked it against the shorthand record 

for accuracy. He then reused the tape the next dayo The current 

court reporter Joseph Pasqual also stated in an interview that he felt 

that an accurate word for word record was achieved. 

Speech Analysis 

The criteria known as the Canons of Rhetoric, were used for 

the speech ana~sis. In considering the canon of inventio, all three 

forms of proof or persuasion were considered; logical, emotional and 

ethical 0 

In examining the speeches for disposi tio, organization and 

message were considered. The ana~sis of elocutio dealt with style. 

The canon of actio, or delivery ' was used in an ana~sis of 

both speeches. "Operation Honesty" was ana~zed on the bases of news 
I 

reporters accounts and ~ observations after listening to the tapeso 

U.S. Vo Pope was ana~zed as a result of ~ observations of the Pope 

trial. news accounts and interviews with the jurors. I was able to 

interview eight of the twelve jurors. Some of the jurors . r efused to 

talk to me; one of them told me where I could goo Of those who did 

talk tome most of them asked that I would not quote them qy name so 

I have not quoted any of the jurors by name in the ana~sis. 
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Since memio, or memory, has been until just recently a lost 

canon of rhetoric, it was not considered in the analysis. 

Other aspects of analysis that might be mentioned are the use 

of the summation and the use of the terms deliberative and forensic. 

I felt that the summation would be the best part of the trial to ana-

lyze since, ". eo the closing argument of sunnnat:ion to the jury is the 

high point of the trial in so far as speaking is concerned. II3 I used 

the word deliberative or political speaking since deliberative speeches 

are ".-•• political speeches addressed to an assembly or to the public on 

questions of State 00 • .,4 I l1sed the word forensic or legal speaking 

since forensi~ speeches are ".oojudicial speeches, used in prosecution 

and defense ••• ,,5 

3Constans, H 0 Phillip and Dallas Co Dickey t "The Contemporary 
Rhetoric of the Law", Southern Speech Journal XlX (1954) t p. 281 

4 " 
Cooper, Lane (trans.), The Rhetoric of Aristotle, (New York: 

Appleton-Century-Crofts t Inc., 1932), p. 17 

5Ibid• 



CHAPTER II 

THE SPEAKER'S BACKGROUND 

Robert Crosby's roots ran deep into the history of Nebraska. 

Politics had long been a part of his family's life. John, H. Powers, 

Crosby's great-grandfather, was the Populist candidate for Governor 

in 1890, and lost by a small margin. There is still some doubt if 

Powers really lost; Addison Sheldon of the State Historical Society 

felt that the homesteader candidate may have been "counted out."t 

The homesteader tradition was strong in the Crosb.y background. 

Adelbert Crosb.y married Lucy Powers and homesteaded in Lincoln County 

south of Sutherland Crosby's maternal grandfather, James Berkey 

married Ann/ Olsen and homesteaded near Davenport, Nebraska. 

Parental Influences 

Bob's panents, Mainard E. Crosby and Cora May Ber~9 both grew 

up on homesteads, both taught school in order to earn money to go to 

college, and both graduated from the University of Nebraska. They were 

married in 1909, moved to North Platte, where Bob was born in 1911. Mr. 

and Mrs. M.E. Crosby's church, civic and political activities are simi-

lar to their son Bob's later activities. 

Cora May Crosb.y organized the first Camp Fire Girls Club in 

North Platte and served as executive secretary for many years. She 

t 
Omaha World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 

9 
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helped organize the Twentieth Century Club, now the North Platte 

Federated Women's Club. Mrso Crosby worked with the Church Mission-

ary Society and taught Sunday School for 20 years. During World War 

I she was the chairman of the Volunteer Red Cross Service Committee, 

2 
a job she held for 35 years. Mrs. M. E. Crosby also was chairman 

for soliciting funds to complete the Salvation Ar~ Citadel and served 

on the board for 20 years. When her children entered school Mrso 

Crosby became a charter member of the Parent-Teacher Association and 

has served as its president. During this same period she was active 

in High-Y and Y-Teens. She also was active in the PEO Sisterhood, the 

Eastern star and the Altrusa Clubo Mrs. Crosby explained her activi-

ties, "I have always liked people and I have always enjoyed working 

with themo,,3 Cora May Crosby received awards from_ Hastings College 

for Meritorious Achievement and Service, she was named North Platte Mother 
4 

of the Year in 1953 and Nebraska Mother of the Year in 19550 Many 

people were saddened by her death in 19640
5 

Bob Crosby's father, Mainard Eo Crosby, has practiced law in 

North Platte continuously for 60 yearso He is past president of the 

Western Nebraska Bar Association and past vice president of the Ne-

braska State Bar Associationo For more than 40 years he has been an 

elder in the Presbyterian Church. He served. as president of the North 

Platte Rotary Club and is past master of the Platte Valley Lodge 32 

2amaha World-Herald, May 8, 19550 

3Ibido 

4Lincoln Sunday Journal and Star, September 6, 1959. 

5riorth Platte Telegraph-Bulletin, April 2. 1964 
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6 and is past grand orator of the Nebraska Grand Lodge of Masonso Mr. 

Crosby served as County Attorney of Lincoln County and Mayor of North 

Platte. Mro Crosby told how yaung Bob Crosby and his friends would 

come do~ to the courtroom to listen to his father try cases. He also 

related that Bob came to listen to the speeches that he gave in con-
7 

nection with the political offices that he heldo 

Educational Influences 

Bob Crosby's early education was received in North Platte. In 

North Platte High School he was a member of the debate and tennis teams 

. 8 and was on the student counc~l. He was editor of the school year book 

and waged a vigorous compaign to have the name of the school annual 

changed.9 He graduated second in his class in 1927 and received an 

award for scholarship and citizenship. 

In 1927 Bob Crosby attended Hastings Collegeo The Hastings 

Collegian and The Bronco, the school paper and annual, reported Crosby's 

activities during hi s t'WO years in Hastings. Robert Crosby was elected 
10 

president of the freshman class. While at Hastings Crosby's major 

activities were the debate squad and the gospel teamo Coach Baccus 

announced that: "On Thursday night Oct. ,22, the question, 'Resolved 

that compulsory physical education at Hastings College should b:.e a-

bolished. ' " 11 'WOuld be debated at the old college chapel. Robert 

6Lincoln Sunday Journal and Star, September 6, 1959 

7Interview, Mr. Mainard E. Crosby, April 10, 1968. 

8 Omaha World-Herald, January 4, 1953 

9Interview, MoE. Crosby, April 10, 1968. 
10 

The Hastings Collegian, September 17, 1927. 

l1The Hastings Collegian, October 1, 1927. 
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Crosby was listed as one of the twenty-two that showed up for tryouts. 

Tryouts were also held on the national Pi Kappa Delta question: "Re-

solved, that the United states should cease to protect, by armed force, 

capital invested in foreign lands except after a formal declaration of 

war.,,12 Only two freshmen were chosen for the debate team and Robert 

Crosby was one of them. In the 1928 Bronco Crosby is sho~ with the 

three man negative teamo 

Robert Crosby--Crosby, although only a freshman, 
made a good showing this year as a first speaker for the 
negative team. Hastings an expect big things from the 
lad from North Platte. Of the twelve decision debates 
tha t they participated in they won eleven and lf~t one. 
They also debated in three no decision debates. 

Young Crosby was also active in church activities. He was a member of 

the Gospel Team at Hastings College. The Gospel Team consisted of 

college men from Hastings College who traveled to near-by to~s and 

took charge of church services in the absence of the minister. They 

divided the topic into equal parts and each man spoke on a different 

aspect of topic for that Sunday. 

The first gospel team trip of this school year 
was made last Sunday by five college men. The fellows 
took charge of both the morruimg and evening services at 
the Fas t Presbyterian Church of Minden in the absence 
of the regular pastoro Those who made the trip were: 
Seiriol Williams, Louis French, Herman Leser, Dan Weyer 
and Robert Crosby. 

I According to the fellows, both the services were 
successes in spi te of the cold drizzel that persisted 
throughout the dayo A fair sized crowd. attended both 
meetings, and what was lacking in numbers was more than 
made up for by the fine response of those present. 

The topic of the morning service was 'The Man­
hood of the Master I • All of the team took part and 
made short talks on various phases of the above topico 

12Thel Hastings Collegian, November 26, 1927. 

13TheHast ings College Annual, The Bronco, 1928, p.l0lo 
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The evening topic was 'The Upper Road of Vision'. 
All of the team spoke in the evening each one touching 
upon a different angle of the main topic. 

The team itself was enthusiastic over the benefit 
that each member receives from such a trip. All in all, 
the trip was a successful one and was {!try much enjoyed 
by those who were members of the team. 

The Gospel Team traveled to the First Presbyterian Church at Aurora 

and spoke on "The Upper Road of Vision" .15 They also traveled to 

Holdrege using the topics, "Culture in Christian Life" and ''Playing 

16 
the Game". 

Crosby was named as a sports reporter for the Has tings Collegian 

for 1927-28. The Bronco pictured Crosby at the head of his class as the 

president and records: 

The freshmen lost the first annual flag rush to 
the upper classmen. The sophomores won the olympics from 
them, but it snowed the next day, so that the victory had 
little effect on the length of time the freshmen were 
required to wear green caps and collars.17 

Bob Crosby is also pictured with his 'f raternity, Gamma Gamma Gamma, a 

social organization and a literary society.18 

Crosby continued his speaking with the Gospel Team his sopho-

more year. The Collegi~ notes: 

The "Y" Gospel Team began its activities for the 
year ;:tast Sunday. Six men journeyed to Litchfield, where 
they conducted both morning and evening services, and the 
Christian Endeavor meetings of the First Presbyterian 
Church. 

Tomorrow the team is going to Minden where they 
will sponsor all the services and meetings in the Presby­
terian Church of that cit yo 

14The Hastings Collegian, October 1, 1927. 

15The Hastings Collegian, December 3, 1927. 
16 .. 

The Hastings Collegian, October 22, 1927. 

17The Hastings College Annual, The Bronco, 1928, po 61 

1Brhe Hastings College Annual, The Bronca, 1928, po 127 



The gospel team is an organization sponsored 
by the College YMCA. Its function is that of visiting 
various churches in smaller towns around Hastings and 
conducting the Sunday services. 

Robert Crosby is the captain of this year's 
team and has made several advanced engagements.19 

14 

The Gospel Team also traveled to Stamford, Loup City,20 Lebannon, and 

D . h 21 
on~p an. In addition to speaking on the Gospel Team and being its 

captain Bob Crosby was active in his fraternit,y. 

GamrnaGammaGamma 

This organization held its regualr meeting in 
the chapel on Wednesday evening. After a short dis­
cussion of matters of business, the topic of conver­
sa tion became the ini tia ti on. This will be held at 
the first meeting after Christmas vacation. 

Robert Crosby was appointed the initiation 
chairman. The meeting adjourned ~th the prospect of 
a fine initiation ceremony ahead. 

In the 1929 Bronco, Crosby was pictured with his fraternity and it 

listed' him as a sophomore.23 Robert Crosby was also pictured with 

the sophomore class, listed were his home town North Platte and his 

fraternity, Gamma. Gamma Gamma.o Under each picture in the annual was 

a caption which described the picture of the person or described the 

person in everyday life. Under the picture of the well groomed Bob 

. 24 
Crosby was the caption, 'Admire me g~ls'. It was unclear whether 

the caption applies to collegian Cr-esby's social habits or his looks 

in the picture 0 

19The Hastings Collegian, October 13, 1928. 

20The Hastings Collegian, December 15, 1928. 

21The Hastinss Collegian, March 16, 1929 

2~he Hastings Collegian, December 15, 1928. 

23The Hastings College Annual, The Bronco, 1929, p. 139 

24The, Hastings College Annual, The Bronco, 1929, p. 40 
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Robert Crosby's first two years in college were rich in speech 

training and experience. He received training under debate Coach Baccus. 

Speaking experience was acquired from debating his freshman year, two 

years of preaching on the Gospel Team, and one year as Gospel Team 

Captain. The quality of his speaking was seen in his team's 11- 1 record 

in decision debatingo 

In 1929, the times had changedo Bob transferred to the Uni-

versity of Minnesota; he carried a very heavy load in order to graduate 

in three rather than four semesters. He worked his way through school 

by waiting on tables and preparing breakfasts at the Faculty Clubo In 

January 1931, at the age of 19, Bob received his A.E. ~ laude in 

English and Philosophy from the University of Minnesota.
25 

From January to September 1931, he worked for the Nebraska State 

Highway Department working with gravel and carrying chain. 

He entered Harvar d Law School in the fall of 19310 His first 

year's record earned him a scholarship but he was unable to accept it 

because the depression had struck deep into the economic life of Nebraskao 

Again he became a laborer. He worked. at the Day Milling Company 

at connnon labor, delivering coal, working in the flour mill and being a 
26 

general handyman. 

In 1933, he returned to Harvard Law School and was able to use 

the scholarship he had earnedo He waited on tables at Harvard and 

managed. a grain elevator at Sutherland during the sunnnero While at 

Harvard, he met Betty Ehler, daughter of a Nova Scotia sea captain. 

She had attended school in Cambridge, after finishing at Mount st. 

25Cander, Marjorie Do, (eel.), Current Biography, (New York : H.W. 
Wilson Company, 19.54), p. 219 

26 
Omaha World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 
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Bernard's Ladies College in Antigonish. Nova Scotia 0
27 

They were 

married on November 29. 1934. while Bob was in his last year at Harvard 

28 
Law School. In 193.5. Bob Crosby graduated from Harvard in the top ten 

per cent of his class. with his LL.B. degree. 

Political and Advocacy Influnces 

When Crosby returned to Nebraska. the state was in the depths 

of drouth and depressiono After a few months in North Platte. he came 

to Omaha to look for work. He told attorney Henry Beal that he wanted 

to work for him. Beal responded that he did not need anyone. Young 

Crosby stated. ''My father told me that if I went to work for you I'd 
29 

learn a lot." Beal pointed out that he could only pay $7.5 a month 

and Crosby accepted. Beal gave him a file and Crosby started to work 

immediately. After two days he was still working on the case, Beal 

asked how it was coming, Crosby replied that they should ask for more 

money. Bob had discovered that the case violated the obscure common 

law rule against perpetuities. Beal asked for proof and his young em-

ployee stated that he had twenty books to back up his claim. Armed 

with Crosby's brief , Mr. Beal went to Alliance to try the case. The 

attorney for the opposition was State Senator Harry Gantz. The two 

lawyers were in court only eight minutes. Beal pointed out that the 

rule against perpetuities had been violated by the estate. Gantz stated. 

30 
"I don It know what Mr. Beal is talking about but he can't be right". 

The judge told Mr. Beal to go ahead and draw the decr eeo The decree 

27Cander, Marjorie D., (edo), Current Biograph.,y, (New York: H.W. 
Wilson Company, 19.54), p. 220 

28 
Omaha World-Herald. January 4. 19.530 

29 · . 
Omaha World-Herald, January 4. 19.53. 

30 
Interview, Robert B. Crosby, March 26. 1968. 
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gave Beal's client four thousand dollars more than Beal had originally 

sought 0 

Old friends, attorneys Gantz and Beal had lunch togethero Gantz 

asked, "I still don't get ito I never heard of that legal principle you 

sprang on me", and Beal replied, "Don't feel too bad about it, Harry, I 

never heard of it, either. A young kid from Harvard in my office dug it 

,,31 
up. 

Harry Beal's unwanted $75 a month employee taught his employer 

a $4,000 lesson. 

Crosby recalled that it was Beal who gave him his first chance 

at political speaking. Mr. Crosby's first political speech was de-

livered in support of Alf Landon in the 1936 campaign to a Near North 

Side Omaha audienceo
32 

Crosby's Republican politics was a sharp contrast 

to many of his Harvard colleagues. He told Dean Landis of the Harvard 

Law School, "I took my sheepskin out of the door and turned to the right 

instead of the left" 0 33 

While in Omaha the Crosby's lived at 1921 Wirt Street. They did 

not ow a car; they frequently went riding with the Beals. Bob joined 

the Barristers Club.
34 

Their first child Robert Mainard Crosby was born 

in Omaha; later Susan Mary Crosby would complete their familyo 

After; a member of Crosby's fathers law firm died in 1937 Bob 

Crosby and his family returned to North Platteo He practiced law with 

his fathers firm for three years. In 1940, Howard Clothier persuaded 

him to run for the 1egislature.
35 

He won the nomination in a five man 

31 . 
Omaha World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 

32rnterview, Mr. Robert B. Crosby, March 26, 1968. 
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35Interview, Mrs. Robert B. Crosby, April 3, 19680 
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r ace, and the election. He entered the Unicameral at the age of 29. 

It was not until after Crosqy had filed that he realized that his wife 

could not vote for him; she was not a citizen of the United states 0 

To avoid any possible political repercussions they quiet~ went about 

B tt I t 1· t· 36 e ~ s na ura ~za ~on. 

In 1942 Crosby was re-elected to the Unicameral. In this session 

he was chosen for the highest honor that his colleagues could bestow upon 

him. The post Speaker of the Legislature was open}7 Several candidates 

campaigned so' vigorous~ that the majority turned to Crosqy in the scuffle. 

Robert Crosby at 31 was the youngest man ever to hold the post Speaker of 

the Unicameral. 

In 1944, he waived his draft exempt status in the state legislature 

and was classified as i-A. In April 1944, he received a commission as 

Lieutenant (jg) in the Navy and went to Harvard for a four month indoctri-

nation class a:t the Harvard Business School. He ranked highest in the 

indoctrination class, graduating with "high distinction" and was assigned 

to San Francisco to do contract negotiations worko
38 

Before he was dis-

charged he filed for Lieutenant Governor. He stated, 

'I hope to defend and advance certain ideals of 
government which need more championing in this country. 
They are the ideals of forward looking republicanism. 
I fought for these ideals in the legislature. After 
an absence of two years I am eager for the opportunity 
to resume the task.39 

His qualifications in addition to those of government service were presi-

dent of the Lincoln County Bar Association, director of the North Platte 

36Interview, Mrs. RoB. Crosqy, April 3, 1968. 

37Interview, Robert B. Crosby, March 11, 1968. 

38Lincoln Star, March 5, 1946. 

39Ibido 
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Chamber of Connnerce, chairman of the Lincoln County Civilian Defense 

Council, chairman of the Lincoln County Health Council and president 

of the Ad Club.
40 

The pre-primar,y convention in March gave him the 

endorsement over Charles J. Warner and Roy Johnson, the incumbent, 

and he won the nomination and election. 

While he was serving in the office of Lieutenant Governor, 

Crosby proposed that his office be abolished. He felt that the part 
41 

time post was only a "spare tire" job. He pointed out that eleven 

states got al9ng fine without a Lieutenant Governor. The Legislature 

might be embarrassed to undertake abolition dfl the office of their 

presiding officer without that officer's complete support, he empha-

sized. Crosby pointed out that the non-partisan Legislature did not 
42 

take direction from a partisan Lieutenant Governor. Furthermore, 

Crosby stated that a Lieutenant Governor who wanted to get along in 

Lincoln is just a parliamentarian and nothing else. The speaker of 

the Unicameral could do the Lieutenant Governor's job, and another 

state officer, like the Secretary of State, could take the Governor's 

job in case of death or incapacity of the Governor. The bill intro-

duced by State Senat or C. Petrus Peterson was sent from connnittee to 

the floor and there it was killed.43 

Bob Crosby did not file for re-election in 1948. He served as 

assistant state chairman of the Republican Party in the fall campaign, 
44 

under Bert Howard then under Joe Wishart. In 1950, he served: as 

40Ibid• 

41Cro~by, Robert B., "Why I want to Get Rid of Hy Job", State 
Government, July 1947, p. 193. 

4 . 
2crosby, .Q:E. ill., p. 194 

43Ibid. 

44~ World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 
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campaign manager for Governor Val Peterson, who was seeking re-election. 

From 1949-51, he served as chairman of the Nebraska Citizens Committee 

for the Hoover Commission Reports.45 

In June 1951. Robert Crosby announced that he would be a candi= 
46 

date for the Republican nomination for Governor of Nebraskao Former 

Governor Dwight Griswold came out in support of Crosby for the nomi-

nation. Griswold stated, "He has had the required experience and he 

has both the strength of character and intelligence to make a fine candi-
47 

date and a splendid Governor" 0 Griswold, a Gering banker was chief 

executive from 1941 to 1947. He later headed the Truman Doctrine mission 

to Greeceo Griswold said, "There is no person in Nebraska who is a better 
48 

student of our state government than Bob Crosby." His candidacy 

became offici al when he paid his filing fee to the Lincoln County Clerk 

and mailed his filing papers to the Secretary of state in Lincoln 0 49 

One of his first statements was on education, 

o.owe must improve the quality of education in many parts 
of our state, there is no doubt that this can be ac­
complished through the co-ope~ati~e efforts of local school 
districs and our state government.50 

Crosby opened his headquarters in the Federal Securities Building and 

appointed Thomas Pansing, a former City Councilman, as Lancaster County 

campaign manager • . He told reporters that his posit ion in the race was 

46 . 
Lincoln star, June 14. 19510 

47 . 
Lincoln Star, July 25, 1951 

48Ibido 
49 . . _.. 
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"strong" on t he bases of his outs tate campaign • .5
1 

He spoke to the 

Cosmopolitan Club and the Knife & Fork Club on functions of state 

government.. The appointment of Pansing was interesting since one 

of Crosby's opponents, Victor Anderson, was helped to the position 

of Lincoln Mayor by Pansing. Pansing commented, "I am very enthusi-

astic in ~ support of Bob Crosby, even though I'm sti11 one of Vic's 

friends" .. .52 Gr osby's campaign, was based on eight major steps: 

1. strict limits on state spending during periods of 
heavy tax burdens for military costs, including sharp 
curtailment of unnecessary state services. 
2. Emphasis on the cabinet system of administration, 
thus putting good business practices and good governmental 
experience into force. He would regular~ meet with de­
partment heads to plan and coordinate activities. 
3. Reorganization of the administrative branch to decrease 
costs and increase efficiency. He points out that the 
six code agencies of 1919 have been increased to 46. 
4. Adopting of a t'WO-year program for state highway 
construction based on established principles of high-
way programming to be submitted to the people at public 
hearings. Adoption of the program would prevent later 
changes due to political influences • 
.5.. He would seek legislative action to bring uniform 
tax assessments and eliminate present injustices in 
assessment. 
6. He promises leadership in development and promotion 
of the state's resources, emphasizing agricultural re­
search and development of irrigation, flood control and 
soil conservation. He would encourage production of oil 
and natural gas and develop the tourist attractions of 
the state. Development of industry in the state, par­
ticular~ those utilizing agricultural products. he says 
should be stimulated. 
7. He advocates improved quality at all levels of edu­
cation and advocates a state board of education. 
8. Crosby advocates strengthening of laws on illegal 
traffic in narQotics with maximum penalties where minors 
are involved • .5J 

Robert Crosby won the GOP primary even beating Mayor Anderson in 

.51 . 
Lincoln star, February 1, 19.52 .. 

.5~bid • 

.53Lincoln star, March 31, 19.52. 
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Lancaster County 0 54 Speaking in Aurora, Nebraska Crosby summed up his 

outlook on the campaign rules: 

When I filed for Governor I resolved that my 
candidacy would be entire~ independent--that I would 
keep free from any obligations to any group or faction-­
that I would not promise any job or appointment . state 
or federal, to anyoneo I am proud to report that I 
have not broken that resolution in any respecto 

Neither have I made any commitements to any 
section of the state. I am neither a town nor a rural 
candidate. No section has any promise from me for a 
special road or any other special benefit. If els3ted 
I expect to represent all Nebraskans impartially. 

In the November election Crosby went on to beat Walter Raecke of Central 

Cit yo The campaign was very polite without a hint of personality at-

tacks. They were both former Speakers of the Legislature and had shared 

ff " d " "56 an 0 ~ce ur~g one sess~on. 

In North Platte. in his first formal appearance as Governor-elect. 

Crosby told his home town that his hands were free, that he had made no 

commitments to any man in Nebraskao He said. "4>0 • although the highway 

problem was the foremost campaign issue. no town held any promise from 

him for any particular road.II57 Next Crosby limited his public ap-

pearences until after June 1st in order to stay close to his office to 

get ready for the Legislative session. He point out that there would 

be a heavy burden of work to do in order- to get ready for the Legislative 

session and that this was especially true of a Governor starting his 

first termo Among his cons i derations we~e 14 appointments to state jobs.58 

540maha World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 

55Lincoln Sunday Journal and Star, October 26, 1952. 

560maha World-Herald, January 4, 1953. 

57 " 
L~coln Star. November 14, 19520 

.58Lin~oln Star. December 11, 19520 



23 

In his I naugural Message his thesis was, " ••• 1 regard the 

1 5 b f t · t ,,59 proper role of state government in 9 3 as eing one 0 res ra1n 0.0 

The points of the message each dealt with restraint: administrative 

reorganization, spending of money, roads, education, property as­

sessment, resources and public assistance.
60 

In attempting to make "restraint in government" work :t-'lr . Crosby 

dmitted .. d· ff· It "Th h b to po; "'ch" 61 when a exper~enC1ng some ~ ~cu y. e s oe egan ~. 

he tried to make it work. He said he, " ••• could not find one account 

number in the proposed state budget that could be cut without incurring 

the sincere crit icism of some part of the Nebraska publico,,62 Crosby 

received support for program in numerous calls and letters. The sup-

port had been prompted by state Senator Terr,y Carpenter's repeated 
63 

attacks on the Governor's "restraint" policyo Taxes were one of the 

major problems of the Governoro This will be discussed in greater de-

tail under the section on "Operation Honesty" 0 He 'Went before the 

Legislature to urge passage of 18272, the 50 per cent assessment 
64 

measure and 18302 providing for annual assessment. The 'Nebraska tax 

mess" was made even worse by the Unicameral's rejection of both billso
65 

Bob Crosby pledged to do all in his pO'Wer to equalize assessments for 

taxation in counties. "It is tremendously important that counties bring 

59 
Inaugural Message of Robert Bo Crosby, Januar,y 8, 19530 

60Ibi~. 
61 . 
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up valuations on personal property when it is low'. It is an oppor-

tunity for the boards . Many must bring it up in order not to put an 
66 

unfair burden on real estate," the Governor said . 

Some of Governor Crosby ' s Legislative proposals were rejected, 

but the la't-mtakers upheld seven of his eight vetoes o Except for Senator 

Terry Carpenter of Scottsbluff, the Governor did not come in for much 

t k I ° latO °to ° 67 C °d ° th addOtO I 22 ou spo en eg~s ~ve cr~ ~c~sm o ons~ er~g e ~ ~ona 

million dollars spent for new highvmy construction , the budget re-

mained about the same , $.94 , 776,039 as compared with $173, 383 , 571 in 
68 

the last budgeto According to Crosby unnecessary state institutions 

have been eliminated, the rise in the number of state employees has 

been checked and a savings of $500,000 effected plus a savings of 

$500 , 000 effected through transfer of responsibility for medical re-

69 
lief to the county. In education, legislation dealing with certi-

fication standards and redistricting had been passedo The Governor ' s 

Lay Leadership Conference on Education was established o Nebraska 

launched its largest highway construction project in historyo70 

Crosby ' s policy of restraint, where he urged agencies to save a 5 

per cent cushion from their budgets , seemed to be catching . Sixteen 

out of forty- four agencies estimated that they would spend less than 
71 

the amount appropriated for them. 

66Lincoln Star , May 26 , 19530 

67Om.aha Sunday World-Herald . July 5 p 1953 . 

68Lincoln Star , June 23 , 1953 . 

69Lincoln Star, May 20 . 1954. 

70Ibid o 
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Governor Crosby felt that a special session was necessary and 

called one to deal with revenue and taxation. 72 At adjournment he 

stated, "I think the five proposals constitute a sound program to be 

submitted to the peoplell • 73 

He discussed the proposals which were to be placed on the No-

vember ballot . They were: 

181 provides that the Legislature can create a tax 
commission to replace the present equalization board 
which consists of officials elected to perform other 
duties . 
182 would permit the Legislature to provide that county 
assessors be appointed rather than elected and also 
make possible a county equalization board instead of 
using the present county board of commissioners . 
183 which would permit changes in assessment of house­
hold goods or total elimination of the tax. 
184 removes the restriction requiring actual valuation 
of property assessment purposes and would permit use 
of average annual inventories . 
185 which provides that if a sales or income tax is 
adopted to replace state property tax, the ~4ate pro­
perty tax would be automatically abolished ol 

After he had worked with the tax problem, he had to deal with 

a Senate vacancy . Senator Dwight Griswold died in April 1954 which 

gave rise to speculation that Crosby might have himself apPOinted.75 

Governor Crosby soon laid this speculation to rest as he stated: 

I shall not resign my present office and very 
shortly I shall announce the appointment of a qualified 
person for Senator Griswold ' s post in the Senateo 

I do not think that it is too soon to lay at 
rest one piece of speculation that has bothered me o 
It is true many of my friends have urged me to resign 
and permit the immediate appointment of myself to suc­
ceed Senator Griswold o It is an attractive proposal 

72r.in~oln star, April 13, 1954. 

73Lincoln Star, May 8, 1954. 
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and I am human. 
However, matters of great importance to Nebraska 

are just halfway through their course. Just ahead is a 
special session of the Legislature called by me to con­
sider tax matters. It is imperative that adequate pro­
posals be submitted to the people for mending the tax 
provisions of the state constitution. 

The Highway Department is just entering the 
greatest period of construction in Nebraska history, 
the Governor's Lay Leadership Conference is but half­
l-JaY through its work. I am just laying groundwork for 
dealing with human relationso Important matters of 
resources are ahead. 

The work and planning Which have been carried 
on for over a year are about to bear fruito I do not 
think that in this situation I should back awayo I do 
not t hink that Senator Griswold would have done SOo 

Therefore I shall not resign ~ present office 
and very shortly I shall announce the appointment of a 
qualifi7% person for Senator Griswold's post in the 
Senate. 

Crosby's announcement revived the Senate guessing game. Among those 

mentioned most Qften were Dave Martin, GOP State Chairman; Julius 

Cronin, president of the State Bar Association; Howard Buffett, former 

Congressman from Omaha; Mrs 0 Eva Bo~ing, vice-chairman of GOP Central 

Committee; Representative Carl Curtis; Fred Seaton; Max Denney, ad-

ministrative assistant to the Governor; Brig. General Warren Wood, 

friend of Senator Griswold; Mayor Glenn Cunningham of Omaha; National 

Committeeman Abel Shotwell and Clarence Davis of Lincoln. 77 

Crosby soon silenced speculation by the appointment of Mrs. 

Eva Bowing of western Nebraska to the U.S. Senate to fill the post 

until the November election. Then Senator Hugh Butler also died in 

office. Crosby appointed Sam Reynolds of Omaha to serve in Butler's 

place until November . 

Robert Crosby announced hi s own candidacy for the Senate post 

76Lincoln Star, April 15. 19.540 

77Lin~~ln S;t~r . April 15, 1954. 
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at a 10 A.M •• April 15th news conference and completed the filing with 

the Secretary of State immediately thereafter.78 He stated that this 

would be the best way to finish his tasks as Governor. He felt: 

I ~annot in good conscience turn away from these 
responsibilities that ren~in in ~ term of office. 

Beginning next year I would be proud to serve ~ 
state in the Senate following the fine traditions of the 
Nebraska Senators who have preceded me. 79 

Many men shared Crosby's Senatorial ambitions they included 

Walter Nielsen , Omaha lawyer; Robert Crosby, Governor; Terry Carpenter, 

State Senator; David Martin , GOP State Chairman; Carl Curtis, Repre-

sentative in Congress; James Harrison, retired military officer from 

Omaha and John Overgaard of Lincoln.
80 

Crosby used television to 

bring his message to the peopleo In a show IIWhat's Your Question?" in 

Omaha and Lincoln he answered questions telephoned in by listeners.
81 

Some of his campaigning included a speech to the state American Legion 

Convention in. Omaha, a reception at the Fontenelle Hotel with U.S. 

Senators Eve Bowring and Sam Reynolds, Fairbury Kiwanis Club, County ;'1 
, 

fairs in Geneva and Nelseno He appeared at the Omaha League of Women 

Voters "Carnival of Candidatesll • and gave speeches in Gr and Island , 

82 
Norfolk. Wayne. Tekamah. Fremont and Wahoo. 

In the August 10th primary, with one-third of the returns 

counted. Governor Robert Crosby conceded defeat. He telegraphed Carl 

T. Curtis. IICongratulations on your sI;iendid victoryo You have ~ full 

78r.incoln Star. April 16, 19.54. 

79Ibido 

80 . 
Omaha Sunday World-Herald. July 25. 19.540 

81 . 
Lincoln Sunday Journal and Star. August 1,19.54. 

82rbid. 



28 

and whole-hearted support for a Republican victory in November".83 

Crosby was unable to break the jinx that forbids Nebraska Governors 

the t rip immediatelY from the state House to the U.So Senate. Gover-

nors Val Peterson, Roy Cochran and Frank Morrison among many others 

were unable to make the step from Governor to Senator. A final count 

of the votes showed Carl Curtis the winner with 62,355; Crosby second 

with 41,719; Terry "Terrible Terry" Carpenter 29,985 and Dave Martin 
84 

17,921. 

Crosby went back to work after the election and advised his 

supporters to "forget it". When asked of futm:-e plans he said, "I am 

going to try and be the best Governor within my power. There are a 

lot of things that still remain to be done and I hope some problems 
85 

can be solved before I leave office." 

Some observations can be made on the Crosby defeat. It ap-

peared that the Nebraska voters took their anger out on Crosby as a 

result of their frustation over the tax mess in Nebraska .
86 

A number 

of State Senators who expected to be blown out of their seats by voters 

anger were surprised by the lack of criticism. One State Senator ex-

pressed what he thought was the feeling among his fellow Senators, 
87 

"With Crosby gone, the heat is off". It appeared that once the voters 

had taken care of Crosby they were no longer angry. One commentator 

stated: "Just as in Biblical times among the Hebrew tribes, Crosby seems 

83 -
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To have been the 'scapegoat ' in this affair for the sins and errors of 

88 
the whole peopl e ." 

Shortly before he left offi ce Crosby announced that he would 

practi~e la~ in Lincoln on leaving office . He became the senior member 

of the firm Crosby, Pansing and Guenzel . Robert Guenzel was practicing 

law in Lincoln and served part time on the Univer sity of Nebraska facul-

ty. Thomas Pansing had practiced law and was serving as State Director 

of Insurance . The firm ' s offices were located in the Federal Securities 

Building . Adris Hunt became a secretary for the law firm; she had served 

the Governor in his North Platte law office and as his executive secre-

89 
tary. 

Mr . Crosby had purchased a home in Lincoln ; he stated that he 

regretted that his plans could not include returning to North Platte , 

but among the impelling reasons for the decision to stay in Lincoln was 

his children ' s schooling .
90 

His son Bob was a freshman at the University 

of Nebraska and his daughter was a freshman in high schoolo He also 

stated that he had seriously considered several offers of federal em-

ployment. "But it would take a considerable inducement to persuade me 
. 91 

to leave Nebraska , " he commented . 

Before Bob Crosby left office he set a record for Senatorial 

appointments 0 He was the first Governor in modern times ever to appoint 

three members .to the UoS o Senate 0
92 

He appointed Eva Bowring to succeed 

88Ibid• 
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the late Senator Dwight Griswold and Sam Reynolds to succeed the late 

Senator Hugh Butlero He then appointed Carl Curtis to the Senate to 

serve from his appointment until his regular term began. 93 

After Mr. Crosby left off ice his major efforts have been his 

practice of law, addresses to various civic and political groups , 

representing various groups as a lobbyist in the Unicameral and work 

in support of the Republican Party. 

An important part of his practice of law was the defense of 

Duane Pope on charges growing out of Pope ' s robber,y of a Big Springs , 

Nebraska bank, the killing of three people , and the wounding of a 

fourth 0 This will be discussed in detail in the chapter on the expla-

nation of the Pope trialo 

A look at some of the speeches in the years since Crosby' s 

retirement from public office revealed numerous speeches on varied 

topics. In 1955 he addressed the Nebraska Association of Soil Conser-
94 

vation Districts in Hastings on conservationo In 1956, he addressed 

the Women ' s Division of the Chamber of Commerce on the value of freedom 

to new citizens . 95 In 1960, he addressed the people of Nebraska on 

television and Republican Founders Day audience in Lincoln on "Why most 

people feel that Senator Terr,y Carpenter is not qualified to be Governor 

of our state . 1I96 In 1961, he addressed the Omaha Chamber of Commerce 

Highway Committee on road building and the gas tax 0 97 This is on~ a 

93Ib1d .. 
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sample of the large number of addresses Governor Crosby has made since 

he left office, addresses covering many aspects of public and civic inter-

esto 

Crosby continued to influence the course of Nebraska as a lobbyist 

in the Unicameral. His first work was for the watershed law revision bill, 

re-enactment of the sixth cent of gasoline tax and increase license fees 
98 

for truckso A newspaper headline read, "Crosby Scores as Lobbyist ; Out-

does Influence Mark as Governor 0" 99 The commentator felt Crosby's influ-

ence came as a result of his non-partisan positiono The reporter noted 

that Bob Crosby's successor, Victor Anderson, made no attempts to launch 

any legislative programs and his relationship with the Legislature was 

the best that had existed bet~reen a Governor and a Legislature in a long 
100 

time. 

Bob Crosby was listed as one of the busiest lobbyist during the 

1955 session; he represented: the Better Nebraska Association, the Rock 

Hill Oil Company, Salt-Water Watershed Association, Better Education 
101 

Committee and the Nebraska Rural Power Association. In 1967, a partial 

list of organizations represented by Robert Crosby or represented by his 

law firm ~rere: Bellevue School District, Better Nebraska Association, 

City of Sidney, Lincoln Center Association, Nebraska Consolidated Com-

munications Corporation, Associated Natural Gas Companies, Police Officers 

Association of Nebraska, Salt Valley Watershed District, and First Federal 

98Lincoln Sunday Journal and Star, June 26, 19550 
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Robert Crosby has continued to activelY support the Republican 

Party. He has served as Precinct Committeeman, County Chairman, As­

sistant State Chairman and in other posts o In November 1955, he was a 

candidate for delegate-at-Iarge to the Republican National Convention 

in San Francisco . He again dispelled rumors of re- entry into political 

life.. He declared: 

I will not be a candidate for any public office 
in 19560 I am looking forward to a long period of years 
of enjoying life as a private citizeno I have had time 
to do lots of things I never had time for before , time 
to go hunting with my son and time to teach my daughter 
to play tennis. 

I also have renewed ~ skill at putting up storm 
windows and mowing the lawn. 3 

In the May 1956 primary election he compiled the highest number of votes 

as a delegate-at-large o At the 1956 National GOP Convention he served 

on the platform committee and helped draft the 30- page document . He 

felt the platform would help Nebraska go forward in agriculture and 
104 

water resources development . 

In 1960, Bob Crosby traveled to the GOP National Conventiono 

He served as a member of the labor and commerce subcommittees of the 

platform committee. He endorsed the civil rights position urged upon 

the Republican National Convention by Vice President Richard Nixon . 105 

In 1964, Robert Crosby again represente~ Nebraska at the National GOP 

Convention in San Franciscoo He addressed the National Convention over 

nation wide television .. He spoke in favor of the adoption of the civil 

l°Zaegistered Lobgyists, 1967 Legislature , Hugo Surb Clerko 
103 . 

Lincoln star, November 10, 19550 
104 . 

Lincoln Star, August 22 , 19560 
10'1-. .. . 

..... Lincoln Star, Ju13 27 , 19600 
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rights plank as drafted . He said that the plank was, " ••• a dignified, 

solid affirmation of the highest concepts of human equality, and I am 

going to be proud to take it back home.,,106 He emphasized that the 

plank was perfectly acceptable until someone chose to make it a test 

of strength of presidential candidates. "We wouldn t t be quarreling 

about the civil rights plank except ••• it is a part of politics. -a con-

test for the presidential nomination, and there has to be an issue," 
107 

he stated. 

He continued to serve the community in civic positions. In 
108 

19.5.5, he headed the Nebraska state Heart Fund. In 196.5, Mro Crosby 

was named General Chairman of the $1,7.50,000 United Hospital Campaign 

which was to provide funds for new buildings for st. Elizabeth f s 

Hospital, Lincoln General Hospital and make possible the completion of 

Bryan Memorial HosPital.
1

09 Campaign Chairman Crosby stated, 

The drive will be a change for every interested 
person to help provide the hospitals which will serve us, 
our children and our grandchildren. 

We will need facilities for more than 3.100 
patients by the year 1970. The compaign will insure that 
each and every one of thesf18eople will gain every benefit 
of modern medical science. 

As Mr. Crosby neared the conclusion of his service as General 

Chairman he was asked to defend Duane Earl Pope. His defence of Pope 

will be discussed in the chapter on background of the speeches. 

106 
Proceedings of the TwentY-Eighth Republican National Convention , 

(San Francisco, 1964). Republican National Committee, p. 233. 

107Ibid. 
108 . 

Lincoln Star, November 10, 19.5.50 

109 . 
Llllcoln star, Febr uary 4, 196.5. 

110Ibid• 



One of the ways to view Robert B. Crosby as a speaker would be 

to ask his opinion of his own speech making and check his statements 

against other sources . Mr. Crosby turned over to me four personal files 

of speech notes that dated from the 1930's and he ,opened the archives of 

the Nebraska state Historical Society to me for research purposes. As 

he turned the files over to me , he stated: 

I think that you understand that during over 
thirty years of making speeches, several thousand 
speeches, I suppose, I never reduced a speech to manu­
script form unless I had to . 

Even when I appeared on national television at 
the 1964 convention, I did not refer to ~~e notes that 
I had made. 

Very early I learned that my best success with 
an audience occurred when I did not take my notes out 
of my pocket. This does not mean that I did not work 
on the speech in advance. In fact, preparing a speech 
has always been for me a time-consuming and hard task . 
As I made the notes, I found that the words -- or de­
livery -- was being reviewed in my mind" 

It is fair to say, I think, that speeches were 
my chief asset as a politician. I did not have money 
to spend for advertising, except for uncertain political 
contriburi~ns, and speeches were an occasion for a press 
release. 

In the wealth of speech notes that covered a thirty year period 

I discovered a vast number of speech outlines but only three or four 

manuscripts. The outlines were word or clause outlines where a word 

or a clause would bring back an entire paragraph of words to the speakers 

recollection.. In checking speech outlines against tape recordings of the 

same speech, the words on the outline seemed to serve the function of a 

reminder to the speaker. For example, the words "tell joke" would be 

enough for him to remember the joke that he had intended for that audience. 

In the archives of the Nebraska State Historical Society and in 

Mr. Crosby's personal files, there were a vast number of press releases 

ll1Interview, Mr. Robert B. Crosby, November 6 , 1967. 
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about his speeches. numbering several hundred. Every t ime he spoke 

he would draft a press release to be given to a large number of news-

papers 0 Speeches and press releases were used for political campaigning 

rather than other methods of reaching the public 0 Checking newspaper s 

of the periods during a campaign. I found a lack of paid political ad-

vertisements but many times that same newspaper would carry a news story 

on a Crosqy speech in some part of t.~e state. 

Arch Donovan, veteran news reporter and commentator for the 

Lincoln Star who wrote many articles and reports on Bob Crosby, stated. 

"Bob was one of the most conversational speakers r have ever heard. 

Yet his speeches never lacked vitality. He emphasized his major points 

112 with enough power that he got them across." Donovan remarked. "Bob 

was a good Governor and a good man but he was just too honest to be in 

lit ' ,,113 po locs. 

112r te . n rvloew, 

113rnterview. 

Arch Donovan, April 1, 1968. 

Arch Donovan, April 1. 1968. 



CRAPTER III 

BA'CKGROUND OF THE SPEECHES 

Before an analysis of the speeches can be meaningful , suf­

ficient background must be given in order to understand the context 

of the speeches. The purpose of this chapter is to give background 

Plaibel'ial on "Operation Honesty" and on the United states v. Duane 

Pope. 

DELlBERA TIVE SPEECH-- "OPERA TION HONESTY" 
. . 

Robert B. Crosby was inaugurated Governor of Nebraska on 

January 8, 1953. He remarked, "If I could have stopped the clock 
. 1 

on that day things 'WOuld have been fine." On January 9th, the 

following day, with the oath of office still ringing in his ears, 

the Nebraska SUpreme Court dumped the Nebraska tax problem into the 

new Governors lap. 

A farmer named Laflin who owned a farm in Johnson County 

no:ticed that his farm land in Johnson County was assessed at a 

figure much closer to actual value than farm land was in other 

counties. He and the other land owners were paying more than their 

share of property tax to the state government. 2 Laflin appeared be­

fore the state Board of Equalization in July 1952 and asked for relief. 

for the Johnson County farm owners. '!he state Ihard refused to grant 

relief. Laflin went to the SUpreme Court and the SUpreme Court found 

that the Johnson County farm owners should be granted relief. The 

Court's opinion stated that: (1) the state Constitution required 

1North Platte Telegra:eh Bllletin, October 12. 1953. 

~orth, Platte Telegraph Bllletin. October 1), ' 1953. 



all tangible property to be taxed uniforrnl¥ and ( 2?) the laws of N e-

braska required all tangible property to be assessed at its actual 

value.
3 

The state Board of Equalization did nothing. Mr. Laflin 

again returned to the Nebraska Supreme Court; he asked that the 

state Board of Equalization be cited for contempt of Court. The 

Governor as Chairman and four other constitutional officers consti­

tuted the State Board of Equalization.4 The Supreme Court i:lsued a 

citation to each member of the State Board of Equalization requiring 

each member to show cause why he should not be adjudged in contempt 

of court and treated accordingly. Friends of the Governor joked that 

they would bring him cigarettes during his stay in the Lancaster County 

jail.5 The State Board of Equalization then reduced the assessed value 

6 of Johnson County land to the state average. 

Gross inequities had arisen over the years. Inequities existed 

from county to county; inequities existed from farm to cit yo Farm land 

in Pawnee County was assessed at 5&% of going market value. while farm 

land in Lincoln County was assessed at 2% of going market v~lue. City 

property in Saline County was assessed at 37% of actual value, while 

city property in Lincoln County was assessed at 1~ of actual value.7 

The idea was to keep values low and levies high; this enabled the tax-

8 payer to pay less in county and state property taxeso Inequities ex-

3Ibid • 

4Ibid • 

5Ibid • 

~orth Platte Telegraph Bulletin. October 14. 1953. 

7North Platte Telegraph Bulletin, October 15. 1953. 

~~rth Platte Telegraph Bulletin, October 16. 19530 
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isted among classes of tangible property. On a statewide average farm 

real estate was estimated by the Tax Commissioner to be about 35% of 

actual value. town real estate about 22%. cattle about 75%. automobiles 

about 75%. business merchandise about 2~, household goods and equipment 

about 1?/6.9 

Legislation known as the 50% law was passed and signed by the 

Governor. The 50% law provided that tangible property was to be as-

10 sessed at 50% of actual value. 

This attempted solution to the Nebraska tax dilemma also seemed 

doomed to failure. Only twenty-three counties fully complied with the 
11 

law. The state Board of Equalization then forced equalization between 

counties and kinds of property: farm lands. town real estate. business 
12 

inventories, household goods and personal equipment. 

The 50% law did not prevent a shi f t in tax burden from personal 

property to real estateo This unfair shift gave rise to "Operation 

Honesty." Gov.ernor Ro-bert Crosby's attempt to have personal property 

taxes pay its' fair share of the tax burden. 

"Operation Honesty" informally was proposed on November 20th 

to about 100 representatives of statewide organizations.13 Crosby 

asked for " •• osomething that has never been tried before in this state, 
14 

obeying the Constitution and statutes." He asked that citizens ac-

SNorth Platte Telegraph Bulletin. October 17. 19530 

10Ibid • 

l1North Platte Tel~graph Bulletin. October 19. 1953. 

12Ibid • 

13Li~coln star, November 21, 1953. 

14Ibido -
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tively co-operate in reportin~ all of their personal property for 

taxation.. He suggested that the organizations: 

1.. Appoint steering connnittees to actively engage 
in the operation .. 
2.. Give the committee authority to commit the organ­
ization to the operation and to contact individual 
members to assure their co-operation .. 
3. Personal calls by the committee to explain "Operation 
Honesty" and to fight for its success .. 
4.. The Governor and the Tax Connnissioner will provide 
specific information to the organizations that pertains 
to their members .. 
5.. Co-ordinaU.on of group activities so as to prevent 
overlapping of effort. 
6.. Speakers bureaus to be prepared to make public ap­
pearances in behalf of the operation .. 
7.. Contact other local organizations to obtain partici­
pation. 
8. Have connnittees contact local officials to get par­
ticipation Where necessary and to congratulate those 
who have begun work on their own initiative.15 

Governor Crosby descriged "Operation Honesty" as a dressed up name for 

a simple thing--"enforcement 6£ the lawo,,16 He was hailed as a "modern 

Diogenese" In an address before the Nebraska Society of Certified Public 

Accountants in Lincoln, he was presented with a lantern with a sign 
17 

reading lIa modern lamp for a modern Diogenes." Diogenes was a Greek 

philosopher who went around with a lighted lantern at midday searching 

for honest meh. "Operation Honesty" had its opponents in the persons 

of Lancaster County Attorney Frederick IIFritzll Wagener, Commissioner 

Chris Kuhner and State Senator Terry "Terrible Terry" Carpenter. Chris 

Kuhner said "Crosby is a fine fellow and as honest as the day is long 

but that speech reads like a fairy tale.,,18 Two months later Connnissioner 

15Ibid .. 

16Lincoln Star, January 13, 1954 .. 

17Lincoln Star, December 11, 1953. 

18Lincoln Star, November 21, 1953. 
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Kuhner was still unchanged in his opJ.n~on and stated, "'Operation 

Honesty' still reads like a first-class fairy tale o,,19 Fritz Wagener 

stated that he was not opposed to the purpose or idealism of "Operation 
20 

Honesty" but was opposed to the method used in advancing it. Robert 

Crosby responded, "It is quite apparent that Terry Carpenter has picked 

up a disciple.,,21 Later Crosby debated County Attorney Frederick at an 

A . Le· f 22 
mer~can g~on orumo 

On January 15, 1954, Robert Crosby formally launched his "Oper-

ation Honesty" in a speech in the Senate Chamber to a mass meeting of 

state employees. The crowd overflowed the legislative chamber and many 

stood in the rotunda. He emphasized the need for equalization between 

personal property tax and tax on real estateo He stated that if every-

one made honest personal property returns, taxes on real property could 

23 
be reduced by 25%0 He requested that employees sign pledges to 

" 0 0 .make a full report of all my personal property for tax purposes" 

and "rear a badge with the words "Operation Honesty" on it.24 Crosby's 

speech was taped and sent to nadio stations across the state. He re-

ceived support from the entire Nebraska Congressional Delegation. 

Senators Hugh Butler, Dwight Griswold, Congressmen AoL. Miller, Roman 

Hruska, Carl T. Curtis and RoDo Harrison sent telegrams of encouragement 

and congratulations.25 

19Lincoln Star, January 14, 1954. 

20Ibid• 

21Lincoln start January 15, 1954. 

22Lincoln Star, Fe~ruary 9, 19540 

23Lincoln star, January 16, 1954. 

24rbid. 

25.Mss 2326, Archives Nebraska State Historical Society, Crosby 
Collection. 
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Governor Crosby's appointment books show about forty-five 

speeches on the subject of "Operation Honesty" 0 Many other speeches 

were recorded in his dai~ schedule books but their subject is not 

indicated 0 He addressed the following groups on "Operation Honesty": 

Commercial Club of Pawnee City, December 3, 1953 
Nebraska Society of Certified Public Accountants, Lincoln, 
December 9 . 1953 
Omaha Woman 's Club. January 4. 19.54 
Delta Beta Phi Law Fraternity. January 6. 19.54 
Cosmopolitan Club. Lincoln, January 11, 19.54 
Crete "Coon Feed", January 12, 19.54 
Address to State Employees, January 15, 19.54 
Exchange Club. Lincoln, January 18. 19.54 
Nebraska State Education Association, Kearney. January 19. 19.54 
Lyons Chamber of Commerce. January 21, 19.54 
Nebraska Crop Improvement Association. Lincoln. January 25 . 19.54 
Inter-City Rotary Meeting. Ansley, January 28. 19.54 
Board of Realtors. Lincoln. February 3. 19.54 
Combined Meeting of Clubs, Cambridge, February 5, 19.54 
Knights of Columbus, Lincoln. February 7, 19.54 
debate Fritz Wagener, American Legion. LincoJui. February 8 . 19.54 
American Legion Panel, Lincoln. February 9. 19.54 
Nebraska Seedsman's Association. Lincoln, Fe~ruary 10. 19.54 
Northeast Nebraska Press Association, Norfolk, February 13, 19.54 
sto Cecilias's Church Menls Meeting , Hastings, February 14. 19.54 
Lexington Chamber of Commerce, Grand Island , February 15, 119.54 
Junior Chamber of C6mmerce , Auborn, February 17, 19.54 
Concord Club & County Assessors Asstn, Omaha, February 18, 19.54 
sto Paul Chamber of Commerce, February 19. 19.54 
Lincoln Woman's Republican Club, February 20, 19.54 
American Legion Mid-Winter Conference, Grand Island, February 21 , 
19.54 
Farmers-Merchants Meeting , Red Cloud, February 22, 19.54 
Lincoln Traffic Club Banquet, February 23, 19.54 
Annual Meeting of Nebraska Co-operative Council, Gran Island, 
February 24, 19.54 
National Machine Accountants Association, Omaha. February 25, 19.54 
o INeil Chamber of Commerce & mass meeting, Ainsworth. March 2, 
19.54 
Tekahamah Chamber of Commerce, March 3 , 19.54 
EducatDon Association of the Public Schools, Kearney, March 4, 
19.54 
Omaha Bar Association. March 16. 19.54 
York Chamber of Commerce, March 17. 19.54 
176th District of Rotary, Kearney, March 22, 19.54 
Nebraska Plumbing and Heating Association, March 23, 19.54 
Northeast Nebraska County Officials Association , Fremont, 
March 24, 19.54 
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public meeting, DeWitt, March 25, 1954 
Rotary International, Grand Island, March 29, 1954 
Nebraska City Rotary Club, March 31, 1954 26 
League of Women Voters, Omaha, April 1, 1954 

~ magazine reported that Mro Crosby made 79 hour-long speeches, 

27 
traveled 9,000 miles and distributed 30,000 buttons and pledge cards. 

In the week ending March 15, 1954, ~ stated, "oeohe had flown 1,284 

miles to make nine speeches, and had collapsed with indigestion and 

fatigue, Bob ~rosby was working on a fatiguing assignment: to collect 

taxes w.ithout . adequate enforcement machinery.,,28 In an article entitled, 

"Diogenes on the Trail", ~ repeated the image of Diogenes with his 

lantern searching for honest men. Crosby is pictured with his airplane 

labeled "Operation Honesty" and the caption, "Buttons in his pockets, a 

lantern in his hando,,29 

FORENSIC SPEECH--U.S. v 0 DUANE POPE 

On June 4, 1965 a young, poised, well-dressed, polite man held 

up the Farmers State Bank in Big Springs, Nebraska and killed three bank 

employees. Late in the morning he walked into the bank and asked for a 

loan. He produced a o22-caliber pistol, ordered the four bank employees 

to lie face down on t.~e bank floor and he shot all four of them, once 

in the neck and once in the back 0 Those killed were bank president 

Andreas Kjeldgaard, and cashiers, Glen Hendrickson, 59, and Mrs. Louis 

Ann Hothan, 35, w.idow and mother of two. Frank Kjeldgaard, 25, nephew 

of the bank president was critically wounded.30 An official of the 

2~overnor I 6rosby's Appointment Book, 19530 
Governor Crosby's Appointment Book, 1954 

27Time , LXX (March 15, 1954), po 230 

28Ibid. 
29Ibido 
~ 

300maha World-Herald, June 5, 1965. 
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American Bankers Associ.ation of New York said, "It was one of the mczst 

ruthless bank robberies on recordG,,31 

A massive air and ground search was launched across the rolling. 

range and dryland wheat country sourrounding Big Springs and in neighbor­

ing Colorado and Wyoming. The get-away car was soon discovered as a 1965 

light-green Chevrolet rented from a Salina, Kansas rent-a-car establish­

mentG The bank robber had used his own name in renting the car.3
2 

He 

was identified as Duane Earl Pope of Roxbury,. KansasG The 120 residents 

of Roxbury refused to believe that Pope was guiltYG Fellow stUdent s and 

teachers agreed. "He was one of the ni<cest boys who ever attended school 

here.,,33 Dr. Bittinger. president of McPherson College. who handed Duane 

his Bachelor's Degree in Industrial Arts one week earlier. said. "Students 

liked Duane so well he was elected co-captain of the football team. He 

. 34 
was a well disciplined student, clean and neat-appearlllg." Max Warner. 

who graduated' from McPherson College with Pope. said, "He is not the 

type of guy to get mixed up in this type of thing. ,,35 

Duane Pope surrendered to the FBI in Kansas City on June 11. 1965. 

Pope had surrendered after he had read of the plea of his college presi­

dent DrG Bittinger in a Las Vegas paperG
36 

"I'm tired of running," said 

PopeCl
37 

FBI Agent Karl Diss4r said that Pope went from Wichita to Dallas. 

31Linc~~ Star, June 5. 1965. 

320~ W~rld-Herald. June 7. 1965. 

33:lli1d. 

34:lliid. 

3"- . ' ,.,~. 

360maha World-Herald, June 12, 196541 

37Ibid• 
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San Diego, Tijuana, Mexico and then to Las Vegas where he had read 

the newspaper report of his former college president's plea to sur-

render. He was taken before the UoS. Commissioner in Kansas City 

after he had signed a confession for the FBI. On the following day 

he signed a second confession for the FBI. On the next day Kansas 

City counsel was appointed for the defendant, and on June 18, 1965, 

Duane Pope was returned to Nebraskao 

Feeling in Nebraska ran higho The County Attorney in the 

county in which Big Springs is located filed first degree murder 

charges 0 The County Attorney and the County Sheriff, carrying a 

warrant for the Duane Pope's arrest, were in attendance in Lincoln 

at the U.So District Court Trial. On June 25, at 8:30 in the morning 

as Robert Crosby was leaving for a Court appearance in David City, 

Nebraska, Mr 0 Crosby received a telephone call from U oS 0 District 

Judge Robert Van Pelt. Judge Van Pelt explained t hat Duane Pope would 

appear in his Court that morningo Judge Van Pelt asked Crosby for per-

mission to appoint him as Chief Defense Counsel, if the UoSo District 

Attorney announced that he "WOuld seek the death penalty}8 Judge Van 

Pelt said that he would visit with the Dean of the Nebraska University 

Law College apd would assign a member of the law faculty to assist 

Crosby 0 Judge Van Pelt further referred to the national notoriety at-

tached to the criminal case, the importanoe of convincing the public 

that the defendant was afforded adequate legal representation, and the 

desirability of assigning as Chief Counsel a law.yer with a western 

Nebraska background, the crime haveing been committed in western Nebraska·,,39 

38Speech, Robert Crosby, Polemics Club, May 23, 19670 

39Ibid• 
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That morning . while Crosby was in Dav!td City. the defendant 

Pope was brought before Judge Van Pelt in the U.S. District Court 

Room in Lincoln. Nebraskao Judge Van Pelt announced the appointment 

of Crosby as Chief Counsel, and Professor Wallace Rudolph as associate 

counsel. Professor Rudolph, a Professor of law at the University of 

Nebraska College of Law, was a graduate of the University of Chicago 

Law School, and had devoted considerable time and study to the re-

lationship between psychiatr,y and the law and to the field of consti­

tutional law.
40 

On the afternoon of the same day, June 25, Bob Crosby returned 

to Lincoln, hasti~ adjusted his schedule, conferred with Judge Van 

Pelt, Penitentiary Warden Sigler, Professor Rudolph, and went to the 

Penitentiary for his first conference with the defendant. Pope had 

been indicted by a Grand Jury on 6 counts for bank robbery and murder 

under 18 U.SoCoA. 2113. Three of the counts ~~re capital offenses.
41 

Some people chose to resent Mr. Crosby's acceptance of the appointment 

as Chief Defense Counsel. He received a number of abusive letters. 

His wife received anonymous ~elephone calls, both abusive and 

threa~ning. 

Crosby and Rudolph successfully resisted the effort of the 

U.S. District Attorney to have the place of the trial at North Platte, 

close to the scene of the crime at Big Springs. The trial was held 

in Lincoln. At once Mr. Crosby and Professor Rudolph set to worko 

Professor Rudolph undertook most of the legal research while Mro 

Crosby handled trial preparations, pleadings and arguments.42 

40Ibid • 

41Ibid. 

42rbid • 
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The basic defense was ins ani ty. However, no aspect of defense 

was overlooked. There were numerous Court appearances prior to the 

trial: July 30, a defense motion for authorization to employ expert 

witnesses; August 13. argument on motions for discovery of evidence in 

the possession of the Government; September 3. argument on motion to 

eliminate jury challenges based on the ground of a juror's objection 

to the death penalty; September 13, 14. 1:§. hearings with taking of 

testimony on motion to suppress the defendant's confessions; September 

28, appearance in Court on objections to the Government's effort to 

have the defendant examined by a Government psychiatrist; October 8, 

t
. 43 another Court appearence on defense mo~ons. 

At 9 A.M. November 1, 1965, Duane Eo Pope was placed on trial 

on six federal counts growing out of his June 5th robbery and killing 

of three people in the Farmers State Bank at Big Springs, Nebraska.
44 

Jury selection took part of the first week. Ju.dge Robert Van Pelt 

excused jurors who were opposed to the dea th penalty. Van Pelt over-

ruled defense objections to the exclusion of persons having scruples 

against the death penalty. Chief Defense Attorney Robert Crosby main-

tained that such exclusions will not make the jury a II fair and im­

partial juryo,,4
5 

Attorneys on both sides did not examine the eligible 

jurors, but submitted general questions to Judge Van Pelt. Much of 

Van Pelt's questioning of prospective jurors dealt with their connections 

with insanity and psychiatrists, feelings about insanity as a defense to 

43Ibid• 
44 - . . 

Lincoln Star, November 1, 1965 .. 

45Lincoln Star. November 2. 1965. 
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. ·th f· 46 D f tt criminal charges and exper1ence W1 1rearmso e ense a orneys 

Crosby and Rudolph told the jury that Duane Pope admitted the robbery 

and killings and other related facts in order to focus on the contested 

issue--Pope's mental competency at the time of the crime. Crosby told 

the jury the issue is not Whether Pope committed the act but rather was 

he legally responsible.47 

The prosecution in opening the trial called sixteen witnesses 

to establish the facts leading up to the crime, the crime and following 

the crime. Defense attorney Crosby objected several times to the 

Government's line of testimony contending that a judicial admission qy 

Pope of the events made further questioning of certain witnesses 

1I ••• redund~t, excessive and unnecessarily prejudicial to the defendant .,,48 

Crosby also objected to the testimony of Dr. W.O. Brown of Scottsbluff 

Who performed the postmortems on the bank employees 0 Brown testified 

that bank employees had drowned in their own blood after being shot.
49 

Dis~ict Attorney Richling emphasized time and time again that the 

crime was "." .cold and premeditated. u50 From November 11, to November 

15 friends of Duane Pope testified in his defense. People Who had 

known Duane Pope all of his life testified one after another--all 

telling the same account of hot. Duane was the kindest and most law 

abiding person they had ever known. From November 16 to November 19 

Pope took the stand in his own defense. Dr. John Baldwin, Dr. Elinanora 

46 · 
Lincoln Star, November ), 1965. 

47 .. 
Lincoln Star, November 4, 19650 

48 . 
Lincoln Star, November 5, 19650 

49 . . . 
Lincoln Star, November 6, 19650 

50Ibid" 
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Barssard and Dr. Herbert Modlin testified that Pope was not accountable 

for his actions on June 4th.51 On November 24th the defense rested its 

case. The prosecution then called Dro John Macdonald, Dr. Chester 

Farrell and Dr. Charles Rymer. The three Doctors agreed that Pope was 

mentally cCi)mpetent at the time of the bank holdup, but two of the 

D.octors agreed that Pope was'schizoid".5
2 

Both sides then summarizedo U.S 0 ~ttorney Ricbling argued that 

the government had met the burden of proving Pope sane. He claimed, 

Uoooall the evidence is more conclusive that he went to the bank at Big 

Springs to get money at the point of a gun.u53 Richling stated, "In 

America~ we do not seek revenge, but justice is justice. Let it be 

announced to all America that he who lives by the gun takes his 

chances.u54 Richling reiterated his call for the death penalty by 

telling the jury that the crime--in which three persons were shot to 

death and a fourth left para13zed-=--" 0 .Certain13 does not call for less 

than the maximum.,,55 . Defense Counsel Rudolph said the bank robbery was 

a cover-up for a more deep-seated desire in Pope's subconscious. 

Rudolph asked, "Does schizophrenic illness explain why a kind, shy, 

obedient boy who was never in trouble could sudden13 explode into vio­

lence? We believe it does.".56 Counsel Crosby argued, "Pope is a 

classic example of a person who could not control the impulse that was 

51 .... 
Lincoln Star, November 22, 1965. 

5~in~oln Star, December 1, 1965. 

5%~coln star, December 2, 1965. 

54Ibi~o 
55 -
~ . 

.56Ibid• 
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driving himo,,57 Crosby reiterated, "The facts defy any explanation 

other than mental illness.ooit is impossible not to have a reasonable 

doubt 0".58 

The jury was then given the case. They had to reach a verdict 

on each of six federal charges, three of which called for the death 

penalty. First, they had to decide the question of Pope's defense of 

insanity and second, if guilty on the three capital offenses, should 

they recommend death. 

On December 4, 1965, the jury returned to give its verdict. 

After fourteen hours of deliberation the ten men, and the two women 

on the jury held guilty on all six counts and recommended the death 

penalty. After three ballots they agreed that Pope was sane at the 

t " f th " 59 me 0 e crme 0 

Crosby said he waslll ••• tremendous~ shocked by the verdicto,,60 

He emphasized, '~rofessor Rudolph and I will keep right on fighting 
61 

for Duane." He stated, ".ooa serious miscarriage of justice." 

Rudolph echoed Crosby's sentiment: "I just don't believe it.,,62 

Defense Counsels Crosby and Rudolph carried an appeal to the 

United states. Court of Appeals in st. Louiso Their petition for a new 
63 -.-

hearing was denied. The case of the United states v. Duane Pope 

is current~ before the United states Supreme Court. 

57Ibido 

.58Ibid. 

59r.incoln Star, December 4, 1965. 

6Orb1d . 

61Thid. 

62Ibid. 

63iin~~~ E;~ning J our~~l, March 17, 19670 



CHAPTER IV 

DISPOSITIO 

In analyzing disposi tio the introduction. thesis, body and 

conclusion in each speech will b~ examined. Organization also tends 

to reveal the message of the speech as it is the outline of what is 

being presented; therefore, both organization and message will be 

considered together. 

William Norwood Brisance, in Speech Composition, set forth 

the purposes of an introduction: 

••• the speaker must at all costs gain favorable 
attention. Through favorable attention the interest 
of the hearers will be aroused. 

A second purpose Brigance lists is: 

~ basic ~ ~ .:!;:2 ~ -sure ~ your audience 
~ .i sufficient .preliminary knowledge .a! ~ ~ub­
~.:t2 understand ~ you .!U talking about. 

More exactly the purposes of an introduction are to develop 

interest, relate the subject to the audience and to clarif.y what you 

ate going to talk about.3 

York: 

Referring ,to the thesis, or purpose sentence Brigance said: 

1Brigance, William N., Speech Compositi2D. 2nd edition (New 
Appleton-Century-Crofts. Inc., 1953), p. 68. 

2rbido, p. 74. 

30lson. Donald 0., Qrganizing the Speech, (Lincoln: University 
of Nebraska Press, 1961), pp. 2-3. 
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The speaker should phrase his purpose into 
a 'purpose sentence' or proposition, stating in 
language I instantly intelligible I to the hearers 
the exact response demanded of them.4 

51 

On the same subject, a thesis, ~honssen and Baird stated: 

It is assumed that the speech possesses a clearly 5 
defined and easily determined thesis or purpose ••• 

In considering the body or discussion of the topic Weaver 

and Ness said: 

The principal work of the speech is done in 
the discussion; it contains the basic substance upon 
which the speaker relies fD~ accomplishing his purpose • 
•• .AnY central theme can be divided into several differ­
ent sets of sub-ideas, depending on the way in which 
you analyze it.6 

The conclusion according to Brigance should round out or 

dismiss the thought; summarize or motivate the audience.7 

The quoted material in the speech analysis is to be found in 

the appendix, unless other sources are cited. 

DELIBERATIVE SPEECH--"OPERATION-HONESTY" 

Introduction 

Governor Crosby began with what Brigance called "a popular 

kind of intrOduction,1I8 a reference to the theme. Mr. Crosby stated, 

"This is the beginning of the campaign called 'Operation Honesty·." 

He developed audience interest in his subject when he questioned, 

"Wh¥ should 'Operation Honesty' be launched first among public employees?" 

4erigance, .,2E • .ill., p. 85. 

5rhonseen, Lester and A. Craig Baird, Speech Criticism (New York: 
Ronald Press Company, 1948), p. 393. 

6weaver, Andrew T. and Ordean G. Ness, Introduction to Public 
Speaking, (New York: the Odyssey Press, Inc., 1961), p. 48. 

7Brigknce, .2E • .ill., pp. 109-114. 

~rigance, .,2E • .ill., p. 79. 
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His next statements not only answe:reli his question but also related 

his subject,~Operation Honesty~ to his audience, who were s tate House 

Employees, and helped to clarify what he was going to talk about--

taxes 0 He stated, "To begin with, ' you and I are paid from taxes ." 

and "Further, not Dnly are you and I paid from taxes--each of us pays 

taxes too." He pointed out that skeptical friends had wisecracked 

that if he could get all of the state employees to make out honest 

tax returns it would be a big help. This year he stated that employees 

would show the way by the listing of their personal property for tax-

ationo 

Crosby prepared his audience for the rest of the speech when 

he closed his introduction by, "Thus, we will lead the way for Honesty'." 

Thesis 

Bob Crosby's thesis statement conformed to the qualities of a 

good thesis sentence; it is a complete sentence, it contains one over­

all idea, and it is not too long or involved.9 The Governor stated 

clearly and concisely, " ••• 1 want each of you to clearly understand 

the reason for 'Operation Honesty'." 

The issues of the~Operat~on Honesty~speech were based upon an 

unfolding pattern of organization. In unfolding organization the 

speaker develops each issue after he has stated the issue. The audi-

ence is not v~ware of what the issues will be until it is to be dis-

cussed. Unfolding organization is contrasted to partitioning organi­

zation where a skeleton outline of the speech is given right after 

9 
Olson, .2E • .ill., pp.1-2. 



od t " 10 the intr uc ~on. 
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The arrangement or development of the speech was this-or­

nothing. Brigance pointed out how this-or-nothing works: 

This-or-nothing arrangement consists of the first issue presenting a 

problem, the second issue discards various solutions by the process 

of elimination unti l the one which the speaker advocates is the only 

one left, in the third issue the speaker shows that the only solution 

which T·,..;ll 1 th bl "hi 1 t" 12 B . d "It w. so ve e pro em ~s s so u ~on. r~gance agree , 

develops a situation from which, if the hearers accept the facts, ~ 

.!!E ~~l.y ~~e ~~ncl~sion.£!!! emerge ••• ,,13 

The first issue of the Operation Honesty speech was a presen-

tation of the problem of e~ualization of tax assessments. He pointed 

out that the tax problem is far more important than raising revenue, 

it involved the very integrity of the state Constitution. and state 

laws. The problem in Crosby's opinion tou-ehed on the concept of 

honesty, decency and fair play tilth one$ fellow citizenso He then 

quoted the Co.pstitution which provlided, 'taxes shall be levied by 

valuation uniformly and proportionately upon all t angible propertyo' 

He stated, "This .pr.ovision of the Constitution has been knowingly and 

10 Olson, .£E. ill·. p. 30 
l1B " 

r~gance. ,£Eo illo• po 103. 
12 

Olson, ,£E- ill .• po 4. 
1~ .. 

rigance, ,£E. ill .• p. 102. 



deliberately violated by all of us for many years ." In the second 

issue he turned to specific aspects of equali zati on by reference to 

the plight of the home owner. The cause was three fold . the Governor 

stated. First there was a greater spending of tax money by local 

units of government. Second the home ownerts tax misery was the lack 

of equalization . homes of equal value were assessed on drastically 

different levels~ Thirdly. personal property was not carrying its 

fair share of the tax burden. Governor Crosby pointed out that the 

person who failed to report all of his personal property made his 

honest neighbor pay more in taxes. 

In the third issue o~~peration Honesty+Mr. Crosby took differ-

ent solutions to the problems outlined in the first issue. He asked" 

"What is to .be done about this inequity~ this fai lure of law en­

forcemenUn He questioned. "Can we get rid of property taxes by per­

suading the Legislature to adopt a sales tax?" The Governor then said 

that it was ridiculous to even ask the question because a 2% sales tax 

would reduce the property taxes by a very small amount. For proof he 

turned to Iowa and Kansas; each of them has a sales tax and an income 

tax and their per capita property taxes was almost as much as Nebraskas t • 

not even 10% less. He moved to other possible solutions--substitution 

of some other tax for property tax. and local administrati on in place 

of state collection of taxes. Mr. Crosby questions,. " ••• could we then 

forget the problems of equalization?" He answered. "Again the answer 

is 'NO·.1f He stated. "In any event., we cannot escape the constitutional 

requirement of seeing that substantial justice is done t o our citizens 

by insuring a uniform and proportionate sharing of the tax burden." 
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The fourth issue completed the this-or-lr.othing arrangement. 

Governor Crosb,y pointed out that~Operation Honesty~was the only answer 

to the problem as his solution. He stated, 

The only practical way to solve this problem 
is to face up to it squarely. We must behave as good 
citizens should and obey the property tax laws. This 
is 'Operation Honesty'. 

Conclusion 

Brigance pointed out that a good conclusion could round out or 

dismiss the thought; summarize; and motivate the audience.
14 

Mr. 

Crosby does not summarize~ but he does round out the thought. He dis-

missed the thought: 

We are now beginning 'Operation Honesty' so 
that all of us will voluntarily comply with the personal 
property laws •• ol have no doubt of the success of 'Oper­
ation Honesty· ••• 

The Governor also made a final plea for acceptance: 

As Governor, I am charged by the Constitution 
to 'take care that the laws be faithfullyexecuted'. 
You, as members of the executive branch of state 
government under ~ direction, share that constitutional 
obligation with me. 

Together, as public servants, we shall lead a 
demonstration by Nebraskans that a free people can suc­
ceed in self-government. This is 'Operation Honesty'. 

FORENSIC SPEECH-U.S. v 0 POPE 

Introduction 

According to Brigance gaining favorable attention and supplying 

preliminary knowledge of what you are going to talk about are purposes 

of an introdu~tion.15 

Crosby attempted to gain the favorable attention of the jury 

l4B " " rl.gance, ,2E. m., 
1'L " "t "'Brl.gance, ,2E. ~., 

pp. 109-114. 

pp. 86, 74. 



by praising them, "o.oyou have been a jury that has been extraordinari~ 

attentive, I think :probab~ extraordinarily patient." He also approached 

, d f· -te t .. 16 th them on What Brigance called a ' ... common groun 0 J.n res... , e 

desire for justiceo He stated: 

I will say this to you, that r!m sure that all of the 
counsel here, if we sat down in a quiet, contemplative 
atmosphere, we would agree that what we want you to do 
is to bring iQ a verdict that represents justi ce in its 
most enlightened sense in this part of the twentieth 
century in this wonderful country. We all want justice 0 

i 
Mr. Crosby tried to give his listeners some preliminary knowledge of 

what he would discuss with them: 

Thesis 

And let me visit with you just a minute about what 
your duty as jury members will be in this case. First 
let me mention something that we law,yers call the burden 
of proof. • •• The government or the District Attorney's 
office has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable 
doubt that our client Duane is guilty. • •• tha t to be 
convinced beyond a reasonable doubt means that you must 
be convinced to something like a moral certainty re­
garding the proposition of Duane's guilt. 

His approach to his thesis was a bit wordy, but clarity seemed 

to be achieved in spite of the excess of words. Before he offered the 

thesis he stated, ''Now ",~at is the issue?". Then Mr. Crosby stated 

his thesis, tI ••• whether he was legally responsible for what he did, 

was he competent to the degree that he would be guilty in a criminal 

sense of what he did?" After he made the thesis statement , he empha­

sized, "And that has been the whole issue in this case from the be-

ginning to the end." 

The organizational structure of the jury summation was par­

titioning. He gave a skeleton outline of the speech after the thesis 

16.sr~ance t ,2E. ill., p. 70. 
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statement. He partitioned: 

In other words. ho"tv would we have felt about this case 
if we had never heard a psychiatrist or a psychologist 
on that witness stand over there . And'~hen I think 
another slightly different approach is ' -to consider the 
facts and whether the facts really make it possible to 
believe that Duane was acting from anything else except 
a terribly sick mind that robbed him of control of him­
selfo 

The issues were arranged topically. Each issue covered a 

different phase of whether Duane Pope was legally responsible for 

what he did . 

In the first issue Counsel Crosby asked his listeners to 

consider Pope's guilt and to " ••• try to measure it based on the ex-

perience of each of youoooour experiences as human beings in con-

nection with other human beings . In other words how would 'tole have 

felt about this case if we had never heard a psychiatrist or a psycho-

logist..... Mr. Crosby attempted to have his audience stand back and 

decide for themselves whether his client was guilty. He developed 

this issue by discussing with varying amounts of detail the thirty-

seven character witnesses who had discussed Duane Popeo Crosby pointed 

out that they all agreed, "He had qualities to make people like him: 

gentleness and kindness and thoughtfulness , quietness , and never wanting 
. 

to hurt anybody else 's feelings ••• " Governor Crosby stated, "Remember, 

the District Attorney hasn ' t found a single tiny kind of evidence to 

discredit Duane Pope l1p to June 4." Counsel Crosby then summarized in 

one paragraph the entire discussion in this issue: 

I simply say to you that it is impossible as you know 
people and as I know people , it is impossible to even 
consider that anybody, including Duane, could be that 
kind of boy up to June 4, gentle , thoughtful , trust­
lrorthy. dependable , honest , almost too scrupulous 



about obeying the law, paying his debts , all of those 
standards that we have for human behavior , it ' s im­
possible for a boy to be like that up to a certain 
moment and then become comPbtely the opposite and to 
do a horrid , terrible thing like he did. 

He continued in an equally strong manner to point out the sickness of 

his client: 

It1s impossible. It1s impossible for me at least--
I shouldnlt speak for you--it1s impossible for me to 
believe that a boy could thus reverse the entire 
pattern of his life and do the horrendous thing he 
did and be anything but terribly, terribly ill in his 
mind. He must have been acting under some terrible 

. compulsion that he couldn't control, because ev~~­
thing he was doing was against all of the instincts 
and inward patterns that he had for his whole life. 
And you can't te11 me those" 37 people were fooled or 
that 11m fooled. And I think Dr. Bittinger was right. 
'Duane, give yourself up. Something happened to you. 1 

And something sure happened to him. 

Crosby asked the jur,y to consider whether they would feel that a person 

was mentally ill or not based upon facts about his past life. 

In the second issue Crosby shifted slightly. He stated. ''Now 

I want to approach it in another way." The second :issue is very clear, 

"I said, 'The facts defy any explanation except severe mental illness. I 

Once again he appealed to " ••• our own understanding of human affairs ••• " 

as a criteria to judge. He supported his idea that only mental illness 

could have caused his clients actions, by reference to the lack of 

motive. He cited a witness who testified for the prosecution, "He said 

he could discover no motive." Crosby discussed indebtedness as a possi­

ble reason for the robbery and killings. He stated. "... I don I t know 

of a single thing that indicates that Duane worried about the indebted-

ness ••• " Mr. Crosby pointed out that Duane Pope had much greater debts 

in the past as compared with June 4th. He then turned to girls and 
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discounted the testimony of a prosecution witness who felt that Pope 

committed the robber,y to obtain money SO that he and a girl could get 

married 0 Counsel Crosby emphasized the fact that Pope had not asked 

the girl in question to marr,y him and that he still dated other girls . 

He then turned to the fact that Pope was not extravagant. Pope was a 

simple farm boy , "Duane had lived simply all his lifeo" 
I 

I don ' t find that he was a faddist about clothes. He 
didn't smoke , he didn ' t drink, he-well, he just wasn't 
extravagant . Nobody in the "mole list of 37 witnesses 
ever mentioned anything that would indicate that Duane 
was greeqy for money. 

Crosby discussed DuanES working habits stating: 

He liked to work, and he could make money, and I don't 
find that greed for money was a motive , or a desire 
for extravagant living. And so here you have a total 
absence of motive. 

Mr . Crosby then turned to what he called , " •• • this crazy series of 

events ••• " He pointed to the dreams Pope had , ". eo to shoot his brother 

••• " , " • •• to throw Eric in the pond •• • " He stated " • • • Duane began to 

do queer things . o. "Crosby told of Pope buying a gun , and shells 0 ~ 

Pope constructed a breastplate as a bulletproof vest. Crosby emphasized 

that Pope was making preparations but not planningo He had not gone to 

Big Springs to look at the bank, the banks hours and bank employees . 

He stated , " ••• he starts out to Big Springs , with no map ••• " Mr . Crosby 

concluded this issue with the point that he is tr,ying to get across , "I 

say to you that this is a classic case of a person who couldn ' t control- ­

during this period of time couldn ' t control the impulse that was driving 

him, a crazy, bizarre, otherworldly kind of impulse that he couldn ' t 

resisto" 

Mr . Crosby stated, "I'm going to mention the doctors a minute ••• " 
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Crosby tried to prove that his client was a sick man, "Dr. Macdonald, 

about whom Professor Rudolph talked quite a little and whom the District 

Attorney put on the stand said this was a definite schizoid personality ••• " 

and "And Dr. Baldwin, a tremendously well educated psychiatrist ••• said 

that this was definitely acute schizophrenic reaction." Crosby pointed 

to yet another Doctor, It. 0 oDr. Modlin, of course, from the world famous 

Menninger's Clinic, and he himself has a very wide reputation , 30 or 40 

publications, ,head of their law and psychia~ division there, says it 

is definitely acute schizophrenia. It He emphasized that according to the 

medical men Pope needed treatment, "And Dr. Macdonald further said. ' I 

regard this crime as a sick act', the government psychiatrist." He 

concluded this issue, tI.o.some of the government psychiatrists and both 

of ours agree that Duane is sicko II 

Conclusion 

A good conclusion should try to summari~ and motivat e the audi-

ence by a final plea for acceptance 0 Mr. Crosby tried to summarize and 

to motivate in his conclusJon. In a fairly lengthy conclusi on Crosby 

summarized that based on one~ o~m experiences an individual could con-

clude that Pope was a sick man. Likewise. medical men had felt that Duane 

Pope was a sick mano He devoted some ~ime to a final plea for acceptance: 

••• it is impossible, just impossible not t o have some 
reasonable doubt about whether he could control his 
impulses , manage himself, on June 4 . It seems impossible 
not to have some reasonable doubt about that in the face 
of all this evidence, in the face of what you and I know 
about human nature, in the face of what some of the psy­
chiatrists say. 

On at least four occasions he charged the jurors with thei r consideration 

of "reasonable doubttl • 



I pray that you listen to the instructions, that you 
will consider careful~ as jurors in such an important 
case WhetPer you are convinced beyond a reasonable 
doubt, that on June 4 Duane could control his impulses 
that led him to do this thing, or whether at that 
period of time he was out of control and doing the 
exact opposite of everything that his life stood for. 
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As a whole, Governor Crosby's organization did not stand in 

the way of communicating the ideas he had in mindo A t times he was 

redund~nt. He admitted in the conclusion, "And in closing I just 

have once again, and, ~, I have been repetitious, don't hate me for 

saying it once again, but I want to close with what I am going to say.1I 

In spite of the fact that he did not establish a clear cut order, his 

ideas stood out by his repetition of the major ideas that he was 

trying to get across. 



CHAPTER V 

INVENTIO 

Inventio consists of three modes of persuasion; namely, ethical, 

emotional and 10gicalo Thonssen and Baird stated: 

manner: 

York: 

Rhetoricians since Aristotle have generally accepted 
his concept that the modes of persuasion, depending 
upon the effect th~y produce in hearers , "are of three 
kinds, consisting either in the moral character of 
the speaker or in the production of a certain dispo­
sition in the audience or in the speech itself by 
means of real or apparent demonstrations '. These, in 
the order '~mentioned by Aristot1<e" are usually called 1 
the ethical, the pathetic or emotional, and the logical. 

Aristotle explained the three kinds of proof in t he following 

The character ethos of the speaker is a cause of 
persuasion when the speech is so uttered as to make him 
worthy of belief; for as a rule we trust men of probity 
more , and the more quickly, about tnngs in general. while 
on points outside the realm of exact knowledge , l>lhere 
opinion is divided, we trust them abso1utelyo Tliis trust, 
however, should be created by the speech itself, and not 
left to depend upon an antecedent impression that the 
speaker is this or that kind of mano It is not true , as 
some writers on the art maintain, that the probity of the 
speaker contributes nothing to his persuasiveness ; on the 
contrary, we might al most affirm that his character ethos 
is the most potent of all the means of persuasion . 

Secondly, persuasion is effected through the audi ­
ence , when they are brought by the speech into a state of 
emotion; 0 •• 

. Tbdrdly, per suasion is effected by the arguments , 

lThonssen, Lester and Ao Craig Baird, Speech Criticl£m, (New 
Ronald Press Company, 1948), p. ))10 
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proof: 

When we demonstrat e t he truth, r Aal or ap~arent , by 
such means as i nhere in particu la~ cases o 
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Aristotle went into greater detail When he said of ethical 

As for the speakers themselves, the sources 
of our trust in them are three , for appart from the 
arguments there are three things that gain our belief, 
namely, intelligence, character and good will . } 

Weaver and Ness viewed emotional proof as: 

Residing in the minds of all members of any audience 
are such innate drives and learned motives as love, 
hunger, patriotism, desire for security, enjoyment 
of prestige, etcoo.When properly aroused , they will 
determine the reactions of the audienceo 4hese 
feelings are the basi s of emotional proofo 

Brigapce explained emotional appeal as: 

oo.~~ find human wants radiating into four quadrants: 

(1) protective wants; (2) acquisitive wants; 0) social 
wants; and (4) sensory wants ,,5 

Weaver and Ness commented on logical proof as: 

Finally, the facts and opinions that the speaker 
employs, hi~ methods of reasoning , the manner in which 
he organizes and arranges his .ideag, these content factors 
are the elements of logical proof. 

The speeches were analyzed first f or ethical proof, then for 

emotional proof and finally for logical proof. The word proof in this 

2Cooper t Lane (trans.), The Rhetoric of Aristotle t (N ew York: 
Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., 1932), ppo 8-9. 

3 .. 
~., ppo 91-92. 

4. 
Weaver, Andrew T. and Ordean G. Ness, An Introduction to 

Public Speaking (NeloT York: Odyssey Press, Inco, 1961), p. 191. 

~rigance, William N., Speech Composition (New York: Appleton­
Century-Crofts, Inc., 1953), p. 182. 

C\teaver and Ness , ~ •. illot p. 1910 



instance is not synonymous with evidence . The classical definition is 

that they are forms of persuasion. The quoted material in the speech 

analysis is to be found in the appendix, unless otherwise indicated. 

DELIBERATIVE SPEECH--"OPERATION HONESTY" 

Ethical Proof 

As stated earlier Aristotle suggested: l1000that the three 

constituents of ethical proof are character , sagacity , and good will.eo,,7 

The following analysis is by no means an exhaustive listing of t he ways 

that character, sagacity or intelligence and good will are es tablished , 

but these are the means that Robert Crosby used to establi sh character , 

intelligence and good will. 

One of the ways that character was established, according to 

Thonssen and Baird, is through: " ••• the attitude of the audi ence t oward 

the speaker--based upon previous knowledge of the latter's act ivities 

and reputationeo.,,8 At the time Cl'osby gave this speech he 1-.JaS the 

Governor of Nebraska. His position in government carried wit h it ethical 

proof in that his prestige was established before he began to speak. His 

ethical proof was further established before he began speaking because 

this was the third elective office he had held in this state. Crosby 

had been elected to the Unicameral and had served as speaker of that body. 

He also served as TIeutenant Governor in the term immediately before 

becoming Governor. 

Another way to build character is to associate one~ message wit h 

that which is virtuous or elevated. 9 This can be carri ed out by sup-

7Thonssen and Baird, ~. ciy., po 3860 
8 

and Baird, ~. ill., 385. Thonssen p. 

9Thonssen and Baird, ~. ill., p. 387. 



porting good, attacking injustice and by advocating fair play. He 

advoca ted, "u .doing a 100% complete j 'ob of listing our ,ersonal 

property for taxation." He attacked injustice by reference to, ·" ••• the 

amazing examples of inadequate personal propert,y returns that can be 

recited," and " ..... the low estate to which we had fallen in this en-

forcement .. " He'lU"ged fair play by personal property carrying its 

rightful shar~ of the tax burden . In short the whole speech was a 

plea for honesty, "Operation Honesty." 

Ethical proof can also be established by a speaker showing 

that he is a well- informed or that he has sagacity. This may be 

accomplished by being familiar with issues of the day and dealing 

with them. i O Crosby did this by ~plaining the tax issue in detail. 

He made specific reference to the Nebraska Constitution, 'taxes shall 

be levied by valuation uniform~ and proportionately upon all tangible 

property.' He told of the Supreme Court decision telling the State 

Board of Equalization to enforce this provision of the Constitution . 

Mr. Crosby related the lIJOrk that the State Board was doing to enforce 

the tax law.. He dealt with the problems of home owners as a result of 

greater spending of tax money, lack of equalization and failure of other 

sources of taxes being reported honestly.. He showed that he was well 

informed by his complete discussion of the tax problem, its causes and 

remedies 0 

Crosby also established good will in his speech. A speaker may 

do this by establishing a common bond with the audience and by identif,ying 

.with them.
ii 

, He identified with his audience by the use of personal 

10Ibid• 

11 Ibid. 
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pronouns; he used "we" fifteen times , "you" seven times, "our" two 

times and "us" once. He establi shed a common bond with his audience 

by reference t o himself and his audience as "public employees" at the 

outset of his remarks and as "public serval ts" in his concl usion . 

Gover~or Crosby by his numerous references to honesty and by 

the tittle itself "Operation Honesty" showed that he was a man of 

character and had a true concern for the state of Nebraska . Likewise, 

by a discussion of the tax situation , past and present~ Crosby demon-

strated that he was a well-informed person. The third element of 

ethical proo!', good will, was not as strong as the other two aspects 

of ethical proof. The Governor rna de no attempt to flatter his audi-

ence, acknowledge ~~ings he had received from them or to display a good 

nature 0 If good will is evidenced it is in Crosby's desire to see 

fairness prevail. 

Emotional Proof 

Emotional appeal can be carried out by appeal to what William 

Norwood Bragance called social wants .12 Brigance stated: "Our social 

wants are myriad, but here we shall mention but four of the more promi­

nent ones : (1,) Reputationou (2) L'eadership ooe (J) Honor and Duty· 

(4) 
... . . . 13 

Fairness . 

He appealed to reputation as he stated that equalizing t axes 

" • oeinvolves the integr ity of our state Constitution." and " ••• I have 

no doubt of the success of 'Operation Honesty '. because Nebraskans are 

fundamentally' .honest.. We all want to do the right thing." 

12.... . ' · ·t t8C:: 
13r~gance, ~. £.!..., p. .J. 

1'L '. 
"".l:Srigance , .2P • cit., pp 0 185-87. 
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He used leadership as an appeal when he stated, "Before all 

others you and I should assume the leadership and set the proper 

example .. 0" He refuted the wisecrack that if state employees would 

report honest schedules it would help the tax problem: 

oo.the public can be assured that this year we state 
employees will show the way by doing a 10<>'% complete 
job of listing our personal property for taxation. 
Thus, we will lead the way for 'Operation Honesty' 0 

In conclusion the Governor referred to his duty to enforce the laws: 

You, ~s members of the executive branch of state 
government under my direction, share that constitutional 
obligation with me. • •• Together, as public servants • . 
we shall lead a demonstration by Nebraskans that a free 
people can succeed in self-government. This is 'Oper ­
ation Honesty'. 

In addition to leadership, honor and duty wer e used by 

Governor Crosby in appealing to social wantso He stated that a 

reduction in taxes were possible if complete personal property re-

turns were made and furt..l1er, "It is our duty as public servants to 

see that Nebraskans realize fulfillment of this hope." After dis-

carding other solutions to raising revenue, Governor Crosby appealed 

to honor and duty, "The only practical way to solve this problem is 

to face up to it squarely.. We must behave as good citizens should 

and obey the property tax laws. This is 'Operation Honesty'." The 

very subject of the speech, "Operation Honesty", carried with it an 

emotional appeal, an appeal to honor, duty, and fairness . 

Fairness was one of the stDongest appeals Mr. Crosby used. 

In the introduction Crosby pointed to the goal of equalization of 

taxes, "o •• so that no nne carries more or less than his fair share 

of the tax burden." He pointed out that equalization is far more 



68 

important than raising revenue, "honesty and decent regard fol' the 

rights of our fellowman are bound up in this problelll. tI He dealt di­

rectly with fairness when he stated, "The greatest present injustice 

is that borne b.Y home owners in many towns and cities." After he 

dealt with this injustice to home owners he concluded With the reason 

for this unfairness, "In short, personal preperty is not carrying its 

right.ful share of the tax burden." 

Anoth~r emotional appeal that Brigance ]Sted was acquisitive 
14 . 

wants or wealth. The Governor used this appeal only once in a 

direct manner when he stated, "If we could get a full return of person-

al property at',a reasonable value during this c.oming assessment period, 
, •• ~ • 4 • • • • • • • _ • • • 

the tax burden of real estate 'WOuld be lessened by about 25%& •• II Much 

of Mr. Crosby.·s appeals that were just discussed under fairness were 

indirect appeals to acquisitive wants or wealth since fairness would 

in some cases result in a reduction of ones tax. 

The emotional appeals of the Governor were appeals to social 

wants or acquisitive wants. Appeals to self preservation, welfare and 

sensory wants were largely unused. The appeals were very direct and 

concrete without appeals directed toward the more general aspects of 

protective wants. 

Logical Proof 

Aristot~e stated that persuasion is affected by arguments.15 

Crosby used both .induction and deduction in presenting his arguments. 

14 
Brigance, .£E. ill., p. 184 

15Cooper, Lane (trans.), The Rhetoric of Aristotle, (New York: 
Appleton-Century-Crofts, Inc., 1932), pp. 9-10. 
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Induction occurs when an argument is developed from particulars to 

a general conclusion by using casual relations. specific instances, 

authority, and analogy.16 DedUction occurs when an argument is de­

veloped qy reasoning from a general truth to a particualr conclusion.17 

An enthymeme was defined as, "An argument. in which one of the propo-
18 

sitions. usually a premise, is understood but not stated." 

The basic overall pattern of the speech was inductive. In 

the first issue Governor Crosqy presented the problem. "This program 

is a necessary step in solving what is currently one of the most 

difficult tasks in state administration: The equalization of tax 

assessments." 

In the second issue the Governor took up the causes of the 

problem. He forecasted the first two causes as follows: 

The plight of the town home owner stems from 
three causes ••• 

That cause is simply the greater spending of 
tax money by local units of government ••• 

The second cause of the home owner's tax 
misery in many towns is the lack of equalization 
among individual owners of real estate. Frequently 
homes of equal value are assessed on drastically different 
levels. 

The third cause the Governor developed by induction. He dealt with the 

inequity between the assessment of real estate and personal property 

and drew the inference, "In short, personal property is not carrying 

its rightful share of the tax burden." 

Mass.: 

16Thonssen and Baird. ,2E. ill., p. J48~ 

17Ibid., p. 346. 

l~ebster's New Collegiate DictionarY. 2nd ed~ (Springfield. 
G.&C. Marriam Co •• 19.59), p. 27.5. 
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In the third issue Mr. Crosby discarded various solutions 

until onl¥ the one he was advocating was lefto He asked, ''What is 

to be done about this inequity, this failure of law enforcement?" He 

dealt with the first possible solution, "Can we get rid of property 

taxes by persuading the Legislature to adopt a sales tax?" He said 

that it is ridiculous to even ask the question because a 2% sales 

tax VJOuld reduce property taxes in towns and cities only ;a. small 

amount. Governor Crosby raised another possible solution, a combi­

nation sales-income tax. He likewise dismissed it, "I am simply 

stressing the obvious point that such supplemental taxes do not even 

touch the problem of equalizing property taxes." 

The induction was completed when he showed that only his 

solution VJOuld solve the problem. He drew this inference from the 

previous lJI.aterial presented, "The only practical way to solve this 

problem is to face up to it squarelyo We must behave as good. citizens 

should and obey the property tax laws. This is 'Operation Honesty'." 

The individual issues were developed deductivelyo Deduction 

occurs when an argument is developed by reasoning from a general truth 

to a particubtr conclusion or by listing reasons for or against a 

general truth. Crosby stated what he considered a general truth, 

".OG'Operation Honesty' (should) be launched first among public e~ 

ployees.oo" He then moved to the specific arguments supporting this 

general idea.: He stated, ". ooyou and I are paid from taxes." and 

"Further, not only are you and I paid from taxes--each of us pays 

taxes too." These two enthymemes could be put in the form of syllo­

gisms. They would read: All people who are paid from taxes should 
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launch this progr am. You an I are paid from t axes. Therefor e , 

"Operation Honesty" should be launched first among us as public 

employees. Likewise the second can be put in the syllogist ic form: 

AU people who pay taxes should help launch thi s program. You and 

I are tax payers. Therefore,,"Operation Honesty" should be launched 

among us. 

As he developed the speech he stated, "This program is a 

necessary step in solving what is currently one of t he most difficult 

tasks in state administration: The equalizat ion of tax assessments." 

This deductive development is carried out by a series of ent hymemeso 

He stated: 

This problem of equalizing tax assessment s has 
an importance far beyond the raising of revenue for 
government . It involves the integrity of our state 
Constitution. 

The s.yllogism would read: Anything that would involve the int egrity 

of our state Constitution is important. This involves t he integrity 

of our state Constitution. ~herefore, it i s impor tant. 

Another argument was, "It involves the enfor cement of our 

state lawso" The syllogi sm would read: Anything that would involve 

the enforcement of our state laws is important. This involves the 

enforcement of our state laws. Therefore this is important. Other 

enthymemes were, "It involves not only my oath of office but that of 

all public officials." and "Honesty and decent regard for the rights 

of our fello'W!lW.ll are bound up in thi s problem." 

FORENSIC SPEECH--U.S. v. DUANE POPE 

Ethical Proof 

Character as an aspect of ethical proof can be built through, 
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associating oneself or ones message with what is virtuous , prudently 

bestowing praise upon ones client and cause , minimizing unfavorable 

impressions of ones cause made by ones opponent, and creating an im-

. f' , t ' d tak' 19 press~on 0 s~cer~ y ~ ones un er ~g. 

Mr. Crosby associated his message with a virtuous cause when 

he talked about , " ••• the natUre of a trial as we conduct it in this 

country ••• theradversary system ••• He pointed out that the District 

Attorney repr~sented one side and he along with Professor Rudolph the 

other side ... , He asked the jury:' 

••• t o bring in a verdict that represents justice in 
its most enlightened sense in this part of the twentieth 
century in this wonderful country. We all want justice. 

Counsel Crosby prudently bestowed praise upon his client as 

he referred to the thirty-seven character witnesses ; he summarized 

their testimony, "He had qualities to make people like him: gentle-

ness and kind.Oess, and thoughtfulness , quietness , and never wanting 

t o hurt anyboP.y else's feelings ••• " He also referred to his client ' s 

life: 

Here we lve got a farm boy from a little town going 
to a church college where you have to go to chapel 
twice a week, and Duane did. Duane had lived simply 
all his life. • •• l don't find that he was a faddist 
about clothes. He didn't smoke , he didn't drink, he-­
well, he just "msn l t extravaganto 

Governor Crosby attempted to minimize unfavorable impressions 

advanced by the opposition. Counsel for the prosecution indicated 

that Pope was pretending to be insane. Crosby countered: 

Well, I will not impress on you what you know already, 
that there isn ' t a single time from tas Vegas on when 
,you can see any single slight indication that Duane 

19rhonssen and Baird, ,2£. ill., p. 387. 
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was trying to be insane or trying to act quepr or 
trying to do anything funny or that would seem funny . 

He pointed out that his client was a "compulsive truth tell er." 

Crosby also dealt with the prosecuti ons accusation that his client 

planned to kill all the people so they could not identify him. He 

showed that alter the FBI had obtained the first confession there 

was no statement of motive . Crosby showed the j ury how the typed 

confession had been altered and a page added . He stated: 

And so they had to go back and put in this page in 
order to have Duane say something about a plan, and 
the best they could do is to say to Duane, 'You had 
to have some r eason f or killing these people. Didn ' t 
you do it to keep them from identifying you?' And 
poor Duane, that sick, schizoid situation, he says 
he di~'t tell them that, butfuey told him that was 
the way he did, and so they put it in . And he didn It 
much Want to sign the confession, but they told him 
he ought to , it wouldn lt make any difference if he 
didn ' t sign it, they could still testify, and so he 
signed. it. 

Likewisep Crosby dealt with Dr . Smith's remark that, " ••• he wanted t o 

get a bunch of money so he could have a lovely love nest for Melinda ••• " 

by pointing out , " ••• 1 cant f ind anything anywhere to indicate that he 

was feeling a pressure to get money for Melinda . He hadn ' t ss ked her 

to marry him; he still noticed other girls and so on." Also, Mr. 

Crosby referred to Mr. Coufal's remark. ".o.make the punishment fit 

the crime ••• " by stating, "oo.rather let the punishment be determined 

with r espect t o the person we are talking about ." 

Crosby enhanced his character by indicating his sincerity in 

his undertaking . He stated: 

••• 1 can l t help but have been tormented day after day 
and hour after hour by what kind of reaction has been 
in your minds and in the. minds of each of you. 
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His sincerity is best demonstrated when he stated the importance of 

the final argument: 

o •• the final argument is a pretty important moment , 
and perhaps you will understand when I say that thi s 
case has become so much a part of my life that I sat 
a little short of breath by the desk there almost 
dreading the moment that I was to get up and to make 
this "1 final argument because the case has assumed such 
a great amount of importance to me and because I :un. 
almost terrified about the matter of whether I can 
find ~e right words to make you understand my con­
victions about this case o 

Sagacity is another element of ethical proofo A demonstration 

of knowledge of the subject was large~ self- evident since Crosby dis-

cussed the trial from the beginning to the end in hi s summation o An 

example of sa~acity was how Crosby explained a legal concept to laymen: 

And !at me visit with you just a minute about what 
your duty as jury members will be in this case . 
First let me mention something that we la~ers call 
the burden of proof • • oo.The government or the District 
Attorney ' s office has the burden of proving beyond a 
reasonable doubt that our cl ient Duane is guilt yo 
.o.that to be convinced to something like a moral cer­
t ainty regarding the proposition of Duane fs guilt. 

Sagacity was demonstrated by acting with tact and moderation 020 Much 

of the summation is characterized by remarks showing tact and moder-

ation o Some examples of this aspect of sagacity were , 

also . 

and , 

Now then , in approaching this issue it has seemed t o 
me , and I wouldn ' t mind if anybody quarreled with me 
about ~ analysis of how you approach this issue. 

If my argument is not entirely in l ogi cal sequence 
please forgive me . 

00.1 hope Duane isn ' t offended. I '~,started to say that 

20 
Thonssen and Baird, .2£ • .ill., p. 387. 
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quick4r that I'm curious too, and maybe e.ach of us is 
curious ••• 
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Good will, the third aspect of ethical proof, can be achieved 

by capturing the proper balance between too much and too little praise 

of onJs audience, identifYing with the hearers, and proceeding with 

candor and straightfor~~ess.21 Mr. Crosby praised his audience only 

once at the beginning of his speech: 

Thank you, Your Honor. May it please the Court, 
ladies and gentlemen of the jury, I agree with ~ friend 
Fred Coufal who talked this morning to you for the District 
Attorney's office that you have been a jury that has been 
extraordinari~ attentive, I think probab~ extraordinari~ 
patient. 

Counsel Crosby identified with the jury throughout the sammation, for 

example: 

and, 

o •• I tried to imagine many times dUring this case--I 
have put ~self in one of your chairs and tried to 
think how I would be thinking •• 0 

.001 have sat in that chair there at the table and I 
have tried to think what could keep jurors--I am 
imagining ~self a juror--what might keep you from say­
ing instant~ what seems SO clear to me, that it is 
L~ossible, just impossible not to have some re~sonable 
doubt about whether he could control his impulses ••• 

Crosby is candid with his audience in his address. At one point he 

emphasized this point: 

Now, in this case we had ~o make some decisions which 
I dreaded in advance, and I nray God they were the right 
decisions. First, the decislOl about whether to try to 
withhold anything from this jury, and some of you, at least, 
must have been impressed with the fact that we had iecided 
that we 'WOuld disclose everything there was to disclose. 

21 
Thonssen and Baird, ,2E • .ill., p. )87. 
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Emotional Proof 

Mr. Crosby used other means of persuasion to a much greater 

degree than he used emotional persuasion. The emotional appeals that 

he did use were appeals to fairness or justice and human compassion. 

Mr. Crosby discussed justice with the jury: 

I will say this to you, that I'm sure that all of 
the counsel here, if we sat down in a quiet, contempla­
tive atmosphere, we would agree that what we want you 
to do is to bring in a verdict that represents justice 
in its most enlightened sense in this part of the 
twentieth century in this wonderful country. We all 
want justice. 

Counsel Crosby also appealed to justice at least five times when he 

told the jury that they must have some "reasonable doubt" as to the 

guilt of his client. He concluded: 

I urge you. :my friends, to consider carefully whether 
what I have said isn't completely obvious, that with 
this evidence that we have had it' s ,just not possible 

.'-' '" t.Qr any one ·-.of you to not have' some' reasonable doubt 
about whether Duane could control his impulses on June 4. 

After discussion the killing of three bank employees and the maiming 

of a forth Crosby pleaded for fairness: 

••• 1 implore that you don't act from a feeling that 
you have to do something bad to Duane regardless just 
to even up or for revenge or because it's expected of 
you. I know you won't. 

Counsel Crosby's appeal to human compassion or sentiment was 

more subtle than the above appeals. Crosby related: 

••• Duane doesn't know about his subject ive inward 
motives and reasons. I will admit Duane doesn't 
know what makes him tick. I will adniit that he asked 
the FBI, 'Wl'l¥, why?' He asked the psychiatrists, 'Why?' 
and he doesn't know what makes him tick, what made him 
do these awful things. ' 

He told the jury 'of his clients condition: 



I simply say to you that it is impossible as you know 
people and as I know people, it is impossible to even 
consider that anybody, including Duane, could be that 
kind of boy up to June 4, gentle, thoughtful, trust­
worthy, dependable, honest, almost too scrupulous 
about obeying the law, paying his debt s, all of those 
standards that we have for human behavior, it"s im­
possible for a boy to be··like that up to a certain 
moment and then become completely the opposite and to 
do a horrid, terrible thing like he did ••• He must 
have been acting under some terrible compulsion that 
he couldn't control •• o 
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On other occasions Mr. Crosby referred to Duane Pope as, " ••• poor kid .. 0" 

and " ••• poor Duane, that sick, schizoid situation ••• " 

Logical Proof 

Mr. Crosby used inductive reasoning to prove his arguments. 

He used specifics or particulars to lead to general conclusions. He 

used a general exposition of the facts from which he drew an inference. 

In the first issue he asked the ju~ to view the case in the 

light of their own experience and understanding as if they had never 

heard a psychiatrist. He reminded the ju~ of the testimony of the 

thirty-seven witnesses, high school teachers, high school classmates, 

busin.essmen, former employers, college professors and college class-

mates. He cited specifically, Mro McWilliams, Mr. and Mrs. Dennis 

Brunner, Mr. and Mrso Wendell Burch, Wauneta Taylor Hanson, Ronnie 

Wieberg and others, who supported his clients character. He pointed 

out that the District Attorney could not find any evidence to the 

contra~. He drew a general conclusion, that as a result of these 

specific cases his client must have been mentally ill or sick, 

He must have been acting under some terrible compUlsion 
that he couldn't control, because everything he was 
doing was against all of the instincts and inward pat­
terns that he had for his whole life. 

In the second issue, Crosby stated, " ••• 1 think another slightly 
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different approach is to cnnsider the facts .... " He reviewed the 

specific facts; he pointed out that there was no motive, no extreme 

indebtedness, no girls and no extravagant tastes to satisfy. Mr. 

Crosby then dealt with the individual facts that lead up to the crime, 

the dreams of people lying on the floor being shot, his hostilities 

toward his brother, the silencer, the breastplate and driving to a 

town he had been to only twice in his life. From these facts Counsel 

Crosby completed the induction: 

and 

..... l suggest to you .... on the basis of the things that 
happened this boy was desperately ill in his mind ••• 

I say to you that this is a classic case of a person 
who couldn't control--during this period of time 
couldn't control the impulse that was driving him, 
a crazy, bizarre, otherwordly kind of impulse that he 
couldn't resist. 

Likewise he continued with another inductive argument. Crosby 

pointed to the individual psychiatrists, one by one and drew the 

general conclusion, " ••• l listened to these psychiatrists and I get 

the feeling that they all agree Duane is sick." 



CP.APTER VI 

ELOCUTIO 

Hance, Ralph and Wiksell, in defining S,tyle, refered to Webster's 

DictionarY which, " ••• defined style as 'mode of expressing thought in 

language, ••• "l They feel that this definition is. " ••• the broadest and 

most usefulo .. ,,2 This chapter shall deal with those elements of language 

which occur with sufficient frequency that the-59 . elements of language 

could be regarded as the way Robert Crosby expressed himself in language 
I 

in these two speeches. 

The material enclosed in quotation marks in the speech ana~sis 

can be found ~ the appendix. 

DELIBERATIVE SPEECH--"OPERATIOO HONESTY" 

Typical elements of language which Crosby used frequent~ were 

short, simple sentences, questions and personal pronouns. 

Short and simple sentences seemed to be an element of Mr. Crosby's 

style in "Operation Honesty". The average sentence length was 14.8 

words per sen,tenceo The figure 14.8 was achieved by taking three samples, 

the first full sentence of each page, the second full sentence on each 

page. and the third full sentence of each page. An average of the three 

samples revealed 1408 words per sentence. 

l Hance , Kenneth. David Ralph, and Milton Wiksell. Principles of 
Speaking, (Belmont: Wadsworth Publishing Company, Inc •• 1965), po 181. 

2Ibid• 
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The sentence length did vary but they seemed to be short, 

simple statements of 'his ideas. He stated: 

Why should 'Operation Honesty" be launched 
first among public employees? There are several 
reasons. 

To begin with, you and I are paid from taxes • 
••• Further, not on~ are you and I paid from taxes-­
each of us pays taxes too. 

One syllable words seemed to be an element of Crosbyts style 

in "Operation Honesty". A 100 word sample obtained by taking the 

first full sentence on each page until 100 word,s were considered re-

vealed that 67 of the 100 words were one syllable words. 

The interrogative sentence or the question was another aspect 

of Bob Crosbyts style. The question was used on numerous occasions 

throughout his entire ttOperation Honesty" address to forecast what he 

was going to talk about. For example, Crosby questioning is revealed 

as he asked: 

Why should 'Operation Honesty' be launched 
first among public employees? •• 

What is to be done about this inequity, this 
failure of law enforcement? Is there some easy way 
around the problem SO that we can be excused from 
solving it? ••• But what of the future? Can we get 
rid of property taxes by persuading the Legislature 
to adopt a sales tax? •• 

Could you and It as state employees, sidestep 
this problem by persuading the Legislature to substi­
tute some other tax for the money that state government 
gets from property taxes? 

The use of personal pronouns as an element of establishing 

connnon bond was also an element of Crosby style in "Operation Honesty" 0 

In the introduction "you" was used five times, "we" once, "us" twice, 

"I" seven times, limy" twice and II ourtt once. This direct method of 

discourse was used throughout the speech. In the rest of the address 
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tile ",-as used ninteen times, "we" fifteen times, "you" seven t imes, 

tlmy" two times, "our" two times and "us" was used once. 

FORENSIC SPEECH--U.S. v. DUANE POPE 

Elements of language which reoccured frequently in Mr. Crosby's 

closing argument in U.S. v. Duane Pope were long, loose sentences, 

repetition of words and clauses, and use of personal pronouns. 

Long and loose sentences seemed to be an element of Mr. Crosby's 

style in U.S. v. Duane Pope. A sample of ten sentences revealed an 

average sentence length of 46 words per sentence. The sentence length 

did vary; there were long as well as short sentenceso However, the 

sentences seemed to be long and loose for the most part. A loose 

sentence was thought of as one: 

••• so constructed, both in grammar and in the presen­
tation of idea, tr~t it could be terminated possibly 
at several points, before th~ . end is reached without 
violating grammatical sense. 

Loose sentences occurred frequently throughout the speech. For example, 

Counsel Crosby stated: 

I am sure you all know that the defendant in a criminal 
case need not testif,y if he doesn't want to, and frequent­
ly the defendant doesn't testif,y. And we made the decision 
to put Duane on the witness stand and let you hear your­
self :what manner of young man Duane is. Ani I had no notion 
when I put him on the stand it was going to take three 
days--I guess it took almost three days, which astonished 
me as much as anybody else. I wanted you not only to have 
everything we had about him and everything we knew about 
him, I wanted you to share "Ii th me the experience of know­
ing him, of listening to him, of experiencing to me the 
indescribable or indefinable quality of Duane. 

The loose senten~es seemed to be constructed so that they could expand 

Crosby's ideas. This type of sentence structure did not seem to inter-

3Thonssen and Baird, .2P. ill., p. 418 
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fere wit h Mr. Crosby's message 

Another aspect of Bob Crosby's style was his use of simple or 

common words. J. Mark Wilcox. pointed up the importance of simple 

language in his article on "SUllll'llation to the Jury". Wilcox stat ed, 

"In approaching the summation, the trial lawyer should keep in mind 

that the jury is composed of laymen ' who are not versed in legal verbi­

age.,,4 Six of the jurors made the observation of simple language when 

I asked them for general observations about Bob Crosby's speaking. 

When I asked the other two what kind of language Mr. Crosby used they 

responded that he used common language. One jury member remarked, 

"Crosby was easy to understand because he didn't use legal terms"; 

another juror stated, "He used words that people could understand." 

One syllable words were used a great deal by Bob Crosby in 

his sUllD:l1ation. Three different word samples of 100 words were taken 

by taking the first full sentence on each page until 100 words were 

considered, the second full sentence on each page until 100 words were 

considered, ~ 100 words at randum. The average revealed that Crosby 

used one syllable words 75 times per 100 words in the samples taken. 

His understandability may be partial~ attributed to his repe-

tition of major ideas. As the news media recorded, "Defense Counsel 

Robert Crosby time and again told the jury, 'The facts defy any expla­

nation other tpanrnental illness' .,,5 Repetition of words and clauses 

was also characte~istic of Robert Crosby's language in this forensic 

speech. Examples of groupings of twos were: 

4Wilcox, J. Mark, "SUllll'llation to the Jury," Insurance Counsel, 
Journal, XXIV (1957), p. 218 

5Lincoln Star, December 2, 1965. 
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people. it is impossible to even consider •• 
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I mean. it just doesn' t add , IIp. it just doesn I t add up • 

••• if the face of what you and I know about human nature. 
in the face of what some of the psychiatrists say • 

••• impossible, just impossible not to have some reasonable 
doubt ••• . , 

o •• whether you are convinced to a moral certainty, whether 
you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt ••• 

Examples of Crosby's use of groupings of three were: 

It's impossible. It's impossible for me. at least--
I shouldn't speak for you--it's impossible for me to 
believe that a boy could thus reverse the entire pattern 
of his life ••• 

But I look at Duane. I look at his behavior, I look at 
his life • 

••• unless you are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt, 
unless you are convinced to a moral certainty ••• 
unles~ that is true ••• you should find him not guilty. 

By using the device of grouping one can add rhythm to his speech and 

emphasis to his remarks. However, if one views Counsel Crosby's re-

marks in context it appeared that his use of this device was not so 

much for the beautiful sound ' of the words but to emphasize the im-

portance of what he was saying. 

A very obvious aspect of Crosbyts forensic style is his use 

of personal pronouns to establish a common bond. A glance down every 

page of the U.S. v. Duane Pope text summation revealed extensive use 

of personal pronouns. Personal pronouns were used extensive~ through­

out his speechi• In a seven page sample Mr 0 Crosby used "I". 50 times; 

"you", 33 times; "we". 27 times; "me", 11 times; "my It 10 times; and 

"he" 9 times. Other pronouns used to a lesser degree were, Itour". 
I 

"them", "h~s", "us", "him", "your It and "I'm"o 



CHAPTER VII 

ACTIO 

DELIBERATIVE SPEECH--"OPERATION HONESTY" 

The observations of Robert Crosby's speaking were the results 

a reporters account and ~ personal observations from listening to 

tapes of three speeches delivered on "Operation Honesty." 

Only one newspaper account told of how the Governor de­

livered his speeches; all of the other newspapers accounts dealt only 

with the material in his speeches. 

Arch Donovan recorded, "With the fervor, sincerit y and zeal 

of an evangelist, the Governor pointed out instances of law violation 

and how the citizens co-operating in being honest can meet immediate 
1 

needs." I concurred with the observations of the news reporter. I 

listened to tJvee tapes on the subject of "Operation Honesty"; one 

tape was the Governor's message to the state employees on the formal 

announcement of "Operation Honesty" and t'WO were speeches to unidenti-

fied groupso I also found that Mr. Crosby used a sincere, forceful 

delivery. His speed or rate of delivery in the tapes I heard was from 

130 to 160 words per minute. His volume was adequate but yet intenseo 

The quality and variety of his delivery was pleasant. His 'WOrds were 

easy to understand and well articulated. I felt that the most important 

1 . . 
Lincoln Star, November 21, 19.53. 
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aspect of his delivery in the "Operation Honesty" speeches was the 

intensity and forcefulness of his approach to the subject. 

FORENSIC SPEECH--U.S. v. DUANE POPE 

The observations of Robert Crosby's speaking in the Pope 

trial were the results of my interviews with most of the jurors and, 

my om personal observations at the Pope trial during November and 

December of 19P.5. 

The jUrors that I interviewed had various observations, but 

they generally agreed on two points abuut Counsel Crosby's delivery. 

They agreed that he was sincere, and had a conversational but strong 

delivery. 

Joe Van Derveer in an article on "Advocacy" stated: " ••• the 

prime essential for arousing emotions in others is to be moved our-

selves. There is one quality that the advocate must have ••• and that 
2 

is sincerity." Seven of the eight jurors that I interviewed stated 

that Mr. Crosby was sincere and believed in his cause. 

Arthur Vanderbilt in Forensic Persuasion stated; 

••• the ideal voice for public address is the conver­
sational voice... It is never thin or unsustained, 
but always direct and personal. It requires no little 
art to talk conversationally using simple language yet 
with such intensity of purpose and such obvious elevation 
of thought as to carry with it the convection thatJthe 
speaker believes Wholehearted~ what he is saying. 

Mr. Crosby seemed to have Vanderbilt's conversational delivery; six: 

of the eight people I interviewed noted that Crosby spoke in a conver­

sational .manne~ • . When I asked if his conversational delivery lacked 

2van Derveer, Joe, "Advocacy", Tennessee Law Review, XXVII (1960)0 
p • .526 

J .. .. . .. . 
Vanderbilt, Arthur, Forensic Persuasion, (Lexington, Virginia: 

Washington and Lee University Press, 1960), p. 34. 
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forcefulness, the jurors stated that it did not. One juror commented 

that Crosby's delivery was relaxed and homey; he noted that Crosby 

spoke slow~ and quite unhurried. A number of those whom I inter-

viewed stated that Crosby was an effective speaker. 

It was interesting to note the jurors reaction to all of the 

lawyers in the Pope trial. They seemed to agree that Rudolph spoke in 

forceful and intense manner; they agreed that at times his legal terms 

and use of legal words made understanding difficult. The jurors con­

curred that D.A. Richling was most like a TV lawyer. One juror termed 

him a Perry Mason on the prosecution; another referred to him as "bom-

bastic." The news media seemed to agree; they described Richling' s 

speaking as, " ••• his powerful voice trembling with emotion ••• ,,4 Crosby 

was described by the jurors as speaking slowly and quite conversation-

ally. 

I observed the jury sUllUl'lation by Crosby in December of 1965. 

His 'speed or rate of delivery was slow and he paused at times to 

emphasize his points. His volume was adequate, but a trifle soft at 

times. The q~ality and variety of his delivery was pleasant. His 

words were well articulated. He achieved emphasis by a more forceful 

delivery of certain words and by his repetition of major ideas or 

points. The news media recorded, "Defense Attorney Robert Crosby time 

and again told the jury, 'The facts def,y any explanation other than 

mental illness' .,,5 It was very easy to achieve emphasis by a very 

4 . 
Lincoln star. December 2, 1965. 

5Linco-ln star. December 2, 1965. 
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slight increase in volume intersity over the soft delivery pattern he 

used throughout. His gestures seemed appropriate and did not detract 

from his message. 



CHAPTER VIII 

EFFECTIVENESS OF THE SPEECHES 

DELIBERATIVE SPEECH--"OPERATION HONESTY" 

Effectiveness of speaking can be measured by the immediate 

response and changes in attitude.1 The response to the earlY attempts 

of "Operation Honesty" can be seen in the words of Archer Burham 

witing in Nebraska Education News. Burham attended the first confer-

ence on "Operation Honesty" and 'Wl"ote. "I left the conference a little 

awed by the very simplicity of the idea. I was stirred by the Governor's 

sincerity and idealism. "Operation Honesty" is of the essence of De-
2 

mocracy." 

The immediate response and changes in attitude after the formal 

launching of "Operation Honesty" were recorded by Arch Donovan. Donovan 

wote: 

A crowd that overflowed the legislative chamber 
and into the rotunda Friday heard Governor Robert Crosby 
launch his "Operation Honesty." Constitutional officers 
as well as the departments directlY under the Governor 
attended. 

Manv state employees not housed in the Capitol 
attended voluntarilY. 

Prior to the Governor's talk considerable scoffing 
by statA workers could be ~p.ard. but after hearing his 
statements on the reasons for getting equalization of 
taxes. and how the person making a full return would benefit 

1Thonssen and Baird • .2:2. ill .. pp. 3'.5. 3.57 

~ebraska Education News. November 27. 19.53, 
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by having those now evading paying their full share, 
sentiment changed rapidly. 

Some employees who had threatened before the 
meeting not to wear badges were later heard t o remark 
that they were wearing them with 'pride'. 

89 

Pledges to made 'a full report of all ~ person­
al property for tax purposes' were handed the employees 
upon entering and it appeared that most of the pledges 
'Were signed. 

Following the meeting a number of employees 
obtained additional badges and p1edges

3
which they said 

had been requested by their neighbors. 

According to this report, the immediate response and change in attitude 

were employees changing their mind about wearing badges, most of the 

audience signing pledges, people attending when they were not required 

to do so and peopl e obtaining badges and pledges for their friends and 

neighbors. Another aspect of effectiveness was reflected by the 

number of people signing "Operation Honesty" pledges throughout the 

state. Within a week 2,420 citizens had signed "Operation Honesty" 

4 
pledges. Within two weeks, 4,462 citizens had signed "Operat ion 

Honesty' pledges.5 One interesting example of Crosby's effectiveness 

is reported by Dodge County Treasurer R.B. Schurm&no Treasurer Schurman 

reported receiving an anonymous note with $393.00 included which was 

mailed to the County Treasurers office. The note stated, 'IMay God 

6 forgive me for cheating," and was signed 'fA taxpayer." Crosby's 

effectiveness is also noted by ~ magaz1neo ..Ii!!! reported on Crosby's 

state wide campaign, "Almost everywhere that Crosby went, he was greeted 
+ 

3r.incoln star, January 16, 1954. 
4 

Lincoln star, January 21, 1954. 

5Lincoln star, January 27. 1954. 

6Lincoln star, March 19. 1954. 
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with hostility that slowiy turned into warmth. Everybody admitted 

that he meant well." 7 "Operation Honesty" also had its distractors, 

Lancaster County Attorney Frederick Wagener, Commissioner Chris Kuhner 

and state Senator Terry Carpenter. 

8 Effectiveness can also be measured by long-range etfects. 

Crosby promised that property tax could be reduced if honest personal 

property taxes were collected. In spite of an additional 22 million 

dollars in the budget due to highway construction, property taxes 

were reduced during the next biennium. "Operation Honesty" was no 

doubt a tactor in the reduction of property taxes. '!be average tax­

payer paid $3.47 less in property taxes to the state Government in 

the biennium tollowing "Operation Honesty." Taking the natural in-

crease in property values into consideration the over-all cut in 

state property taxes was $1,641,493.24. 9 

FOREN SIC SPEECH--U. S. v. mANE POPE 

The ettectiveness ot Crosby's speaking in U.S. V. Pope can be 

seen through the eyes of the judge and jur,y. 

The jury did not return a verdict in favor of Mr. Crosby's 

client, however this does not imply that Crosby was inetfecti ve as a 

defense counsel. I was able to interview eight of the twelve jurors. 

One half of those I interviewed told me at their own ini tlati ve that 

they felt Robert Crosby did an eftective job; others commented that 

he did a good job. 

7l1!!!!, LXX (11arch 1.5, 19.54), p. 23. 

8 
1bonssen and Baird, 2.£. ill., p. 4.58. 

9state of Nebraska, Executive Budfet. Biennium 19.5.5-.57, 
Honorable Robert B. Crosby, Governor, p. • 
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Mr. Crosby spent over .539 hours in preparation of the case 

and 142 hours in Court. 'lhese times can be translated into almost 

90 days of preparation, at 6 hours per day~ almost 30 days in Court 

at an average of .5 hours per day. '!bese times do not include the 

time spent in preparation and in Court in the appeal to the Eighth 

Circui t Court of Appeals. In a memorandum opinion in connection with 

the allowance ot fees and expenses Judge Robert Van Pelt stated l 

'!he defense in thi s case was well prepared and well 
presented. The allowances herein are not adequate 
even thoUgh they represent the maximum allowable for 
the services. It stands in this case as a tribute to 
the two lawyers here appointed that they willingly ac­
cepted and faithfully bore this heavy assignment 
knowing that they could not be adequately compensated. 
']he Court again commends Nessrs. Crosby and Rudolph for 
demonstrating the finest tradition of the bar. 10 

10 
Judge Robert Van Pelt, U.S. v. p0a,e, CR 443L, U.S. District 

Court for the District of Nebraska, memoran um opinion. 



CHAPTER IX 

SJMMARY AND CONCLUSION 

In th1 s anal malysi s 0 f Ro bert Cro sby as a speaker. the 

questions asked in the purpose section of Chapter I will serve as 

an outline for the conclusions. 

In regard to the first question. "What training and experi­

ence has Robert B. Crosby had in speech and speech mald.ng?". the 

following are my conclusions. 

'lbe Speaker's Background 

'!he first major inrluences on Robert Crosby's life were the 

influences of his parents' church, civic and political activities. 

Young Crosby had the opportunity to observe the collllllUD.i ty M>rk of 

his IOOther and to observe the cotllDlWlity service ot his father. He 

saw his father deliver speeches in court as the elder Crosby practiced 

law and speeches in the community in connection with -the political 

and service offices that M.!. Crosby held. 

I round no record that indicated that Robert Crosby had ever 

taken a speech course in high school or college. What he mq have 

lacked in formal speech training. Crosby made 'flp tor it by his actual 

speaking experiences. His college years were rich in speech e~erience. 

VIlile at Hastings College. he received training from debate Coach Baccus. 

His 11-1 record in deCision debating is some indication ot his speaking 

92 
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ability. He spoke extensively as a member of the Gospel Team and 

also served as Gospel Team Captain. 

His academic honors included receiving his A.B. degree cum -
laude and graduating trom Harvard in the top ten per cent of his 

class with a LL.B. degree. 

His experiences in political speaking began in the 1936 presi­

dential race. Public speaking was also a factor in the civic po si tions 

he held in North Platte before and during holding political office. 

Lacking money for political advertising, :Ebb Crosby used speeches 

to reach the people with his message. Extensive speaking engagements 

were a part of his campaigns for state Senator, Lieutenant Governor, 

Governor, and U. S. Senator. 

Speeches were used to carry "Operation Honesty" to the people. 

In addition to political speeches, Crosby delivered untold speeches on 

many different aspects of civic and political concern while in oftice 

and since his return to private life. 

Robert Crosby's legal speaking likewise had a long and ext.ensi ve 

history. In my consideration his legal speaking began as a young lawyer 

in 1936 and extended to 1965 in the trial of !)lane Pope. 

Analysis of Speeches 

Selected political and legal speeches were considered in detail 

in this study. In answering the questions, 

What were the characteristics of Crosby's 
deliberative or political speaking as exemplified 
by his 'Operation Honesty' speech? 

\that were the characteristics of Crosby's 
forensiC or legal speaking as exemplified by his sum­
mation in the United states v. l)lane Pope? 

What similarities and differences ,were revealed 



by an analysis of Crosby's deliberative and forensic 
speaking as exemplified by "Operation Honesty" and 
U.S. v. Duane Popel 

the speeches were analyzed according to the Canons of Rhetoric: 

94 

disposi tio, inventio, elocutio, and actio. 'lhese three questions 

will be considered together rather than individually. 

Dispositio 

In (bvernor t Crosby' s introduction to "Operation Honesty," he 

opened with a reference to the theme. In the introduction he attempted 

to develop interest in his subject, clarity what he was going to talk 

about and prepare his audience for the rest of the speech. 

His thesis statement contained one overall idea, was a complete 

sentence and was not too long or involved. 

The issues of the body were presented in an unfolding pattern 

. of organization in which the audience was not aware of the issue until 

Hr. Crosby began to discuss it. lbe arrangement was this-or-nothing 

in nature where a problem was presented, different solutions were 

presented and discarded until only the solution that the speaker was 

advocating remained. 

In the conclusion Crosby did not summarize, but he did round 

out and dismiss his ideas and he made a final plea for acceptance. 

In the introduction to u. s. v. Pope. Counsel Crosby attempted 

to gain favorable attention by praising the jury, establish ' common 

ground by an appeal to justice, and give preliminary information of 

his topic by explanation of "burden of proof" and "reasonable doubt. It 
. . 

1he approach to the thesis was wordy, but clarity was achieved 

in part by the words surrounding the thesis. Mr. Crosby asked, "Now 
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what is the issue?", he then stated the thesis. After he made the 

thesis statement he emphasized that this statement was the issue 

" ••• from beginning to end." 

The organizational structure of the body in U.S. v. Pope was 

partitioning. He gave a skeleton outline of the topics in the speech 

after the thesis statement. The divisions were arranged topically 

since each issue covered a different phase of the speech. 

In concluding, Qounsel Crosby summarized why he felt that Duane 

Pope was a sick man. He devoted part of the summary to several pleas 

for acceptance of the idea that some doubt must exist as to the mental 

state of his client. 

The introductions of "Operation Honesty" and u.s. v. Pope were 

qui te similar. futh introductions developed interest and gave infor­

mation about the speech. The difference occurred in the development. 

Crosby spent more time giving general information about the speech in 

the Pope trial summation. He praised his audience in the Pope trial, 

whereas he did not praise his listeners in "Operation Honesty." He 

spent less time on the introduction in "Operation Honesty" and seemed 

to go right to the heart 0 f the matter sooner than he did in U. s. v. 

Pope. 

The thesis statement in U.S. v. Pope was surrounded by more 

'WOrds, tnt both theses were clear. 

The organizational structures and arrangements were different 

in the t'WO speeches, however this does not seem quite as important as 

the approach to the subject matter. In the Pope trial Mr . Crosby used 

many more 'WOrds in approaching his ideas and in . expressing his ideas. 
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His wordy approach did not seem to interfere with the clarity of 

organization and communication; this may in part be due to the use 

of partitioning organization and to repetition of major idea,. 

'!he concluding remarks in both speeches were similar since 

both made a final plea for acceptance, however in the Pope trial the 

plea was repeated several times. In "Qperation Honesty" Mr. Crosb,y 

did not summarize and in the Pope trial he did. '!be failure to sum­

marize in "Operation Honesty" may be due to the shortness of the speech 

and the publiCity of his ideas on taxation before the speech. 

Inventio 

In "Operation Honesty" Governor Crosby enhanced his ethical 

proof by referring to his position as Governor. by promoting a just 

cause, and shoving that he was well informed and a man of good will. 

Hr. Cro sby I s emotional appeals were made to repu ta tion. leader­

ship. duty, fairness. and wealth. '!he appeals of the Governor were 

appeals to social and acquisitive wants. Appeals to self preservation. 

welfare and sensory wants were largely unused. 

lDgical appeals consisted of induction and deduction. lbe 

overall pattern of the speech was inductive. '!he issues were developed 

deductively. 

In U.S. v. Duane Pope. Crosby attempted to show that he was a 

man of character by aSSOCiating his message with a virtuous cause, 

justice. b,y prudently bestowing praise upon his client and cause. by 

minimizing unfavorable impressions made by his opponent. and by sin­

cerity in his undertaking. Counsel Crosby attempted to show that he 

was a man of intelligence by being tactf'ul and moderate. Crosby also 
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demonstrated sagacity by his explanation of legal terms to laymen. 

He attempted to show that he was a man of good will by tactful praise 

of his audience, identifYing with the jurors and being candid. 

'nle emotional appeals that Mr. Crosby used were appeals to 

fairness or justice and human compassion. 

His logical appeals were inductive; he used a general exposition 

of the facts from which he drew an inference. 

Robert Crosb,y did more to establish character in the Pope 

trial than he did in "Operation Honesty". Most of his "Operation 

Honesty" appeal was to fairness. He showed that he had a true concern 

for the state and he demonstrated familiarity with the issues of the 

day. 'nle appeals were at a much lower key in U.S. v. Pope, but they 

were more numerous and more developed. 

Mr. Cro sby' s emotional appeals were JlOre varied in "Operation 

Honesty, It l::ut the appeals were not as numerous. In U. S. v. Pope 

Crosb,y appealed to justice and human compassion many times. 

'nle logical appeals were more formal in "Operation Honesty, II 

whereas in the Pope trial they resembled story telling, i.e. exposition. 

8locutio 

Style can be viewed as the way one expresses himself in 

language. Elements of style which occu.rred frequently in "Operation 

Honesty" were short sentences, one syllable words, forecasting of 

ideas by the use of questions, and the use of personal pronouns to 

establish common bond. 

Stylistic elements in U.S. v. Duane Pope were long, loose 

sentences, one s,yllable words, the repetition of words and phrases 
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in groupings of t'WO and three were used to emphasize ideas. '!be 

most striking contrast between this deliberative and this forensic 

speech was discovered in the sentence construction. The sentences 

in "Operation Honesty" were short and simple. while the sentences 

in the Pope summation were long and loose. An element of clearness 

that the jurors stressed in the Pope trial was the use of common or 

non-teclmical language. 1he long sentence structure did not seem to 

interfere with the Crosby message. according to the jurors. 

Actio 

'!he delivery of "Operation Honesty" was filled ld.'\h sincer1ty 

and zeal. '!he volume was adequate but yet intense. Governor Crosby 

was conversat1onal, but this speech was characterized by intensity 

and forcefulness. 

In the U.S. v. Pope, Y-r. Crosby was described as having a 

conversational yet sincere delivery. He spoke slowly and softly. 

Emphasis was achieved by a slight increase in volume. He was described 

as being homey in his approach. 

Robert Crosby was conversational in both speeches. '!he major 

difference in the speeches was Mr. Crosby's intensity. and forcefulness 

in "Operation Honesty." and his milder approach in the Pope trial. 

General Conclusions 

Considering the political speech. "Operation Honesty." and the 

legal speech. U.S. v. Duane Pope. as a whole Hr. Crosby seemed to be 

much more open or demanding with his requests for acceptance of his 

ideas in the political speech, whereas in the legal speech ~ir. Crosby 

seemed to have the reserved contemplative approach of asking the jurors 
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to concur with his requests tor acceptance. 

His appeal in the political speech was more overt as if he 

had a right to ask for concurrance, while in the legal speech his 

appeals were more quiet and subtle as if in the light ot reason, 

concurrance with his views should result. 
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'!his is the beginning of the campaign called "Operation 

Honesty. If 

Each of you has received a form of pledge reading as 

follows: "I pledge my full support and cooperation to OPERATION 

HONESTY and promise to make a full report of all ~ personal property 

for tax purposes." 

Each of you has received a lapel badge bearing the words 

"Operation Honesty." 

'lbday in the various state institutions and offices 

throughout Nebraska hundreds ot other state employees are receiving 

these same pledge fOrms and badges. 

At this very time in most ot the court houses throughout 

the state the county employees are holding meetings and are re­

ceiving these same pledge forms and badges. 

~ should 'Operation Honesty" be launched first among 

pubUc employees? '!here are several reasons. 

'lb begin with, you and I are paid trom taxe s. Before all 

others you and I should aSSllme the leadership and set the proper 

example for our tellow citizens in bringing about the equaUzation 

of taxes, so that no one carries more or less than his fair share 

of the tax burden. 

FUrther t not only are you and I paid trom taxes -- each 

of us pays taxes too. I know some of you have wondered whether 

citizens remember that public employees are also taxpayers. Well, 

I can tell you that some of my skeptical triends have lately been 

remembering just that. '!hey wisecrack about as tollows: "Governor t 
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if you can get all of the state employees to make out honest 

personal property schedules it will certainly be a big help~" My 

answer is that I am convinced that no group of Nebraskans does a 

better job of returning personal property than do state employees -­

and, granting that many of us have fallen short in past years, the 

public can be assured that this year we state employees will show 

the way by doing a 100% complete job of listing our personal 

property for taxation. 'lhus, we will lead the way for "Operation 

Honesty." 

Before you sign these pledges and begin to wear the 

badges I want each of you to clearly understand the reason for 

"Operation Honesty." 

'!his program is a necessary step inaolv1ng what is 

currently one of the most difficult tasks in state administration: 

'Jlle equalization of tax assessments. 

'!his problem of equalizing tax assessments has an im­

portance far beyond the raising of revenue for government. It 

involves the integrity of our state Constitution. It involves the 

enforcement of our state laws. It involves not only my oath of 

office but that of all public officials. Honesty and decent regard 

for the rights of our fellowman are bound up in this problem. 

Nebraska's Constitution provides, "taxes shall be levied 

by valuation uniformly and proportionately upon all tangible 

property ... 

'lllis provision of the Constitution had been knowingly 

an~ deliberately violated by all of us for many years. 
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At the beginning of last year the SUpreme Court commanded 

the state Ibard of &lualization to enforce this provision of the 

Constitution. 

Last year the state Ibard earnestly enforced the 

constitutional requirement of uniformity in taxation. particularly 

in regard to real property. 

While we are now much closer to the standards set by 

the Constitution than we were at the beginning of last year, yet 

the present situation is only a beginning. In fact. we are only 

about one-third done with the task of equalization. 

The greatest present injustice is that borne by home 

owners in many towns and cities. 'lbe agricultural ool1llll\lnity, 

farmers and ranchers alike. will gradually realize that its over­

all property taxes are generally less than last year. although 

its situation needs much repair. 

'lhe plight of the town home owner stems from three causes. 

In many towns and cities the greatest cause is a purely 

local one. beyond the legal reach of myself or any other state 

official. 

That cause is simply the greater spending of tax money 

by local units of government. Assessments do not determine the 

amount of taxes -- taxes are determined by the amount of money 

spent by men in public office. Remember, state Government is 

spending 10% !!2 of property taxes this year than last year. 

1be second cause of the home owner· s tax misery in many 

toms is the lack of equalization among individual owners of real 
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estate. Frequently homes of equal value are assessed on drastically 

different levels. 

'!his inequality between individual owners is beyond the 

jurisdiction of State Government because we are restricted by law 

to equalizing among counties and classes of property on the basis 

of average assessments. We cannot equalize among individual 

property owners; that 1s the job of local officials. 

Now to the third cause of the town home owners' tax 

misery -- the one that gives rise to "Operation Honesty. II You 

must understand what has happened to the relationship between real 

estate and tangible personal property to appreciate this third 

cause. 

In 1952 real estate. espeCially town property. was 

assessed far below the legal level. Personal property was also as­

sessed below the level required by law; especially. personal 

property used in wsiness. household goods and personal belongings 

were all assessed absurdly low. 

On the average all real estate i. now at the assessment level 

requiired by law. But much personal property is still scandalously 

low in assessed value. In short. personal property is not carrying 

its rightful share of the tax wrden. 

If we could get a full return of personal property at a 

reasonable value during this coming assessment period. ~ ~ 

burden 2£ .!:!!! estate ~ !!. lessened !?z ~ ~II t This is 

the real hope of the real estate owner. especially the town home 

owner: a possible tax reduction of one-fourth on his homel It is 



112 

our duty as public servants to see that Nebraskans realize ful­

fillment of this hope. 

As Governor of our state I am humiliated at the amazing 

examples of inadequate personal property returns that can be recited. 

In news accounts you have noticed many examples that I have 

mentioned during the past two months. There is no need to repeat 

them now. During coming weeks I shall publicly mention many more 

examples. I want the public to tully understand the low estate 

to which we had fallen in this neglected area of law enforcement. 

I want everyone to see the extreme injustice suffered by honest 

taxpayers .... there ~ many of them in Nebraska .... because we 

were ingnoring the others who were evading personal property taxes. 

Vhat is to be done about this inequity. this failure 

of law enforcelllent? Is there some easy way around the problem so 

that we can be excused from solving it? 

For the present. we must assume that existing Nebraska 

tax laws express the will of the people of Nebraska because the 

Legislature was in session in this very Chamber until June, 1953. 

and did not see fit to make any appreciable change in those laws. 

lnt, what of the future? 

Can we get rid or property taxes by persuading the 

Legislature to adopt a sales tax? MJst people realize that it is 

ridiculous even to ask the question. A 2;t sales tax would reduce 

property taxes in towns and cities only a small amount _ .. not more 

than 10 or 15 percent. And the reduction would apply to personal 

property as much as real estate. Homes would continue to carry an 
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undue amount of the property tax burden. And, if nothing else 

were done, the slight reduction from a sales tax would benefit the 

property tax evader just as much as the honest taxpayer. 

If you want proof from the experience of other states, 

then look at Iowa or Kansas. Each of them has both sales and income 

taxes. Yet the per capita property taxes in both those states are 

almost as much as ours -- not even 10~ less. 

Please understand, I am not arguing for or against 

broadening the tax base by other revenue such as sales or income 

taxes. I am simply stressing the obvious point that such supple­

mental taxes do not even touch the problem of equalizing property 

taxes. FUrthermore, remember that the Legislature refused to 

enact a sales tax in 195.3. 

Could you and I, as state employees, sidestep this 

problem by persuading the Legislature to substitute some other tax 

for the lllOney that state government gets from property taxes? If 

state government were taken out of the property tax field and 

that source of revenue left solely to school districts, towns 

and counties -- could we then forget the problems of equalization? 

Again the answer is "No". other states have tried this, and today 

they are as vexed by the problem of equalizing property taxes as 

we are. Hundreds of school districts lie in t-wo or more counties, 

and there must always by equalization among those counties. In 

any event, we cannot escape the constitutional requirement of 

seeing that SUbstantial justice is done to our citizens by insuring 

a uniform and proportionate sharing of the tax burden. 

'!be only practical way to solve this problem is to face 
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up to it squarely. We must behave as good citizens should and obey 

the property tax laws. '!his is "Operation Honestylf. 

We are now beginning "Operation Honesty" so that all of 
. . 

us will voluntarily comply with the personal property tax laws. I 

confess that for many of us it means the abandonment of a custom 

of neglect and evasion. However, I have no doubt of the success 

of "Operation Honesty", because Nebraskans are :fUndamentally 

honest. We all want to do the right thing. In part we can find 

some excuse for past violations because many elected officials 

have been too timid to enforce the personal property tax laws. I 

have committed myself to enforce the law against those taxpayers 

who refuse to cooperate with "Operation Honesty", and those 

officials who refuse to enforce the law. I think such taxpayers 

and officials will nat. be many. 

A s Governor, I am charged by the Consti tu tion to "take 

care that the laws be faithfully executed. If You, as members of 

the executive branch of state government under my direction, share 

that constitutional obligation with me. For that reason I do not 

hesitate to request that you po as I am going to do. 

Now, in your presence, as the chief executive of Nebraska, 

I sign the same pledge that each of you has. I fasten on the 

badge exhibiting the 'WOrds "Operation Honesty." I shall wear that 

badge during 'WOrking hours from now until April 20th. I request 

and strongly urge that each of you do the same. 

'lbgether, as public servants, we shall lead a demonstration 

by Nebraskans that a free people can succeed in self-government. 

This is "Operation Honesty. If 
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MR. CROSBY: 'lhank you, Your Honor. May it please the Court. 

ladies and gentlemen of the jury. I agree with my friend Fred Coufal 

who talked this morning to you for the District Attorney's office 

that you have been a jury that has been extraordinarily attenti va. I 

think probably extraordinari~ patient. I have sat at the desk there, 

and because of my position on this side of the desk I have had to sit 

with my back to you most of the time, but like Mr. Coufal I know your 

names. and like him I suppose I can't help wt have been tormented 

day after day and hour after hour by what kind of reaction has been 

in your minds and in the minds of each of you. 

'!his case. of course, as we go ~rough the trial of it, becomes 

qui te apparently a very important case, and we now come to the time 

of the .f1nal argument. I know that I have heard some people discuss 

the matter of how much difference the final argument makes to the jury, 

because the jury has heard the testimony just as we lawyers have heard 

it. But you will forgive us if we lawyers can't help blt feel that 

the f1nal argument is a pretty important moment, and perhaps you will 

understand when I say that this case has become so much a part of my 

life that I sat a little short of breath by the desk ~here almost 

dreading the moment that I was to get up and begin to make this final 

argument because the case has assumed such a great amount of importance 

to me and because I am almost terrified about the matter of whether I 

can find the right l«>rds to make you understand my convictions about 

this case. 

Nr. Coufal mentioned, and I agree, that the nature 0 f a trial as 

we conduct it in this country, and I think we do it very well, is to 
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have what is called the adversary system, and the District 

Attorney's office is on one side of the case and the defense 

attorney is on the other side of the case, and so we argue and 

behave, I suppose, somewhat like people at the extremes of a pro­

position. And perhaps in m:y argument I will sound that way, although 

to me it liilOn't seem so. It will seem to me that I am presenting to 

you just what seems to me at least was completely a reasonable pro­

posi tion. I will say this to you, that I'm sure that all of the 

counsel here, if we sat down in a qUiet, contemplative atmosphere, 

we 'WOuld agree that what we want you to do is to bring in a verdict 

that represents justice in its most enlightened sense in this part 

of the twentieth century in this 'WOnderful country. We all want 

justice. 

Now, I may just as well plunge right to the heart of this 

matter, what seems to me to be the heart of it. and that is to--

well, let me discuss this a little without any condescension. I 

won't conceal from you the fact that we, the lawyers, have had a 

chance to Visit with the Judge about what Ilis instructions will be 

on the law, and he will instruct you about what the duty ot the jury 

is in this kind ot case. And let me Visit with you just a minute 

about what your duty as jury members will be in this case. First 

let me mention something that we la~ers call the burden of proof. 

Mr. Rudolph has mentioned it. The government or the District 

Attorney's office has the burden of proVing beyond a reasonable doubt 

that our client Duane is guilty. Now, tho se 'WOrds "beyond a reasonable 

doubt" may from time to time have fascinated you. 'lbere is nothing new 
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about those words. '!hey are among the oldest words in our system 

of criminal justi vee I think the Judge will charge you that­

something to this effect, that--and mind you, listen to him, not 

to me, that to be convinced beyond a reasonable doubt means that 

you nmst be convinced to something like a moral certainty regarding 

the propor8i, tion of Duane IS guilt. Now, tha I s an abstact thing to 

say, the proposition of his guilt. ilbat preCisely -.m I talking 
, ' 

about? I'. sure the Judge will instruct you that in this case as 

it has developed there is no issue about whether Duane went to Big' 

spl"ings and committed the offenses that are charged against him. Of 

course you noticed that ~ight at the beginning of the trial we filed 

something called a judicial admission, and you have noticed that at 

the first opportunity we introduced in evidence the very long transcript 

of questions and answers that were taken down by Elmer Shamberg, who 

at times was the court reporter in this case, when Mr. Ruddph and I 

went out to the penitentiary, what was it, the third and fourth day 

after our appointment, and interviewed our client to get the facts. 

I think that transcript runs some 189 pages. And from the very 

begirming, in our opening statement, we have been at pains to let 

you know that there is no issue here a.bout whether Duome 'W'ent to Big 

Springs and whether he did the things charged against him. 

Now, what is the issue? Of course you know what the issue is, 

and I think the Judge will "so instruct you. '!be issue is whether 

Duane when he went to Big Springs and did the things charged against 

him was--and here I want to use my words carefully; I will use a 

general phrase r-ight now--whether he was legally responsible for what 
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he did, was he competent to the degree that he would be guilty 

in a criminal sense of what he did? And that h,.s been the whole 

issue inthis case from the beginning to the end. Now then, in 

approaching this issue it has seellled to me, and I lIOuldn' t mind 

if anybody quarreled with me about my analysis of how you approach 

this issue, wt it has seemed to me you can kind of go at it by 

three routes, this question of whether or not Duane was acting from 

an uncontrollable impulse as he went through this weird and bizarre 

series of conduct on June 4. Now, one approach is the one that 

Professor Rudolph has discussed, and I confess to urging him a 

II ttle to take that on, to discuss the manner in which the psychia­

trist and the psychologists approached this case, and that's a 

tremendously important w~ of approaching the problem. 

I have told you that I tried to imagine many times during 

this case--I have put myself in one of your chairs and tried to think 

how I 'WOuld be thinking, and for all I know the approach that Pro­

fessor Rudolph has discussed is the most important, perhaps, in 

the minds of most of you. Blt I don't think it's the only approach, 

although I will mention it occasionally, but I want to avoid if I 

can duplication anything Professor Rudolph has said. I think there 

are other ways of approaching this, not entirely different, and I 

jotted them down here in my notes. '!here is the approach where you 

simply stand off after a month ans a day, you stand off and you look 

at thi s pi cwe, and then you try to measure it based on the ex.­

perience of each of you, and I can't help but think of my experience, 

too, our ecperience as human beings in connection ww1. th other human 
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beings. In other words, bow would we have felt about this case if' 

we had never heard a psycbiatrist ora;'psychologist on that witness 

stand over there. And then I think another slightly different ap­

roach is to consider the facts and whether the facts really make it 

possible to believe that Duane was acting from anything else except 

a terribly sick mind that ro\rlJed him of control of himself. 

Now. briefly I am going to discuss both those ways, and first 

the e.erience that you and I have had as human beings about other 

human beings. You can't help but feel. of course, eaoh of us always 

thinks that others think as we do .• but by golly, I'm sure that we 

have some things in common. and even af'ter you hear the psychiatrists 

adn the psychologists I think we are bound to think to ourselves that 

each of us is to some extent a kind of an expert about human beings. 

Arter all. we have been living with them and we have been dealing with 

them, other human beings. that is. for all these years, and most of us 

either raised children. and some of us. including myself, are trying to 

raise grandchildren. at least to the extent that our children get 

annoyed wi. th us for trying to raise the grandchildren, and we think 

we know something about people and young people and children and adults. 

Now. in this case we had to make some decisions which 

I dreaded in advence. and I pray God thay were the right deCisions. 

First. the decision about whether to try to withhold anything from 

this jury, and some of you, at least, must have been impressed with 

the fact that we had deoided that we would disclose everything 

there was to disclose. Ladies and gentlemen, it's the first time 
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in roy life I ever sat down and read to the jury the lawyer's notes, 

which is what those were when I had Elmer Shamberg go out to the 

penitentiary and take down our questions and answers. That was my 

first thing in writing f~om my client about what the case was about 

that Judge Van Pelt had appointed me to be a lawyer in. I never read 

those notes to a jury before. We had the deCision about whether to 

put Duane on the witness stand. I am sure you all know that the 

defendant in a criminal case need not testify if he doesn I t want to, 

and frequently the defendant doesn't testify. And we made the de­

cision to put Duane on the witness stand and let you hear yourself 

what manner of young man Duane is. And I had no notion when I put 

him on the stand it was going to take three days--I guess it took 

almost three days, which astonished me as much as anybody else. And, 

of course, having taken the stand he had to submit to cross-examination. 

BIlt I wanted you people as one of his lawyers, and Professor Rudolph 

concurred, I wanted you not only to have everything we had about him 

and everything we knew about him, I wanted you to share with me the 

experience of knowing him, of listening to him, of experiencing the 

to me indescribable or indefinable quality of Duane. And I hope you 

remember those three d~s and the manner of his testimony. 

If my argument is not entirely in logical sequence please 

forgi ve me. I will mention some things that have come to my mind. 

I recall that Mr.. Coufal mentioned this morning that Duane had read 

in Las Vegas of the appeal by his college president, Dr. Bittinger, 

when Dr. Bittinger said, "Duane, please give yourself up. It must 
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be that after you left here something happened to you: mind." or some-. 

thing of that sort. '!he appeal is in eVidence, and Mr. Couf'al indi­

cated that at that time Duane got the notion that the thing f'or him 

to do was to be-.was to. as I understood Mr. Couf'al. the thing f'or him 

to do was to pretend to be insane. Well. I will not impress on you 

what you know already, that there isn't a single time from Las Vegas 

on when you can see any single sUght indication that Duane was trying 

to be insane or trying to act queer or tryinS to do anything tunny or 

that would seem tunny. As nearly as I can discover Duane Pope from 

Las Vegas on was just Duane. When the FBI questioned him, when W8 

questioned him at the penitentiary, that curious ~t--her.-I hope 

Duane ian tt of'fended. I started to ~N that curious kind of' person 

Duane is. Well, let me 883 quickly that 1'm curious too, and maybe 

"each of' us is curious, but human nature is a pecuUar thing. ~t 

wi th regard to Duane, tight from the very geginning to the extent 

of' his ability he has been what I--and I will use the words again 

that popped out of' me in my opening statement in the beginning of' this 

case, and I kind of' wondered if' I should have said it, but he is-.I 

will 883 it--a compulsive truth teller. In all of' the time I have 

spent with him, days and dJYs, add. weeks. and you have seen some of' 

our work paper s, so to speak, he ham I t told a f'alsehooi. He didn I t 

f'alsify to the FBI. '!he things that Duane do.an't know about are his 

subjective inward motives and reasons. I will admit I)lane doesn't 

know ahat makes him tick. I will admit that he asked the FBI, "Why, 

why?" He asked the psychiatrists, "\tJly'?" and he doesn't know what 
. , , 

made him tick, what made him do these awful things. 
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In passing I want to--and here again I am not being entirely 

logical, but I want to mention something because I fear it will be 

mentioned in the closing argument of the District Attorney. And at 

this time allow me to register my same complaint I register every 

time I am on this side of the case. that I wish the District Attorney. 

didn't get to close, but that also is an ancient part of our jucicial 

system, that the district attorney gets the closing argument. And 

so the liOrds that I am saying to you now are the last words as I say 

them. the last words that will be spoken for the defense, and then 

the last thing you will hear from the lawyers will be the District 

Attorney's closing argument. And in that connection, as he argues 

please--I don't know what to say--don't forget what Wally Rudolph and 

I said. and I hope that I will be able to cover everything I should 

cover in anticipation of his closing argument. And I'm afraid some­

thing will be said about his confession. Now. two confessions were 

obtained. '!hey are in evidence. 'Ibis is a Zerox copy, but I could 

go over and get the original over there. Do you care? 

MR RICHtING: No. 

MR. CROSBY: '!he original. you will notice, I think is blue 

ink. '!hat looks different than this. You will remenber the FBI first 

got a confession on the date when he turned himself in in Kansas City 

on June 11. and you can take a look at that if you would like. It's 

the bare recital of facts, no motive suggested, no plan. nothing. 

Obviously when they took it and when they went home afterward and 

looked at it. or went to their office, where they go. it was--well, 

it didn't make sense, and so they came back the next day to get 
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another confession, and this is a good deal longer, and when they 

finally got it all down before Duane signed it I'm sure they looked 

at it again and it still didn't make sense. And even when they 

finally got it done you don't find anywhere in this confession any 

suggestion of why Duane went to Big Springs or what his ~ti ve was. 

'!hey did get two things in the confessilon, and you have heard Dr. 

Nacdonald, the government's psychiatrist, tell about it and others 

tell about it and Duane tell about it. They got in two pages where 

a plan is mentioned, azid I simply want to be sure that you under­

stand the nature of these two pages and the fact that there are 

insertions after the main part of the confession was written. Now, 

on page 4--try to remember page4--they got the first suggestion about 

a plan. "My plan "--there plans, by the way, both places, page 4 

and page 10, are about the same language. "YlY plan was to rob the 

bank and then kill every}Jody in the bank so they would not identify 

me. tI '!hey got that in here. I want you to notice that page 4 could 

have been subtracted, the language that is crossed out at the top 

of page 5 could be left in, and the statement will read perfectly. 

I mean, you can go on from the bottoa of page 3 to the crossed-out 

portion at the top of page 5 and you get all of the facts and all of 

the continuity. And so they had to go back and put in this page in 

order to have Duane say something about a plan, and the best they 

could do is to say to Duane, "You had to have some reason for killing 

these people. Didn't you do it to keep them from identifying you?" 

And poor Duane, that sick, schizoid situatlon, be says he didn't 
. . 

tell them that, but they told him that was why ht did, and so they put 
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it in • . And he didn't much want to sign the confession, but they 

told him he ought to, it wouldn't make any difference if he didn't 

sign it, they could still testifY, and so he signed it. And you 

heard Dr. }1acdonald, the government psychiatrist, say ~ he 

regarded Duane as having told him the truth, and Dr. Macdonald 

agrees that this was not a plan that Duane suggested to the FBI. 

And the same identical thing on page 10, not quite as well done. 

Page 10 looks like this. The top part is written on, but if you 

read from the bottom of page 9 to the top of page 11 you will see 

that the continuity is perfect, and so then page 10 was inserted 

to have OIlane say again, "That kind of a plan.« Now, the matter 

of fact is that as Duane has testitied from the stand, as the psy­

chologists have testified, this thing was done apparently without 

what you and I would call planning. Preparations, yes; acts engaged 

in in advance, but never any deliberative, ordinary, normal kind of 

planning. '!be route you get there, the route you leave by, what is 

the bank like, how many people work in the bank, I ~e~, a total 

absence of that kind of a thing. 

Now then, going back to the thread of thought I want to first 

talk about our experience, yours and mine, with human beings. Just 

as Hr. Cout al mentioned, I hope not once again to review Duane's 

entire life, but I am going to reming you very briefly of what we 

first did. I counted up. We got 37 people who had known Duane, and 

we did it a little by design. We got high IIcOOol teachers, we got 

high school classmates, we got Roxbury oosinessmen or the former em­

ployer--I will mention him speCifically in a minut " but not for long­

we got McPherson College professors, HcPherson College classmates, 
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we got some other employers. We tried to get the people who had the 

best opportunity to kaow Duane. We tried to put them on the stand 

one after the other as fast as we could. but we wanted everyone of 

you to have as complete a picture as could be given to you of Duane 

Pope as he was known in the only way that you and I ever know people, 

by observing them from a number ot difterent angles. And I think you 

agree with me that if any one ot us was subjected to that test it would 

be interesting, wouldn't it? If somebody wanted to find out about &>b 

Crosby, why. it they got my high school teachers, my high school class­

mates and my college teachers and my college classmates and some of 

the businessmen in North Platte and some of the businessmen where I 

went to school and then, since I am a little older than Duane, if they 

got a few people who have known me since. and if they had all of them 

testifY under oath and if they got a good sampling of each you would 

mow more about me than perhaps I lIOuld want you to know. You would 

know about me as lllUch as is possible for ordinary mortals like you and 

me to know about somebody. So they took the stand one atter the other, 

and you will remember as they went across the stand there was Hr. 

McWilliams, superintendent at Roxbtmy, a nice, retired superintendent 

now, and indeed he remembered Duane and he had pictures with him and 

he had the school yearbook with him. And I think it was he who men­

tioned how Duane would be pl~g in football, and if he blocked some. 

body extra hard, especially a smaller person, Duane 1IIOu1d turn around 

almost in time to catch him as he was falling. And Mr. McWilliams told 

you about what a fine behaver Duane was, and his considerateness. And 

so you heard it from Mrs. I1agnussen, and you heard it trom, oh, you 



126 

heard Dennis and those people that are bothered so llIUch about whether 

they should have persuaded him. I'm thinking of Dennis Brunner and his 

wite, the high school coach, and his wife you remember was a teacher 

too, and I can well imagine their wondering if they should have urged 

Duane to go to college. I mean, there was something that changed his 

Ufe. And they testified. I think it was Mrs. Brunner said they 

felt toward ~ane just Uke their own son. And you heard the class­

mates, you heard Mr. and ¥ll"S. Wendell Blrch. You remember Endell Burch 

is 'WOrking on his PhD at the uni versi ty at Manhattan. Kansas, and 

iVIrs. Blrch, and you heard £rom the Uttle--wbo was the sophomore 

I'irl and who was a senior, Hanson, Wauneta Taylor Hanson, and she 

told about how nice Duane was and how he didn't cut up and didn't 

misbehave like the rest of the boys, didn't smoke and didn't drink, 

didn't drive his car fast around the corners. You heard from Ronnie 

Waiberg, one of his schoolmates: you heard from Warren Schmidt, from 

Margaret Ann Schmidt. Now, Margaret Ann Schmidt I think told about 

Duane as a student and person after peraon after person described 

what kind of a boy. I'm not so concerned, perhaps about the fact that 

he didn't get in trouble or didn't misbehave, but some of them used 

the word gentle, a thoughtful boy, not just qUiet, and to be sure he 

never. lost his temper and he never exploded and he didn't betray 

frustration Uke the rest of you and I do. But there was more to 

it than that. One of them, was it WaunetaT--one or them, you remember, 

said that Duane was the kind or boy that other mothers told their boys 

they wished they 'WOuld be like. Do you remember that? And ruane was a 

gentle, senSitive, refined boy, that kind or a boy. And 80 you heard, 

well, the businessmen in Roxbu~y. You heard the banker from whom 
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Duane had borrowed money and paid him off, and the banker told about 

the good reputation of Duane. He didn't hang around. And, oh, the 

service station man, a typical service station man in a little town of 

200 people. Niok Schoning. Nick had a servioe station less than a 

block, as I recall from the high school and grade school. all together, 

grade school and bigh school in Roxbury, and he watohed the kids grow 

up. It makes me think a little of my grandfather in the town of 

SUtherland, Nebraska. who used to be the janitor, and you see gener--

ations of kids go by if you . are close to the school. And ])lane stood 

out as one of the fine boys, one of the very good boys. And you heard 

from--I think Mr. Coufal mentioned him--you heard from Clark Ingram, 

I think his name is, that neighboring farmer that operates several 

farms, I have forgotten how many, and he testified he had hired a 

hundred men in his life and the best of all was ])lane. And he described 

Duane and Duane's gentleness with animals and Duane's punotuality and 

so on. 
I , 

And then you go to college, and I'm not going to bore you with a 

whole lot of this, but you get the same thing in college. I do want 

to mention one thing. I listened carefully as Nr. Coufal talked. and 

we mustn't be misled. Now, !)lane was liked and admired by his class-

mates at Roxbury. Now, remember that was a elass of 10. You remember 

Myron Messenger.--yes, YJ,,}TOn Hessenger was in that class, and that 

Hyron roomed with ])lane a half year there at HcPherson College, and 

I recall when ~1yron was on the stand this matter came up of Duane 

being the class preSident. You remember ¥~n said, and visualize 

a class of 10 in a little tom of 200, yes, Duane was president because 
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he was the one that nobody disliked. In small groups, you know, some-

times people get elected president because in a small group quite a 

few of them get so that m~ £hey have a few enemies. Duane did-­

!"!r. Coufal made the point was called by Hargaret ,Ann Schmidt a leader, 

but this was a small group where all of them had jobs to do. It is 

significant to me that when Duane got to a slightly larger environment, 

McPherson College, not very large either, a small college, that even 

ti,lat slight increase in largeness was enough so that--well, I hope 

Duane forgives me--but he didn't have what are commonly called leader­

ship qualities. He had quall ties to make people like him: gentleness 

and kindness and thoughtfulness. qUietness, and never wanting to hurt 

anybody else's feelings, but in l1cPherson College he never got elected 

to anything, and it was just a little tougher. rut there in McPherson 

College-- you heard from his professors, professor. oh, Frantz and 

Rothrock and Willems, the professor in metalwrk, and so on. all of 

the rest of them. I can hardly name them all, Dr. Frantz, the dean, 

who would see Duane working early in the morning and vin ted with 

Duane, and you got the same story from t.heae professors, 1)l.ane was 

one of the finest. You heard from his college classmates, not only 

the boys. Jamie Oxley and what is the name of the Brown boy, Brown, 

and the roommate. Nick Petrucci. You heard from--well, you heard 

from Ramona, Ramona Lowe. I agree with Mr. Coufal that Ramona still 

cares for Duane. She told about him, and OOW she hoped she could 

elirninate--what did she call it 1--the confusion in hi s mind or some­

thing like t.Qat.. She sensed, she sensed the problem. She is one of 

the few--maybe she l s the only one we had on the stand that sensed 

the problem, Ramona. Her father took the stand. He sold him the 
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insurance policy, and admired Duane because he wanted to have an 

insurance pollcy. I'1ll a skeptic, a little hard for me to think 

that Ramona's father didn't take advantage of the situation, but 

he said he didn't, that Duane was interested and wanted a policy 

and wanted to protect his parents. And you heard fro m the banker 

in NcPherson who told about how Duane had looked atter his credit. 

What was the fellow? Anderson, the banker Anderson, whom Duane had 

owed as IIUlch as $900--I' 11 come to that in a minute--and paid it off 

and then got another little loan. And you heard from Mr. Ruser, the 

custodian of the grounds at 11cPherson College. I was surprised on 

the stand that Hr. Ruser allowed himself to say that--and mo st of 

what our witnesses said I thought I knew what they were going to say-­

that Duane was the best student he enr had work for him. Now then-­

well, you heard from the coach, both coaches, Sid Stllith and what was 

the other, Don Widrig. I think it was Sid Smith testified he 'WOuld 

trust Duane with anything he had. You heard from Norman Adrian, the 

employer, with whom Duane went tor three summers on the harvest, and 

Norman told that very understandable story about how Duane was the 

boy that he 'WOuld send back to get--well, you remember they had a 

pickup they had left behinq, so Duane and Mr. Adrian's teenage daughter 

could go back in one vehicle and then one 'WOuld get in the pickup and 

then drive it back to catch up with the rest of them, and Duane was 

the boy he chose to do that. 

Now, we have all of this testimony, and I just barely touched 

on it, and I pray that you will remember it, and I I m sure you remember 

it. We had all of this testimony t and like any lawyer. I'm sure, in 
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preparing a case , as I began to become acquainted with this case, and 

you can perhaps sometimes put your selves in my shoes, as I become 

acquainted with this case I was tormented by that question that torment s 

a lawyer every time, and espeo:ilally in this case. "Can this be true? 

I mean, look , there must be a crack in the armor somewhere. If Well, 

if there are cracks they are pr etty small, and mo st of t hem, I guess 

all of the cracks, have been di sclo sed by Duane hi mself , not by t he 

prosecuti on. He had f i ve , six cans of beer in his lifetime when he 

was on this harvest session. There was a girl there at the beginning 

of his--what started I think i n the summer before his senior year , 

some girl, I' m not going to mention her name but you can read about 

i t . '!he only way they know aoout it is that it is in t hat question 

and answer transcript of 180-some pages that Professor Rudolph and I 

took three days and four days after our appointment in this case . and 

Duane told all about it. And she was engaged, but she carne to the 

dormitory and had the housemother call him and had the date with him 

and pursued him, and that bothered him, that was bad. It didn't last 

long. I don't know how many dates altogether, maybe four or five. 

There are those little episodes. Golly, I think I have named them 

all. Wauneta, a pathetiC, ironic kind of thing. In criminology class 

wi th Wauneta she would 5i t across the other side of the room, and 

finally at the end of the semester in January he got up nerve to ask 

Wauneta for a date--Melinda, I mean, excuse me. I said Wauneta, 

Helinda, got up nerve to ask Nelinda, 1-1elinda Hansen, for a date, and 

they had tw dates and a half I about call it, they had t'WO date s and 

they rode around one day, and then she went down to Texas where she 
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had a job, so she told Duane. And the prosecution, the District 

Attorney's office, and we are agreed, you remember we stipulated on 

this being true because we have investigated, both of us, and so 

l)J.ane thought she was down there working. And he lmote to her and 

she wrote to him, and they wrote more and more. You remember Duane 

has said on the stand that he finds it easier to express his thoughts 

in writing than in conversation. And so awfully close to having a 

romance grow right there by correspondence. She would write to l)J.ane 

and he would lI"ite to her, and expected her to came back when her job 

was finished down there sometime in June. And let me say here in 

connection with this psychiatrist Dr. Smith's testimony that there 

isn't a suggestion in the record that they were betrothed. r mean, 

Duane hadn't asked her to marry him, there wasn't anything like that. 

And don't forget that in the last semester that one of the fellows 

l)J.ane knew arranged this date with Gloria Benfield. She testified on 

the stand, and she was the one, you remember , that to ld l)J.ane he was 

too repressed, he was too much inside himself, that he ought to let 

loose. He made her feel a little afraid. lOu remember that witness. 

He had a couple of dates with her. And Dr. Smith mentioned a Kay Kyle, 

r think it was. with whom he had a couple of cottee dates the last 

week in &:hool, the Saturday night date. SUre he was writing Helinda 

every day and had a high regard tor her. but they weren I t about to get 

married or anything Uke that. Now we have this picture ot this kind 

of a boy. We have made a full disclosure. If you know anything bad 

about Duane we have told you. Remember, the District Attorney hasn It 

found a single tiny kind of evidence to discredit l)J.ane Pope up to 
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June 4. Now, I simply say to you, friends, that--and here's this, 

and m~be you will think I'm clumsy, but it's the way I think. I 

simply say to you that it is impossible as you know people and as I 

know people, it is impossible to even consider that anybody, including 

Duane, could be that kind of boy up to June 4, gentle thoughtful, 

trustlllOrtby, dependable, honest, almost too scrupulo~·s about obeying 

the law, paying his debts, all of thon standards that we have for 

hUlllaIl behavior, it's impossible for a boy to be Uke that up to a 

certain !lk)ment and then become co~letely the opposite and to do a 

horrid, terrible thing like he did. It's impossible. It's impossible 

for me, at least--I shouldn't speak for you--it's impossible for me 

to beUeve that a boy could thus reverse the entire pattern of his 

Ufe and do the horrendous thing he did and be anything but terribly, 

terribly ill in his mind. He must have been acting under some terrible 

compulsion that he couldn't control, because everything he was doing 

was against all of the instinots and inward patterns that he had for 

his whole life. And you can't tell me thon 37 people were fooled 

or that I'm fooled. And I think Dr. Bittinger was right. "Duane, 

give yourself' up. Something happened to you." And something sure 

happened to him. 

Now I want to approach it in another way. Did you notice when 

I started? 

THE COURT: Yes, I can tell you. You started at 1 :19. You 

have about 26 or 27 minutes lett. 

HR. CROSBY: Thank you very much. 

Now, I mentioned another way of' going at this, and I don't think 

it's really a different way, and to some extent Protessor Rudolph has 
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touched on it. 'What did I write down this time? I said, liThe facts 

defy any explanation except severe mental illness." Well, you may say. 

"What's Ebb Crosby talking about, the facts?" BIt I'm thinking about 

some different facts, and here again I won't spend a great deal of 

time because Professor Rudolph has reviewed them somelihat in connection 

wi th the psychiatric testimony, but I'm thinking of the facts beginning 

along in May of' this year. Now, again I Say to you that I am approaching 

this not fro m the technical psychiatric point of' view, although I have 

come to have a high regard for it. Medical practittoners who study the 

ills of the mind I think are entitled to the highest regard. BIt also 

I think that in this field you and I can consider our own understanding 

of human affairs, because after all each of you, you and I, we have had 

to go through stresses and strains, we have had to live with people. Now, 

I want to mention two things, first the lack of motive. Inevitably, and 

especially in this kind of a.--here I started to say this kind of a case. 

'lbat's an inappropriate thing for me to say. Do you know why? I haven't 

heard anybody suggest--how many psychiatrists did we have on the stand? 

Six. Not one of the psychiatrists even mentioned another case like this 

one. I suggest to you, I thought about it in my own connection with 

being a lawyer, that indeed it will be interesting to know if there ever 

was a case that would fit into the same category or class as this case. 

strange, unique kind of situation that we face here, and so I shouldn't 

say this kind of case because I don 't know of any others to classify with 

this case. 'Ibis is a unique situation, and one thing we lack is motive, 

and I certainly thought that before I got to this point some kind of a 

!IlOti ve would emerge. Like Professor Rudolph, I admired that highly 
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educated Dr. Macdonald who testi n.ed for the pro secu tion. I don I t 

agree that he is right. I thought some of his testimony came from 

his lips reluctantly. He admitted the strangeness of this case. He 

said he could discover no motive. Here again I trust that I am a 

reasonably adequate, ordinary working lawyer. I knew at the begin-

ning that one of the problemswiS motive. lIm sure that there has to 

be an argument and will be an argument to you about motive. I looked 

at the indebtedness in this case. I thought, there is no sign that 

Duane was zrrying about his indebtedness, but could that bother him? 

I want to call one thing to your attention. Perhaps I shouldn't. 

because I don't know of a single thing that indicates that Duane zrried 

about the indebtedness, but as long as we had it in evidence I did this. 

I checked to see how Duane I s indebtedness on June 4 compared to earlier 

times in his life when he had indebtedness. '!hat means something to 

me, m~be to some of you. I checked back to March 30, 1964. That was 

after he bought his tractor--Caterpillar tractor, I should say Cater­

pillar. Tractors are one thing, but a Caterpillar is a different thing, 

so I am led to understand, much bigger and more powerful machine. On 

March JO, 1964 the evidence shows Duane owed the McPherson Citizens 

state Bank of HcPherson $900 and on that same day he owed the Roxbury 

state Bank where Ivan Henne and the Hennes are $200, a total of $1,100. 

And those were not installment notes. I would have to go back to look 

at the records, but they were payable on a date certain. $1,100 on 

March 30, 1964. '!hat was the second semester of his junior year when 

he was "WOrking at the gas station $1,100. He paid it off. ») you 

rememeer? Mr. Anderson told about it. '!he final payment on that big 
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note to the McPherson Citizens state Bank was made when ])lane sold 

his Fbrd and got $400 from it. He sold that Ford before the end of 

his junior year, got $400 and turned it over ot Mr. Anderson, so 

he had it paid oft. On June 4 this year, the date that we are in.­

terested in, his total indebtedness was $890. Now, compare that 

$890--I intended to get a blackboard, don t t need it, the blackboard 

is over there. BIt you can see. $890 on June 4 ot this year compared 

with $1,100 on }1arch JO, a year and two months earlier. Now, he had 

cosigned that note with his brother for Dennis's Caterpillar tractor, 

so I put a note about this, a note that Duane had oosigned with his 

brother. That, you will remember from Hr. Ivan Henne r s testimony, 

was a note on which only $J2.5 still remained due, and you remember 

Hr. Henne told us that it was paid $200 ahead. and you will see that 

on the note, that roostly Dennis, I guess, but Duane had helped. 'lbey 

haa paid that ahead $200, so the next payment 'WOuldn't be due until 

September 19 of this year. Oh, well, I mentioned it to you and may­

be I should. It's ill1POssible to imagine that he was 'WOrrying about 

his debts. I have antiCipated what I was going to say about g1J!s. I 

think some doctor without any plausibility at all, I think it was 

Dr. Smith, said he must have been 'WOrrying about--I guess the idea 

was--i t was a little vague to me. he wanted to get a bunch ot money 

so he could-have a lovely love nest tor Helinda to come back to or 

something like that. And I'm not speaking derisively. I honestly 

can't put it any better than that. And I have told you already why 

I can't find anything anywhere to indicate that he was feeling a 

pressure to get money for Melinda. He hadn't asked her to marry him; 
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he still noticed other girls and so on. I considered the matter 

of whether or not Duane is a fellow who just plain is greedy for 

II\')ney. Now, everyone of us has had enough experience to know that 

certainly there are some people pretty greedy for money. Blt I look 

at Duane, I look at his behavior, I look at his life. He's a farm 

boy. and let me say to you, and I don't pretend to be a great 

aociolog1st or anything else, but I have read repeatedly that if 

you take farm boys as a group you will find less crime, less delin­

quency ~ng farm boys than any other group of boys. Here we've got 

a farm boy from a little town going to a little church college where 

you have to go to chapel twice a week, and ])lane did. l)lane had 

lived simply all his Ufe. I can't discover he had any extravagant 

tastes. Gosh, I've got some, but ])lane, he loved to work on the 

II\')tors of old cars. I don 't find that he was a taddist about clothes. 

He didn't smoke, he didn't drink. he--well, he just wasn't extravagant. 

Nobody in the whole list of 37 witnesses ever mentioned ' anything that 

would indicate that Duane was greedy for IIOney. And basically. beyond 

that, and it came our time and again. Duane liked to work. Poor kid, 

he didn't really like college. If he had his choosings he probably 

'WOuld be a farmer. '!'hat's what he said. like to be a farmer when he 

got the military thing out of the way. And he liked to work, he en­

joyed the gas station, he enjoyed the Sanor Construction Company where 

he worked his last year in school, he enjoyed wrking on the harvest 

group. He liked to work. and he could make money. and I don't find 

that greed for money was a motive, or a desire for extravagant living. 

And so here you have a total absence of mati ve. 
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And then you have this crazy series of events that came 

along where, well, it's almost like some other 1«>rld. Professor 

Rudolph mentioned the dreams, and I almost smiled when he talked 

about it. It would have been strange indeed if a couple of lawyers-­

and you are better than I am, Wally--but it would have been strange 

indeed if I interviewed a client the first time and asked him 

about his dreams. I have never done it with clients before. And 

there is nothing about dreams in that first statement. I was trying 

to itind our 'What happened, what Duane did. and where he went and so on, 

and where he lived and who his folks were and where he went to college 

and all of that, wilt girls he had known, but I certainly wasn't asking 

him about dreams. :Blt here you are along in May or April, I don't 

know, and mind you, I don't hear anybody saying that there is any 

fiction about ~se dreams. '!be government psychiatrist, I mean Dr. 

Macdonald, may try to explain it, but they were very curious dreams, 

different than Duane had had before, of a daydream of people on the 

floor being shot, pointing his gun at Dennis. I don't mow, I'm 

not a psychiatrist, but I know that these were different experiences 

for Duane. The year before he hadn't had the impulse to throw Eric 

in the pond, and something was happening, some deep down in thing. 

And don't ask me to explain the subconscious, but something was hap­

pening. And then Duane began to do queer things, and mind you, the 

story he has told to everybody has been invariably the same. He 

buys that gun on ¥.ay 15, and Dr. Hacdonald seemed to believe it too, 

the government psychiatrist, to shoot turtles, kind of a thought, and 

he got interested in a silencer. I have looked at the notebook. I 
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urge you to look at it. I can't my.u tell when he made those 

drawings except he made them on the back of a page on which some 

other notes were, so he might have leafed through and made them on 

any page in the book. Itts the second semester in school. That's 

the notebook. And he thought about the silencer and he worked 

upon the silencer and he had a part of the silencer in his college 

room, and his roommate asked him about it. and Jamie Oxley asked 

him about it, and ~1r. Brown asked him about it and Mr. Willems, the 

instructor in industrial arts saw it in the laboratory at the 

college and inquired about it, and Duane's father said he worked 

on the silencer. And then this thing seemed to grow, and there was 

this curious split life. Well let's start. I mean, the Saturday 

night, what 'WOuld it be, th .. -well, he buys the gun on Hay 1.5. I 

don't know when De starts working on the silencer, sometime after 

that. '!hat last week he ~8 final exams. Saturday be~ore the last 

week as I understand it Kay Kyle and he had gone to the movie. On 

Tuesday of that last week the Hutchinson fellows were going to have 

a tryout for the Hutchinson Softball team, and Duane went out right 

there at the college and they said, "Duane, we want you to play." 

On the 27th, that would have been 'lhursday, he bought the second gun 

at Crabb's town & Country store, as I recall it. 

Hr Crabb who spoke highly of Duane and the family. 

I believe it was 

He bought that 

gun. The first softball game that he played in was that same week 

of final exams. Probab~ the exams were over that Friday night. 

Two days before graduation he went to Hutchinson and played in the 

first game. Sometime in there he is working on the silencer, maybe 
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putting it on the second gun. He graduates on SUnday, the 30th of 

May. They have the church, the religious exercises in the IIIOrning; in 

the evening they have the commencement exercises. He helps Nick move 

out of his room. That day- or the following day, I'm not clear which, 

he put the blacking on the silencer. It was the following day, on 

Monday, when he and Dennis-they heard about or knew something about a 

tractor at Brewster. I looked at the map again; it looks like about a 

hundred or IIIOre miles away from Roxbury. And he and Dennis on that 

t-kmday went out to Brewster, bought some gas at Oakdale, I believe, or 

Oakland or something, the gas ticket is there, and looked at an o~d an­

tique tractor. This is on t-bnday-. And he comes home. Maybe it was 

that night he put the blacking on the silencer. And he gets up the next 

IIIOrning, and either he or Dennis had read about some part that was ad­

vertised for sale at Salina for £Or some of the farm eqUipment. I have 

forgotten the name of it. A winch, I think it was a winch. So they go 

to Salina and they go to the place where it is advertised and they look 

at the winch, and then they go down the street and they are going by the 

Hertz place, and so Duane stops, apparently somewhat on impulse, and 

Dennis stays in the car and Duane goes in and finds out how to rent a 

car. Duane had never rented a car before. And they go on, and Duane buys 

a baseball mitt. They had a practice that night, and of course they had 

a gam.e coming up Friday at Hutchinson and he buys the mitt. And somebody 

ahead of him ~ys shells and he bought shells. And then they had to go 

home because Duane doesn't have his shoes, so from Salina they drive to 

Roxbury out to the, farm, Duane gets his baseball shoes. From there they 

drive to Hutchinson. That night, this is }fonday night, 'l\lesday night, 
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they pl~ baseball, and on the way home. gosh. a couple of kids. they 

stop at a pizza place or something and they have something to eat-­

miniature golf plac~. I think it was. and they have something to eat. 

and they get home a little late, and Duane gets up the next morning 

and he is around the place. and he begins to make a breastplate. I 

do trust that you folks will go and take a look at what he made the 

breastplate out of. It is, as Professor Rudolph found out when he 

was helping me carry it--well. I think some or you men can1t do what 

I did just now. lift it trom that point by grasping it. That thing 

weighs. I don1t know. that weighs 200 poUnds. And he cuts that otf 

and makes a breastplate out of it. Try to lift it yourself. a heavy-­

my. what a thing to put on you. And he welds some things on it. . I 

mean, listen, my friends, he'. way out. it you will allow me a 

colloquialism. That tp.ing must Ugh 200 pounds. I just have to--

and he cuts otf enougb--you can see how much he cut otf at one end. 

He puts it on him, and he doesn1t have the belts at home so ·he doesn't 

try it, but he makes the loops and everything. And when he gets the 

breastplate finished--this is Wednesday-something made him go, like 

a signal, and he gets his things together and borrows the $.50 trom 

his dad and he goes. acting ~or all the liOrld I think like a kind 

ot a robot. No, he does things, he makes prepU'>ations, but there is 

no sensible planning or anyth4.ng. Going to Big Springs. He had 

only been in Big Springs about twice in his life. He didn't know 

the bankers, he hadn't looked at the bank to see how you liOuld rob 

it and what 111e hours are ot the bank. He gets in his car and goes 

to Salina, registers at the Log Cabin V.otel, writes a letter to 
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lore lind a , goes to bed, doesn't sleep very well, gets up quite early 

the next morning before the Hertz place is open, goes over to the 

Hertz place and finally they get there, the manager gets there, and 

then he rents the car. He understands perfectly that the car would 

record the mileage that he has been. It he is going to travel 400 

and some miles to Bi.g Springs that car will show it. And he rents 

the car and he finds out he doesn't have his current driver's license. 

Apparently Duane is-.they get them on their birthday. His birthday, 

is what, February 8th, I have forgotten, in Fepruary. He sent his 

!lX)ney in all right, the new license according to the records had been 

issued, but he didn't have the new one, he had the old one, so there 

was a hassle over that, but ~he Hertz guy at the Hertz place finds 

out he has the license so he gets the car and he drives south from 

Salina, the oppo si te direction he's going to go, he drives south to 

McPherson, pays the 50 cents so that in due course he will get his 

duplicate license, and if he doesn't get it he gets his receipt on 

the 50 cents, goes back to Salina. You will remember that earUer 

he had done these curious things. He had stopped on the way to 

Salina the day before. He stopped at a little store, he bought 

underwear, new underwear, three shorts and three uppers, and a tie 

and a new shirt like he was-.well, if I say some things that sound 

ridiculous it's because I grope for answers--like he was wanting to 

be well dressed fOlf his tuneral. New underwear and everything. And 

so he got tbQse the day betore. '!hen on the day he went to Bi.g Springs 

after he got the Hertz car and he vent down to the opposite direction, 

down to }1cPherson and appUed tor a duplicate certificate, when he 
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got back to Salina he bought a different tie. 

And then he starts out to Big Spring s, with no paap, and doe sn ' t 

to this day know quite what route he took. '!he FBI told him he went 

through Phillipsburg. Blys gas on his credit card--you know the story-­

Ogallala, Brule, did what he did. There is, my friends, and I don't 

believe it's because i am his lawyer, there is something kind of 

unearthlY or robotUke here. I mean, it just doesn't add up, it just 

doean't add up. And I suggest to you that on both bases, on the basi s 

of his background and our experience with human beings and on the 

basis of the things that happened this boy was desperately ill in 

his mind, and Dr. Modlin md Dr. Baldwin are right. Don't ask me to 

tell you what SChizophrenia is, but I know this boy was behaving in 

a way that was exac!aly opposite to all of the training and behavior 

of his whole life, md he had to be ill, and if he wasn't ill md if 

he wasn't acting under compulsion so that he couldn't control himsel!' 

then I don I t know any~hing about people and I might as well give up 

predicting anybodyl s behavior. 'lbe only way I can get through life 

is to predict how people are going to behave, and if people all of a 

sudden can reverse themselves like this and be well and be under 

perfect control ot their impulses, then I tell you it pretty well 

shoot.s everything--or pulls the rug out from under everything I know 

about how to behave in life. I say to you that this is a classic case 

o! a person who couldn't control--during this period of time couldn't 

control the impulse that was driving him, a crazy, bizarre, other­

worlaly kind of impulse that he couldn't resist. 

Now let melltion a rew Circumstances at the risk of being repe-
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You will tell me on five minutes, Judge? 

THE COURT: Yes. You have nearly 1.5 

HR CROSBY: Oh, thank you. 

Let me mention these doctors a minute more myself. 

14) 

THE COURT: I misstated your time a mo:nent ago. You have 

nearly 1.5 minutes. 

I'm CROSBY: I'm going to mention the doctors a minute, and 

remember what Professor Rudolph said t because he knows a lot more 

about psychiatry than I do and a lot more about psycho1ogy and a 

lot more about the doctors. Blt I listened carefully while they 

were testifying, and I am impressed by a few things. I am im­

pressed by the fact that the District Attorney's office put on the 

stand after knowing what our doctors had said a psychologist. I 

agree Professor Rudolph is not very well trained, but that psycho­

logist without much training reported to Dr. Farrel, "This is a 
. , 

schizoid personality." And you remember how we found out. When 

the direct examination was completed I asked ~1r. Fauth if he had 

made a report and he said yes, and I asked for a copy of the report 

and he furnished it--or m~be you did that, it doesn't matter--and 

he furnished--I guess Professor RUdolph did, and he furnished 

Professor Rudolph with his report and so on, and so we looked at 

his report. He hadn't testified about it in direct examination. 

'Lhere it was in black and white. He told Dr. Farrell, Hr. Fauth 

had, Dr. Farre II hired hi m. he to ld Dr. Farre 11 , "He's a schi zo id 

per sonali ty." and Mr. ,F'a.u th had to s~ ye s tit I S in hi s report that 
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he had in his file. 

Dr. Hacdonald, about whom Professor RUdolph talked quite a 

little and whom the District Atttorney put on the stand said this 

was a def'ini te schizoid per son ali ty, said that with regard to re­

pression of hostility and aggression h~ said thattriis was a--their 

own psych1atrist said that this was a severe--I better iook, make 

sure r use the right word--saia ~hat this was--it was on direct ex­

amination, some~h1ng about a severe schizoid personality. It's where 

he discusses those. liVery true ot Mr. Pope." that's what he said. 

"inability te express hostility. Very true of Mr. Pope." 'lb.at was 

when Dr. :1vIacdonald was discussing these attributes of schizoid per-

sonality. Of counse, Dr. Baldwin, a Lincoln pSYChiatrist, and I 
. -

hope you Will forgive us tor getting a home town psychiatrist. We 

both agreed we wanted a Lincoln pSYChiatrist. He 11 ves here. When 

he testines on the stand he is not going to step down and go back 

home to some far--otf place. He lives in Lincoln and may be seeing 

some of you. And Dr. Baldwin. a tremendously well educated psychia­

tri at, younger. abou t--I don I t know how old. 30. 3.5-- said that thi s 

was definitely acute schizophrenic reaction. att the thing I want 

to mention, Dr. Modlin. of course, from the world famous Menninger's 

Clinic, and he himself has a very wide reputaion, 30 or 40 publications, 

head of their law and psychiatry division there, says it is definitely 

acute schizophrenia. att I want to mention the fact that Dr. ~dlin 

and Dr. Baldwin both said in addition that now Duane needs medical 

treatment. And then I want to remind you that the government psychia­

trist, Dr. 11acdonald, from the wi tnes. stand on cross-examination 
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said that right now, yes, speaking o~ ])lane, "Yes, he could benefit 

from psychiatric treatment," speaking of Duane right now. And Dr. 

Macdonald further said, "I regard this crime as a sick act," the 

government psychiatrist. And I am a U ttle impressed, and forgive 

me for getting into your field, Wally, but I Ustened to these 

psychiatrists and I get the feeling that they all agree Duane i8 

sick. !1aybe I shouldn't sa:y all, but some of the government psychia.­

trists and both of ours agree that Duane is sick. Well, the govern­

ment psychologist agrees that he is a schizoid, they agree that 

])lane is sick. I suppose that he was sicker on June 4. The question 

COPles dom to how sick was he. Well, I didn't intend to get that 

much into the psychiatrists because I admittedly don't yet lmow 

enough about it, I suppose, to discuss it. rut trying to put myself 

in your place--forgive me for doing it.-I'm telUng you that it 'WOuld 

sure be coming through to me that maybe this is only a matter, if 

there is any argument we lawyers are having at all, it's a quest~on 

of how sick when you get it all settled. 

Now, then, more often than I have I wanted to repeat what the 

Judge will instruct you, that unless you are convinced beyond a reason­

able doubt, unless you are convinced to a moral certainty that on 

June 4 Duane was able to control his impulses in connection with the 

things he did at Btg Springs, unless that is true the Judge will tell 

you you soould find him not guilty. Now then, that's the burden the 

government has. That's our American system. I have tried to me--

and admittedly I am an advocate and on one side and 80 on, and I have 

told you how we lawyers get, but I have sat in that chair there at the 

table and I have tried to think what could keep jurors-I am imagining 



146 

lIIY'self a juror--what might keep you from 881ing instantly what seems 

so clear to me, that it is impossible, just impossible not to have 

some reasonable doubt about whether he could control his impulses, 

manage himself, on June 4. It seems impossible not to have some 

reasonable doubt about that in the face of all this endence, in the 

face of what you and I mow about human nature, in the face of what 

some of the psychiatrists say. I have asked myself what might, 

what might lead you folks to still decide that rather than find him 

not guilty you would find him guilty. I han tried to thttk, and one 

thing that came to my mind was-.. and I think I should discuss i t--

the terrible nature of what I)1ane did. I don't know how far any 

of us is from..-I look at myself occasionally, but we l«)uld Uke to 

think we are civilized. I dontt know how civiUzed. When something 

terrible is done--I laugh at the--well, I'll finish what I was going 

to say .... wh.n som.thing terrible is done I suppose it's hard to repress 

a feeUng1hat might be characterized as revenge. I mean, doggone it, 

if somebody does something awfUl bad somebody ought to pay. IVJr. 

Coufal used an expression which I think is prop.r but ought to be 

handled carefully, make the punishment fit the crime. I think I would 

rather.· say let the punishment be determined with respect to the person 

we are talking about. We are pretty civilized. Of course, Dr. 

Macdonald, the government psychiatrist, told--golly, he made me think 

of myself, about the husband that comes home and he has had a bad 

day at the ofnce and kicks the cat and so on and slaps the child. 

Well, we all are a little Ukely to do that, but here we are dealing 

with a horrible, horrible series of acts. '!he Kjeldgaards, such fine 
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people out at Big Springs, and that dear lady who was killed and 

that tine young man, Franklin, who came here and testified, and you 

could see the bc1.tterness in him • • Well, my friends, I haven't yet 

thought ot just the words I ought to use. It's hardly adequate to 

say what's obviously true, that Duane and the parents and I and 

Prote'ssor Rudolph and all concerned are as sorry, as sorry, as sorry 

can be that those deaths occurred and the maiming occurred to Franklin, 

a terrible thing, and in our lite in the peculiar age in which we live 

we .see terrible things happening. This is one ot the l«)rst, but 

still I implore that you don't act from a teeling that you have to 

do something bad to Duane regardless just to even up or tor revenge 

or because it's expected ot you. I mow you won ft. 

THE COURT, Five minutes. 

MR. CROSBY: '!hank you, Your Honor. 

I know you will consider the question, as the Judge will tell 

you. I pray that you listen to the instructions, that you will con­

sider carerully as jurors in such an important case whether you are 

conw.nced to a moral certainty, whether you are convinced beyond a 

reasonable doubt. that on June 4 Duane could control his impulses 

that led him to do this thing, or whether at that period ot time he 

was out ot control and doing the exact opposite ot everything that 

his lite stood tor. 

I thought ot one other thing that might deter you, and this is 

the last thing that I can sq if I can rind the last ot my notes. I 

wondered it I were in your shoes what my--because it's so obvious to 

me that you've got to have reasonable doubt, you can't say that Dr. 

Modlin and Dr. Baldwin and your human experience and my human experien-
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ce t just wipe them out and sa:y, IlSo what? 'lbe boy was one kind of 

a boy on June 4 and a different kind of a boy." You don't say that, 

it is not sensi ble, it doesn't make sense. I wonder if you might 

have some concern, and here I pick my words carefully, and will you 

please listen carel\llly. I wonder if you might in your deliberations 

feel or think about some corloern about his custody if you find him 

not guilty. Now, I'm sure you will find that the Judge will charge 

you..-I say oharge, and that means instruct--that you should not con­

sider, you should not discuss with each other, anything as irrelevant 

u a concern about Duane's custody in case you find him not guilty. 

And I think you can assume, and I say thi s carefully, I think you can 

assume that if you do your duty as jurors, considering what the Judge 

tells you to consider, this question of whether you are conVinced 

beyond a reasonable doubt, whether you are convinced to a moral cer­

tainty that Duane could control his actions really on June 4, and 

then bring yo~verdict in on that basis, you will have done your duty. 

and that you can aeume that others will do their duty in connection 

wi th l)lane. 

Now, I mentioned everything I had to mention. I didn't purposely 

take up all the time. It seems to me I ought to have said something 

more. And in clo sing I just have once again, and, my, I have been 

repetitious, don't hate me for saying it once again, but I want to close 

wi th what I am going to say. I urge you, my friends, to consider care­

fully whether what I have said isn't completely obvious, that with this 

evidence that we have had it's just not possible for anyone of you 

to not have some reasonable doubt about whether Duane could control his 

impUlses on June 4. 
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It's just not possible for you to be convinced, each of you, 

to a moral certainty with this evidence that Duane was acting with a 

command of himself and an ability to control his impulses on June 4. 

It goes contrary to everything that you and I know..a,pout human nature 

and human experience. 1bank you very much. 
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